Progress in IS

Shaun West Jürg Meierhofer Christopher Ganz *Editors* 

# Smart Services Summit

Digital as an Enabler for Smart Service Business Development



# **Progress in IS**

"PROGRESS in IS" encompasses the various areas of Information Systems in theory and practice, presenting cutting-edge advances in the field. It is aimed especially at researchers, doctoral students, and advanced practitioners. The series features both research monographs that make substantial contributions to our state of knowledge and handbooks and other edited volumes, in which a team of experts is organized by one or more leading authorities to write individual chapters on various aspects of the topic. "PROGRESS in IS" is edited by a global team of leading IS experts. The editorial board expressly welcomes new members to this group. Individual volumes in this series are supported by a minimum of two members of the editorial board, and a code of conduct mandatory for all members of the board ensures the quality and cutting-edge nature of the titles published under this series.

More information about this series at http://www.springer.com/series/10440

Shaun West · Jürg Meierhofer · Christopher Ganz Editors

# **Smart Services Summit**

Digital as an Enabler for Smart Service Business Development



*Editors* Shaun West Lucerne University of Applied Sciences and Arts Lucerne, Switzerland

Christopher Ganz C. Ganz Innovation Services Zürich, Switzerland Jürg Meierhofer Zurich University of Applied Sciences Winterthur, Zurich, Switzerland

ISSN 2196-8705 ISSN 2196-8713 (electronic) Progress in IS ISBN 978-3-030-72089-6 ISBN 978-3-030-72090-2 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2

© The Editor(s) (if applicable) and The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are solely and exclusively licensed by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, expressed or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

### Foreword

Smart Services have come a long way in the last 15 years. Fifteen or twenty years ago, adding services, such as warranties or repairs, was considered the state of the art in product/service diversification. However, digital technology trends have enabled and empowered entirely new business models and value propositions. Since 2000, the price of sensors has dropped dramatically, while at the same time computing power and telecommunications/wireless bandwidth have increased by orders of magnitude. Combined with Internet connectivity and new approaches to data science, we have the recipe to move, as Allmendinger and Lombreglia put it, from "reactive" (fix things when they are broken) to "proactive" (fix things on a schedule) to "preemptive" (fix things before they break based on data).

These technological innovations allow smart services that create value up and down the supply chain. Producers gain value from operating and customer use data that feeds back into new product development, and customer organizations reduce the number of suppliers and the complexity and costs of downtime. Furthermore, smart services enable new business models and new sources of revenue for producers, from servitization subscription models to data aggregation and selling of analytics insights.

Innovation in the smart service area is emerging, representing the interplay between traditional, open, and platform plays, but in essence, innovation in this space occurs in the "smartification" of products, new ways of sourcing and analyzing data, and applying services and integrated solutions in new sectors. For example, collecting data from people via crowdsourcing platforms has become much more sophisticated in the last 10 years, not to mention approaches for collecting data from smart devices. Applying the insights from data analytics is finding its way into new areas beyond the typical servitization and predictive maintenance of heavy equipment into policing, traffic control, personalized health, financial services, and fleet management, among other areas.

Innovation in this space is extremely difficult for a variety of reasons. Part of it has to do with any information technology exercise in companies, that is, change management is difficult, senior leadership does not fully embrace digital transformation, the information technology function is often put in charge rather than senior management, and companies often ignore the fears of employees being made redundant via new technology adoption.

That brings us to this timely book, which provides an overview of emergent approaches in smart services, not only mainly in the business-to-business (B2B) space but also highly relevant for business-to-consumer (B2C) and open to integrate with B2C approaches. What is clear is that companies in all sectors need to experiment with digitally enabled smart services, and those that do not may find themselves with irrelevant legacy skills and/or uncompetitive products and services. This book surfaces the latest thinking on the role of digital technology in creating and capturing value from smart services. I hope that readers will absorb its lessons and apply them to their own challenges to prepare their organizations for a digital future.

London, UK December 2020 Christopher L. Tucci

# **Preface: data innovation alliance—Expert Group Smart Services**

The data innovation alliance provides a significant contribution to make Switzerland an internationally recognized hub for data-driven value creation and is supported by Innosuisse.

#### The Day in Graphics





Graphics by Elio Amato info@elio-amato.com Elio.Amato@hslu.ch



#### **Academic Contributions**

The contribution to the academic community for the Smart Service Summit was to provide a forum for emerging research in the area of Smart Services. The conference's goal was to go beyond the technology and to consider the non-technical aspects that are important with digitally enabled value propositions and the underlying business models. The academic contributions were directly challenged by industrial presentations to allow for an active discussion of future research directions. Given the dynamic nature of digital technology and the ongoing evolution of Smart Services today, this provided a lively discussion and highlighted again the multi-disciplinary approach required for Smart Services. To guide the summit, three different panels were developed to provide a framework to shape the discussions:

- 1. Value system understanding for Smart Services
- 2. Value propositions for Smart Services
- 3. Value capture with Smart Services

The academic insights from each part will be described below.

The first part introduces three very different, yet complementary, views that were provided from the papers. All of the papers described multi-actor environments where value creation was distributed widely within the ecosystems and depended on the situation(s). The understanding of these complex systems allows the papers to provide approaches that support performance measures to be identified providing proxies for the value creation for various beneficiaries within the system. Martin Dobler focused on understanding services for Smart Cities, Manuel Holler on buildings, and Linus Bächler on server rooms.

The second part discusses value propositions for smart services with a strong focus on the application of digital technologies as an enabler for new value propositions. As such, the papers are all more application-based than those from the first part; they all provide insights into how new technologies can be integrated to provide improved or new solutions to existing problems. Linard Barth provides a framework for developing new value propositions based on the application of digital twins, whereas Valentin Holzwarth describes a value proposition based on the application of mixed reality technologies combined with building information modeling over the early lifecycle phases. Jonathan Roesler turns traditional good-dominate logic on its head by presenting a rental model ("equipment as a service") predicated on the integration of digital technologies. Oliver Stoll then provided insights to an oftenneglected area of the procurement of advanced services, reminding us that in a B2B environment there is always a "buyer" and that there is limited research in this area.

The third part's focus is on value capture for firms providing smart services. Smart service design is focused on creating value for beneficiaries, which is a required prerequisite for any business success. Frank Hannich opened with a paper that described how "trigger" marketing can be successfully automated with service design within SMEs in a B2C environment. While the setting of the summit is centered around B2B markets, there are many lessons we can learn from B2C. The discussion at the summit made evident that both B2B and B2C can learn from each other

in many cases. Cosimo Barbieri moved back to a B2B case, showing how machine learning and augmented reality had been demonstrated to support the servitization of firms. Lu presented a cognitive approach to transforming disorganized complexity to organized complexity to improve the digitally enabled services' value capture. This paper was closely linked to the digital twin-based decision support services within an operational context presented by Meierhofer. The asset and process digital twins were integrated to provide decision support. Abrell followed on by questioning the different types of approaches that have been applied in value capture (e.g., business-, user- or data-centric) within the context of big data innovation. He concluded with four positions for future research to improve value capture in the future: actor knowledge; designerly approaches to enhance understanding of tacit needs; use of designerly approach to integrating the perspectives of the actors, the businesses, and data; and, a beneficiary-centric approach to the design of value capture systems based on big data.

#### **Challenges from Industry**

In many industrial companies, the term "service" is related to fixing broken products in the field or preventing their failure. Owners of the products cannot afford to have their maintenance personnel trained on repairing every piece of equipment installed. Furthermore, a repair action would probably require in-depth proprietary knowledge that suppliers don't want to give away. The spare parts required for the repair are typically not available on the market and need to be purchased by the supplier as well.

In recent years, the industry has realized the power of the service business. While in the past the business model was often predominantly related to people lending sending out a service technician when the customer asked for one—more advanced service offerings and business models become the norm. IoT technology has paved the way toward more data collection and more advanced data analytics, where suppliers are capable of better detecting or even predicting failures. Outcome-based service contracts are becoming possible, where more responsibility for the performance of the equipment is shared with the supplier.

Still few companies have figured out the value of "services", i.e., the broader term that defines the service industries. Today still, many offerings are closely tied to the product (monitoring, repair, maintenance, etc.). Few services are offered in addition. The same technology that is today used for condition monitoring could also be used to monitor process performance, energy efficiency, and other KPIs important for the plant's operation. Such services address other value levers apart from uptime and plant availability.

Entering the market with more advanced services that continuously add value to the customer's operations will allow a customer and a supplier to closely interact in constant optimization of the operation. Selected speakers from the industry presented challenges, approaches, and solutions that represent a good cross-section of the state of the art. Some of the presentations explained the approach taken and the learnings, while others presented interesting service solutions. Some also dove into difficulties that arise when dealing with the real-world boundary conditions of industrial organizations and processes.

Mario Schmuziger from Zühlke shared some insights into innovation processes that he and Dominik Böni had found over years of consulting. Many companies are locked in incremental innovation, steadily improving their offerings to their customer base. However, they often fail to bring something radically new to the market. The authors emphasize the importance of a market view. To push for more radical innovation, they value the role of generalists that can bring together technology as well as the market view.

Philipp Schenkel from Kistler explored the value of information about the installed base. It can not only be harvested to assess the performance of the delivered solutions, but also serve as the base to increase sales. An important component of such a strategy is to have the right data available at the right time, from the service technician recording data in a service intervention to the salesperson analyzing the account and choosing the right offering strategy.

Thomas Sautter from Voith presented some of the challenges in selling digital services and products. The status quo for him was not possible to accept as he had inherited a digital business that he had to integrate into his service business. Integrating the digital business into a "steel" company was the basis of the challenge, but this was coupled to sales which were used to selling from a catalog rather than building solutions around customers' problems. To overcome the barriers that exist, solution-selling champions were identified within each of the regional sales teams and supported directly with engineering or product managers with the target of closing deals with digital content. Ongoing coaching and regular sales calls supported this new approach to selling in the firm. The objective is to disseminate the knowledge to the other regional sales managers. This is anticipated in the longer term to support both new digital solution sales as well as traditional sales.

Andreas Beyer-Köster from Bilfinger presented the challenges that are encountered when convincing manufacturers, operators, maintenance providers, and asset managers to apply Industry 4.0 concepts. Often, manufacturers struggle with the variety of data sources which are not connected. Additionally, the potential that lies in the already existing data and systems is often not recognized. Manufacturers often are surprised to see that projects can be realized fast, e.g., in 4 to 12 weeks. Top management support and cultural change are very important.

Lars Hennecke explored the challenges of the commercialization of smart services that ace Advisor Services had identified. Suppliers have a sizeable service business already today, and introducing smart services may bring some overlaps with what is currently offered to the market. To replace existing service offerings with smart services or to keep partly overlapping offerings on the market, both have their pros and cons.

When introducing smart services, Lars proposes to enter a collaborative relationship, since processes on provider as well as on customer side may be required. He concludes that the commercialization step shall be considered already considered in the development phase and should cover a change management aspect.

Matthew Anderson from Sulzer presented an industrial IoT Monitoring solution "Sulzer Sense". Once established as a service, he shared real-world insights into the customer's business drivers and pain points, and how Sulzer designed a solution to address these needs in a cost-effective manner and provide real value. Important aspects of this were overcoming the challenges of a digital project covering multiple technical disciplines, allowing for innovation and the need for agility, while introducing a new type of service to the business.

An interesting use of image recognition for condition monitoring was presented by Philipp Schmid from CSEM. The asset to be analyzed is not machinery, but rail tracks. Diagnostic trains equipped with cameras continuously traverse the rail network at travel speed (160–200 km/h). The presented AI system classifies real defects from other artifacts (chewing gum, dirt, snow, etc.). Repeated monitoring of the same track combined with advanced fingerprinting techniques helps to monitor the evolution of a defect over time. The solution significantly reduces the number of false positives compared to traditional algorithms that had evolved over a period of 10 years and adds new capabilities of smart maintenance planning.

The value of the asset data was at the core of Coen Jeukens' presentation from ServiceMax. The focus can be shifted from avoiding downtime to maximizing the outcome and the uptime while minimizing cost. This can be achieved by knowing where the assets are, in what condition, and how they are being used. By using the asset instead of owning it, real output value can be achieved. Exploiting the data from the asset can benefit stakeholders from multiple domains, among other customers, marketing and sales, field service, R&D, and many more. Thus, asset centricity becomes a cornerstone of service success.

The conversion of data to usable information and then using the information to support decision-making in pricing was the theme of the presentation from Dominik Kujawski from Regent. The core was the change management from using what looked like random data on pricing to understanding how it could be used to drive behaviors of the sales team. The automation of the preview work meant that he could then focus on the real value of supporting pricing in an environment with over 10,000 SKUs. This helped with consistency in the pricing process and assisting sales to identify new opportunities that they had missed in the past. This was a significant change for the firm and within a few months had been though several improvement cycles. Each improvement cycle provided new insights into the pricing process and the potential uses of the data.

Lucerne, Switzerland Winterthur, Switzerland Zürich, Switzerland Shaun West Jürg Meierhofer Christopher Ganz

# **About the Conference**

Following on from the successful Smart Services Summits in 2018 and 2019, we were following with a similar format of short papers and posters to foster closer collaboration between industry and academia.

This year's theme was "Digital as an Enabler for Smart Service Business Development for Manufacturers, Operators, Maintenance Providers, and Asset Managers". The topics covered by the contributions are as follows:

- challenges and solutions for Smart Services;
- the efficiency of delivery within existing value propositions;
- the development of new value propositions to improve competitiveness.

In these topics, the Smart Services Summit covered new and emerging research and was about pushing the topics forward through discussion. Invited presentations from international industry experts framed the summit. These were accompanied by short academic presentations, followed by in-depth discussions.

# Contents

Value System Understanding for Smart Services	
Smart Service Development in Public-Private   Settings—Assessment Methodology and Use-Cases in the Lake   Constance Region   Martin Dobler, Hanno Kalkhofer, and Jens Schumacher	3
Smart Dust for Smart(er) Industrial Product-Service-Systems:Three Strategies and Their ApplicationManuel Holler, Benjamin van Giffen, Linard Barth, and Rainer Fuchs	15
Service Discovery in Complex Business Ecosystems Linus Bächler, Shaun West, and Jörg Schanze	21
Value Propositions for Smart Services	
Value Creation with Digital Twins—Framework Validation     and Analysis of Further Development Priorities     Linard Barth, Matthias Ehrat, Manuel Holler, and Rainer Fuchs	35
BIM-Enabled Issue and Progress Tracking Services Using Mixed	40
Valentin Holzwarth, Sebastian Steiner, Johannes Schneider, Jan vom Brocke, and Andreas Kunz	49
A Capability Model for Equipment-as-a-Service Adoption in Manufacturing Companies Jonathan Rösler and Thomas Friedli	59
Procurement of Advanced Services Within the Domain of Servitization: Preliminary Results of a Systematic Literature Review Oliver Stoll, Shaun West, and Lars Hennecke	73

#### Value Capture with Smart Services

A Customer-Centric Search for Triggers as a Basis for Marketing Automation Service Design	85
Frank Hannich, Tania Kaya, and Marcel Huttermann	
The Role of AI Platforms for the Servitization of Manufacturing Companies	95
Cosimo Barbieri, Mario Rapaccini, Federico Adrodegari, Nicola Saccani, and Giulia Baccarin	
A Cognitive Approach to Manage the Complexity of Digital Twin Systems	105
Jinzhi Lu, Xiaochen Zheng, Lukas Schweiger, and Dimitris Kiritsis	
Digital Twin Based Decision Support Services in Business Operations Jürg Meierhofer, Lukas Schweiger, and Lukas Schreuder	117
Business-Centred, Data-Centred, or User-Centred? A Perspective on the Role of Designerly Approaches to User Centricity in Big Data Innovation	131
Thomas Auten	

# **About the Editors**



Prof. Dr. Shaun West after gaining a Ph.D. from Imperial College in London, Shaun worked for over 25 years in several businesses related to industrial services. He started his industrial career with AEA Technology before moving to National Power, where he developed and sold services to external businesses. After studying at HEC (Paris) for an MBA, he moved to GE Energy Services, modeling and negotiating long-term service agreements. At Sulzer, he drafted the strategy that led to the service division tripling in size over 10 years and executed part of the strategy by acquiring a 220M CHF service business. Now at the Lucerne University of Applied Sciences and Arts, he is the Professor of Product-Service System Innovation. He focuses his research on supporting industrial firms to develop and deliver new services and service-friendly business models. He is a member of the advisory board for ASAP Service Management Forum and a member of the data innovation alliance. He lives close to Zurich with his wife and two children. He climbs, skis, and runs. e-mail: shaun.west@hslu.ch



Dr. Jürg Meierhofer the optimization and design of Smart Services are the red thread through his activities in various industries. He is Head of the "Smart Services" group of the data innovation alliance. Industry 4.0 Coordinator at the Zurich University of Applied Sciences (ZHAW), and a Board Member of the Swiss Customer Service Association (SKDV). After various management positions in service and innovation in several industries, he has been teaching and researching at the ZHAW since 2014. He is director of studies for continuing education in the field of Smart Service Engineering and Industry 4.0, leads several cooperation projects with numerous industrial companies, and regularly writes publications on these topics. He is now leading a project consortium in the topic data-driven services for SMEs in the framework of the IBH-Lab KMUdigital (www.kmudigital.eu) and co-leading the project focused on the application of Smart Twins in complex industrial application together with Shaun West. Jürg holds a diploma and Ph.D. in electrical engineering from ETH Zurich and an executive MBA from the University of Fribourg. e-mail: juerg.meierhofer@zhaw.ch



**Dr. Christopher Ganz** is Group Vice President, Head of Solutions and Standards at ABB Future Labs, responsible for the conception of solutions for the future needs of future customers of ABB, as well as for standardization strategies for ABB Future Labs. His focus areas are autonomous industries and industrial artificial intelligence (AI). Having joined ABB in 1995, he was involved in developing the company's digital strategy and is a valued member of the ABB Future Labs management team.

Prior to his current role, Christopher was Group Service R&D Manager, supervising cross-division projects in the area of service and digital technologies, including remote services and Internet of Things (IoT). Before that, he was Research Program Manager leading a corporate research program in control and optimization and Manager Research & Development and Product Manager in ABB's power plant control unit.

Christopher holds a doctoral degree from ETH Zurich with a focus on Automatic Control and an undergraduate degree in electrical engineering from the same institute. His academic and professional credentials have made him a renowned speaker on digital technology topics worldwide.

# Value System Understanding for Smart Services

# Smart Service Development in Public-Private Settings—Assessment Methodology and Use-Cases in the Lake Constance Region



Martin Dobler, Hanno Kalkhofer, and Jens Schumacher

Abstract Under headings like 'Smart Government' and 'Public Private Partnership' (PPP)- i.e. the development of services in cooperation with private, industrial service providers—municipalities are launching ICT and digitalisation initiatives aimed at the holistic deployment of digital, public and private smart services. Even where geographical proximity and similar socio-economic conditions of the municipalities are often present, a systematic exchange of methodologies, service design approaches, and best practices is missing. In this paper, we describe the how service science is approached in the public sector, especially in cooperation with private as well as academic partners and in co-creation settings (quadruple-helix). Furthermore, we present existing approaches in procurement and approaches we designed for service development in Smart Government and Smart Cities settings in the Lake Constance Region. Key Performance Indicators (KPI) and two use-cases of the region round of the paper.

Keywords Smart government · Smart cities · Smart service development

#### 1 Introduction

#### 1.1 Smart Cities, Smart Governments, and Smart Services

With the Europe 2020 strategy the European Commission has set numerous goals, which aim at achieving smart, inclusive and sustainable growth in Europe. At the core of Europe 2020 is the pursuit of innovation as the union's competitiveness is depending on innovative, holistic services and products. Hereby, the services and

- H. Kalkhofer e-mail: hanno.kalkhofer@fhv.at
- J. Schumacher e-mail: jens.schumacher@fhv.at

M. Dobler (🖂) · H. Kalkhofer · J. Schumacher

Vorarlberg University of Applied Sciences, 6850 Dornbirn, Austria e-mail: martin.dobler@fhv.at

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_1

products in question have to tackle major societal challenges, including climate change, energy efficiency and emission reduction (*Smart Cities and Communities—European Innovation Partnership*, Communication C(2012) 4701 final). When looking at the Strategic Energy Technology (SET) Plan (Albino 2015; Directorate General for Energy 2018), we find that over 40 demonstration cities were planned until 2020, which are all supposed to accomplish ambitious goals. Similar to sustainability and green building challenges, the ageing demographic in European countries is demanding unique approaches towards healthcare. Smart services and health care solutions are considered one opportunity to ease the burden on governments and cities, especially since the advent of new service fields that emerged under the consideration of new technologies—mainly ICT based—such as Smart Care for at-home care (Thomas et al. 2014) or Ambient Assisted Living (Sun et al. 2009).

Finally, services that are provided directly to citizens similarly undergo a transition towards more ICT based solutions. Smart identification services for citizens, such as the Schaffhausen eID+ (Kanton Schaffhausen, n.d.) in Switzerland or the e-ID (A-Trust, n.d.) in Austria are just some examples. It is especially noteworthy, that blockchain technologies in Smart ID use-cases are predestined for the development of multi-stakeholder, public-private ecosystems and services derived therefrom—ranging from services offered by municipalities like the provision of legal paperwork over services of private insurance and banking providers like credit score documentation to payment services in local shops.

Therefore, our research activities based upon the research project Smart Government Academy for the Lake Constance region aim at

- development of high-level requirements for innovative, integrated solutions in energy, health care, Smart ID, and ICT, both on business and policy level, thus enabling the derivation of meaningful frameworks and KPIs for Smart Government
- derivation and development of cooperation and recommendation frameworks for territorial knowledge, data-enabled services and entrepreneurship, extended by the development, acquisition and publication of a comprehensive KPI set, specifically targeting the needs of European regions as laid out by the high-level requirements and Smart Government assessment
- stimulation of the market for data-enabled services and products—thus supporting entrepreneurship and providing recommendations to policy makers for collecting new sources of data and form the basis for a Smart Government index.

#### 1.2 Terminology and Previous Work

In order to create comparable KPIs and assessment methodologies for Smart Cities and Smart Government services, individual goals have to be broken down into their overall dimensions, high level goals and inherent technical dimensions—e.g. Smart ICT, blockchain, Big Data and the Internet of Things (IoT). Best practices have to be interconnected with the performance measures for services, always accompanied by the scalability component of the practice. They can be categorised according to the characteristics present in the European Commission' study on Mapping Smart Cities in the EU (Manville et al. 2014): Smart Governance, Smart Economy, Smart Mobility, Smart Environment, Smart People and Smart Living.

#### 2 Service Development in PPP—Smart Cities and Smart Government

#### 2.1 Smart Cities

A Smart City is a place, where "digital technologies translate into better public services for citizens, better use of resources and less impact on the environment" (Smart Mobility and Living (Unit H 5), 2020; Milenković et al. 2017). A key role in this respect is played by the management of large amounts of data as their "context-related analysis and combination (...) allows self-learning algorithms to make increasingly precise statements about certain facts, groups, or even single individuals, enabling the automation or execution of certain tasks in much more efficient and citizen-friendly ways" (Guenduez 2018).

The technological focus may not distract from the holistic approach of smart cities, whose thematic fields might at times be "more social and organisational than technical, substantially associated with multiple diverse stakeholders and high levels of interdependence" (Pereira et al. 2017). A smart city is additionally about creating and fostering connection and interaction between its stakeholders (governments, scientific institutes, companies, citizens and NGOs—sometimes referred to as Quadruple-Helix of actors or Public Private People Partnership) in order to use their potential to find innovative solutions for complex problems.

#### 2.2 Smart Government

Smart Government is a dimension in the overarching concept of a Smart City along others like smart economy, smart environment, smart living, smart mobility, and smart people (Purnomo et al. 2016). This also applies to the previously common notion of e-government that improves information, communication, and transaction processes between the government and all of its stakeholders (Schedler et al. 2013). A government that acts smart is characterised by "activities that creatively invest in emergent technologies coupled with innovative strategies to achieve more agile and resilient government structures and governance infrastructures" (Gil-Garcia et al. 2014). Moreover, it seeks to adopt an open style government which integrates

"stakeholder participation and collaboration on all levels and in all branches of the governing process" (Scholl and Scholl 2014), and generally turns "government tools from an office-centric mode to a citizen-centric mode" (Milenković et al. 2017). From a technological point of view the concept of smart government especially outlines the role of Big Data. The data is obtained using intelligent networks and smart objects which are equipped with sensors, actuators and a communication unit attached to an unambiguous identity on the Internet (Lucke and Große 2017), thus can be "identified throughout its life and interact with the environment and other objects. Moreover, it can act in an intelligent way and independently under certain conditions" (González Garcia et al. 2017). Examples for smart objects range from wearables like mobile phones and smartwatches, smart-home-devices like motion detectors and automatic blinds, stationary devices like surveillance cameras/intelligent street lighting, and mobile devices like drones and unmanned vehicles (Lucke 2018). While the e-government "has been criticized for being largely focused on improving government services" (Hansson et al. 2018), a key aspect of a smart governments is its radical openness. Similarly, open data mends the traditional separation between public organizations and their stakeholders (Janssen et al. 2012).

A smart government acts not only as a producer and buyer of services, but also as a service innovator and promoter of an innovation ecosystem as it proactively provides a suitable environment for user-/business-driven and open innovation (Jussila et al. 2019). One example is the offering of prototyping environments to academic and industry partners (Ubaldi et al. 2019). Hereby, open data is used to "enable the public, entrepreneurs, and their own government programs to better leverage the richness of federal data through inputs into applications and services" (Pereira et al. 2017).

Innovation management for Smart Government within the context of this paper is understood as strategically moving into uncontested markets (e.g. Blue Ocean Strategy (Kim and Mauborgne 2015)), formulation and documentation of goals and needs, as well as differentiation between innovation types (frugal innovation, proactive innovation, high-speed/low-risk innovations and others) (Govindarajan and Trimble 2010).

#### **3** Indicators for Service Prototypes in the Public Sector

#### 3.1 Technology Maturity and Key Performance Indicators

Performance measurement and KPI frameworks are set up to clearly quantify comparable, properly defined target values, which are meaningful to its intended audience as they need to drive towards the benefits that are expected to be delivered. In Smart



Fig. 1 High-level dimensions for performance measurement

Government, alongside the common policy goals, we have a broad range of stakeholders and intended audiences, depending on individual viewpoints, fields of expertise and area of operation. To this extent we include a set of components in our framework, shown in the Service Development Cube (Fig. 1). The multi-dimensionality is hereby broken down into its high-level dimensions. Firstly, the inherit pretension of Smart Government, namely the requirements of being smart, efficient, effective, sustainable and liveable. Secondly, the area of operation is taken into consideration. This includes transportation solutions-from public transport, inter-modal person transport and goods logistics -, Smart Care, citizen services and sustainability, as well as its supporting infrastructure. Finally, the dimension contains the context of its national and international policy frameworks, as well as its approach towards innovation and entrepreneurship. Lastly, the technological dimension rounds off the measurement cube, taking into account numerous ICTs from the necessary foundation, e.g. Big & and Open Data, or the Internet of Things, but also specialised technologies like Blockchain solutions, geo-information systems, open data, or inclusive web portals. With these dimensions we are laying out the preliminary groups of indicators, which then are enriched with specific internal and external stakeholders, assessment methodologies, value ranges and best-use scenarios (e.g. lead vs. lag indicators), as well as the linkage to scalable and targeted best-practices.

The partnership between public authorities, private companies and citizens, i.e. Public Private People Partnership (PPPP), and their targeted innovations is the lowest level of the Service Development Cube and consequently the foundation upon which all other levels are built. Creating an economical sound broad-ranging ecosystem for PPPP is a significant challenge, which must incorporate public procurers, city and transport planners, policy makers, citizens, technology providers and the companies taking the entrepreneurial risk to create pioneering and innovative solutions. The approaches KPIs are therefore setting the measurement and comparability of entrepreneurial support and innovation as a key component of its analysis, and tracks time-to-market, cost-to-market, fitness for market, and novelties for the market (Fig. 2).

The service development takes place in the strategic outline that can be seen in the assessment pyramid in Fig. 3, whereas the vision is the top level (i.e. EC challenges for Europe), strategy (i.e. funding instruments, call topics, and key initiatives)



Fig. 2 Categorisation of KPIs for entrepreneurial support in Smart Government ecosystems



Fig. 3 Services assessment pyramid and phasing of innovation and service tracking

is therefrom derived, and concrete objectives are defined for individual smart solution providers. We see ourselves herein as a research partner which assesses critical success factors and KPIs, besides defining key actions in the sense of recommendations and best practices for smart solutions. For all the elements targeted by the pyramid, its approach foresees a phasing in which the elements are created, registered, filed, used, stored and re-designed, if needed. The re-use of the elements is a key goal, hence promoting the transferability of the one smart solution approach to other municipalities and generating a framework which makes the services comparable within the Lake Constance region.

#### 4 Smart Service Development Use-Case Analysis: Smart Care and E-ID Applications

#### 4.1 Schaffhausen's EID+

The continuous increase in the supply of online services is accompanied by a rise in the importance of electronic identification (e-ID). This issue is covered in regulation No 910/2014 of the European Union, which argues that "building trust in the online environment is key to economic and social development. Lack of trust, in particular because of a perceived lack of legal certainty, makes consumers, businesses and public authorities hesitate to carry out transactions electronically and to adopt new services" (*On electronic identification and trust services for electronic transactions in the internal market*, Regulation 910/2014). Private sector involvement has increased significantly in recent years, especially for higher value applications with banks being the main players (Müller and Windisch 2018).

In 2017, the canton of Schaffhausen launched its own e-ID, the eID+, which was developed in a PPP with Procivis, a swiss start-up providing the required technology. In this way, the canton targets the development of a unique selling point in terms of innovation and technology in the competition among business locations. The eID+ identity system—which is based on blockchain technology—enables citizens to access official services directly via smartphone. The app guarantees data privacy control and users can decide for each service respective data recipients and have the option of digitally signing documents. The data is protected by strong encryption including password-based and/or biometric procedures (Kanton Schaffhausen, n.d.)

In the sense of a Smart Government co-creation, citizens were involved in a "co-design process, to ensure a solution design that benefits the public stating the needs in the first place" (Andermatt and Göldi 2018). In the research project Smart Government Academy for the Lake Constance region the University of St. Gallen analyses processes and shows how service delivery is improved from the users' perspective. The University of Applied Science Vorarlberg in turn examines, which requirements the eID+ needs to fulfil in order to be accepted by the private sector. As it can be noted: "technology is only the customer facing front-end of a complex

set of organizational structures, policies, and processes that are designed to provide particular services" (Rose and Grant 2010).

#### 4.2 Dornbirn Smart Care

For some time now, population forecasts have confirmed that the aging of Austria's population continues to progress. Currently the percentage of over 65 years of age in Austria's total population is about 19%. Twenty years from now, in 2040 this percentage is forecasted to rise up to 26% (Statistics Austria 2020; Austrian Conference on Spatial Planning 2019). In 2030, up to 72,900 additional staff in the health-care sector will be needed—compared to 2017 (Federal Ministry of Social Affairs, Health, Care and Consumer Protection 2019b). The shift from multi-person to single-person households, the decline in fertility, and child mobility (Grossmann and Schuster 2017) are additional challenges. In the current care provision report of Austrian's Federal Ministry Republic of Social Affairs, Health, Care and Consumer Protection, a strong focus lies on homecare, especially on Ambient Assisted Living (AAL) (Federal Ministry of Social Affairs, Health, Care and Consumer Protection 2019a; European Parliamentary Technology Assessment 2019).

The city of Dornbirn sought to understand whether the connection between intelligent systems and existing human resources can ensure a self-determined life in old age within one's own four walls. Based on a study of several focus groups, a specification book was developed, and service and support scenarios were prioritised which can serve as a reference for future policy making. Participants consisted of service providers and service recipients as well as representatives of the city administration. The initial results in our use-case mapping of Smart Care potential for the City of Dornbirn concluded two challenges. Firstly, there is no sufficient consideration for the application of intelligent technological systems by most actors in the outpatient care as well as by the end users. To tackle the issue, the stakeholder groups have now planned to set up a regional physical consulting and service centre in combination with a showroom for AAL technologies.

Secondly, efficient coordination of care and nursing institutions is unanimously seen as a key potential for the development of services for smart care in the region. The potential therefore lies in care management which can defined as "the establishment, planning and management of a largely binding, standardised and coordinated cooperation of professional and voluntary actors in the region who offer assistance and who can be coordinated for individual cases" (State Government of Vorarlberg 2019).

#### 5 Conclusion and Outlook

Under headings like Smart Government, Smart Cities, and PPPP, municipalities are launching ICT and digitalisation initiatives aimed at the holistic deployment of digital, public and private smart services. Even where geographical proximity and similar socio-economic conditions of the municipalities are often present, a systematic exchange of methodologies, service design approaches, and best practices is missing. In this paper, we describe how services can be developed in the public sector, especially in cooperation with private as well as academic partners in co-creation settings, sometimes referred to as quadruple-helix. We present approaches we designed for service development in Smart Government and Smart Cities settings in the Lake Constance Region, especially those developed in the research project Smart Government Academy for Lake Constance Region. After an initial presentation of the KPI framework, innovation management methods, and phasing approaches, we conclude the paper with two exemplary use-cases conducted within the research project. In next steps, we plan to refine the KPI set as well as the Service Development Cube and adapt the results for a generalisation which supports the replicability and scalability for further use-cases in the region but also on a European level.

#### References

- A-Trust. (n.d.). *Der E-ID kommt!*. Retrieved September 23, 2020, from https://www.a-trust.at/de/ handy-signatur/e-id/.
- Albino, V., Berardi, U., & Dangelico, R. M. (2015). Smart cities: Definitions, dimensions, performance, and initiatives. *Journal of Urban Technology*, 22(1), 3–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/106 30732.2014.942092.
- Andermatt, K., & Göldi, R. (2018). Introducing an electronic identity: The co-design approach in the Canton of Schaffhausen. *Swiss Yearbook of Administrative Sciences*, 9(1), 41–50. https://doi.org/10.5334/ssas.122.
- Austrian Conference on Spatial Planning. (2019). Kleinräumige Bevölkerungsprognose für Österreich 2018 bis 2040 mit einer Projektion bis 2060 und Modellfortschreibung bis 2075. https://oerok.gv.at/fileadmin/user\_upload/Bilder/2.Reiter-Raum\_u.\_Region/2.Daten\_ und\_Grundlagen/Bevoelkerungsprognosen/Prognose\_2018/Bericht\_BevPrognose\_2018.pdf
- Communication C. (2012). 4701 final (2012). *Smart Cities and Communities—European Innovation Partnership*. Directorate-General for Communication Networks, Content and Technology, European Commission. https://ec.europa.eu/newsroom/dae/document.cfm?doc\_id=3178
- Directorate-General for Energy. (2018). *The Strategic Energy Technology (SET) Plan—at the heart of energy research and innovation in Europe*. European Commission. Publications Office of the European Union. https://setis.ec.europa.eu/sites/default/files/setis%20reports/2017\_set\_ plan\_progress\_report\_0.pdf.
- European Parliamentary Technology Assessment. (2019). *Technologies in care for older people*. EPTA report 2019. https://eptanetwork.org/images/documents/minutes/EPTA\_report\_2019.pdf
- Federal Ministry of Social Affairs, Health, Care and Consumer Protection (2019a). Österreichischer *Pflegevorsorgebericht 2018.* https://broschuerenservice.sozialministerium.at/Home/Download? publicationId=719.

- Federal Ministry of Social Affairs, Health, Care and Consumer Protection. (2019b). *Pflegepersonal-Bedarfsprognose für Österreich*. https://broschuerenservice.sozialministerium.at/Home/Dow nload?publicationId=722.
- Gil-Garcia, J. R., Helbig, N., & Ojo, A. (2014). Being smart: Emerging technologies and innovation in the public sector. *Government Information Quarterly*, 31(supplement), 11–18. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.giq.2014.09.001.
- González García, C., Meana-Llorián, D., Pelayo García-Bustelo, B. C., & Cueva Lovelle, J. M. (2017). A review about smart objects, sensors, and actuators. *International Journal of Interactive Multimedia and Artificial Intelligence*, 4(3), 7–10. https://doi.org/10.9781/ijimai.2017.431.
- Govindarajan, V., & Trimble, C. (2010). *The other side of innovation: Solving the execution challenge*. Harvard Business School Publishing.
- Grossmann, B., & Schuster, P. (2017). Langzeitpflege in Österreich: Determinanten der Staatlichen Kostenentwicklung. Österreichische Nationalbank: Fiskalrat.
- Guenduez, A. A., Schedler, K., Singler, S., & Tomczak, T. (2018). Smart government success factors. Swiss Yearbook of Administrative Sciences, 9(1), 96–110. https://doi.org/10.5334/ssas.124.
- Hansson, K., Ekenberg, L., & Belkacem, K. (2015). Open government and democracy: A research review. *Social Science Computer Review*, 33(5), 540–555. https://doi.org/10.1177/089443931456 0847.
- Janssen, M., Charalabidis, Y., & Zuiderwijk, A. (2012). Benefits, adoption barriers and myths of open data and open government. *Information Systems Management*, 29(4), 258–268. https://doi. org/10.1080/10580530.2012.716740.
- Jussila, J., Kukkamäki, J., Mäntyneva, M., & Heinisuo, J. (2019). Open data and open source enabling smart city development: A case study in Häme Region. *Technology Innovation Management Review*, 9(9), 26–35. https://doi.org/10.22215/timreview/1266.
- Kanton Schaffhausen. (n.d.). Schaffhauser eID+. Retrieved September 23, 2020, from https://sh.ch/ CMS/Webseite/Kanton-Schaffhausen/Beh-rde/Services/Schaffhauser-eID-2077281-DE.html
- Kim, W. C., & Mauborgne, R. (2015). Blue ocean strategy: How to create uncontested market space and make the competition irrelevant. Expanded Edition. HBR Press.
- Lucke, J. (2018). Smart Government auf einem schmalen Grat. In R. Mohabbat Kar, B. E. P. Thapa, & P. Parycek (Eds.), (Un)berechenbar? Algorithmen und Automatisierung in Staat und Gesellschaft (pp. 97–125). Kompetenzzentrum Öffentliche IT: Fraunhofer-Institut für Offene Kommunikationssysteme FOKUS.
- Lucke, J., & Große, K. (2017). Smart Government—Offene Fragen zu autonomen Systemen im Staat 4.0. In Schröter, W. (Ed.), Autonomie des Menschen—Autonomie der Systeme—Humanisierungspotenziale und Grenzen moderner Technologien (pp. 313–327). Talheimer.
- Manville, C., Cochrane, R., Cave, J., Millard, J., Pederson, J. K., Thaarup, R. K., et al. (2014). *Mapping Smart Cities in the EU* (Study IP/A/ITRE/ST/2013–02). European Parliament, Directorate-General for Internal Policies, Policy Department A. https://www.europarl.europa.eu/ RegData/etudes/etudes/join/2014/507480/IPOL-ITRE\_ET(2014)507480\_EN.pdf.
- Milenković, M., Rašić, M., & Vojković, G. (2017). Using Public Private Partnership models in smart cities—proposal for Croatia. In 2017 40th International Convention on Information and Communication Technology, Electronics and Microelectronics (pp. 1412–1417). IEEE. https:// doi.org/10.23919/MIPRO.2017.7973643.
- Müller, A., & Windisch, A. (2018). E-Identity-Lösungen in Europa. Asquared. https://asquared. company/public/asquared-blog\_post\_de\_2018-02-13\_e-identity-loesungen-in-europa\_v1.pdf.
- Pereira, G., Macadar, M. A., Luciano, E. M., Edimara, M. L., & Testa, M. G. (2017). Delivering public value through open government data initiatives in a Smart City context. *Information Systems Frontiers*, 19(2), 213–229. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10796-016-9673-7.
- Purnomo, F., Meyliana, & Prabowo, H. (2016). Smart City indicators: A systematic literature review. Journal of Telecommunication, Electronic and Computer Engineering, 8(3), 161–164.
- Regulation 910/2014. On electronic identification and trust services for electronic transactions in the internal market and repealing Directive 1999/93/EC. European Parliament,

Council of the European Union. https://eur-lex.europa.eu/legal-content/EN/TXT/PDF/?uri=CELEX:32014R0910&from=EN.

- Rose, W., & Grant, G. (2010). Critical issues pertaining to the planning and implementation of E-Government initiatives. *Government Information Quarterly*, 27(1), 26–33. https://doi.org/https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.giq.2009.06.002.
- Schedler, K., Summermatter, L., & Schmidt, B. (2013). *Electronic Government einführen und entwickeln*. Von der Idee zur Praxis: Paul Haupt.
- Scholl, H. J., & Scholl, M. C. (2014). Smart governance: A roadmap for research and practice. In Proceedings of the iConference (pp. 163–176). iSchools. https://doi.org/10.9776/14060.
- Smart Mobility and Living (Unit H.5). (2020). Smart Cities—Smart Living (Policy). European Commission. Retrieved September 23, 2020, from https://ec.europa.eu/digital-single-market/en/ smart-cities.
- State Government of Vorarlberg. (2019). *Betreuungs- und Pflegenetz Vorarlberg 2018*. https://www.betreuungundpflege.at/fileadmin/user\_upload/document/downloads/jahresberichte/jahresbericht-2018.pdf.
- Statistics Austria. (2020). *Statistik des Bevölkerungsstandes 2020* [Data Set]. https://www.statis tik.at/web\_de/statistiken/menschen\_und\_gesellschaft/bevoelkerung/bevoelkerungsstruktur/bev oelkerung\_nach\_alter\_geschlecht/index.html.
- Sun, H., De Florio, V., Gui, N., & Blondia, C. (2009). Promises and challenges of ambient assisted living systems. In *Proceedings of the 2009 Sixth International Conference on Information Technology: New Generations* (pp. 1201–1207). IEEE. https://doi.org/10.1109/ITNG. 2009.169.
- Thomas, A. M., Moore, P., Evans, C., Shah, H., Sharma, M., Mount, S., et al. (2014). Smart care spaces: Pervasive sensing technologies for at-home care. *International Journal of Ad Hoc and Ubiquitous Computing*, *16*(4), 268. https://doi.org/10.1504/ijahuc.2014.064862.
- Ubaldi, B., Le Fevre, E. M., Petrucci, E., Marchionni, P., Biancalana, C., Hiltunen, N., et al. (2019). State of the art in the use of emerging technologies in the public sector. OECD Working Papers on Public Governance, 31. OECD Publishing. https://doi.org/10.1787/19934351.

# Smart Dust for Smart(er) Industrial Product-Service-Systems: Three Strategies and Their Application



Manuel Holler, Benjamin van Giffen, Linard Barth, and Rainer Fuchs

Abstract The nascent technology of smart dust—miniaturized sensor networks promises high value to advance industrial product-service-systems. While previous studies have identified smart dust as source for product and service innovation, the pathways from an initial offering to smart dust-enhanced product-service-systems have received scant attention. The present work in the scope of a Swiss National Science Foundation project on the economic potentials of this technology aims to conceptualize and apply strategies for smart dust-enhanced product-service-systems. This conceptual research resulted in the three pathways (1) product-driven strategy, (2) service-driven strategy and (3) holistic strategy which could be successfully mapped to the use case "Monitoring of structures". In closing, this emerging technology helps to make industrial product-service-systems more customer- and useroriented as called by recent voices. To science, we introduce smart dust in the field of product-service-systems and offer a first systemization of pathways, thus contribute to the product-service-systems engineering knowledge base. To practice, we provide useful approaches to be applied at a strategy level to push the servitization in manufacturing forward.

**Keywords** Smart dust · Industrial Product-Service-System · Industrial PSS · Strategy · Application · Conceptual research

M. Holler  $(\boxtimes) \cdot L.$  Barth  $\cdot$  R. Fuchs

Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Theaterstrasse 17, 8400 Winterthur, Switzerland e-mail: manuel.holler@zhaw.ch

L. Barth e-mail: linard.barth@zhaw.ch

R. Fuchs e-mail: rainer.fuchs@zhaw.ch

B. van Giffen University of St. Gallen, Müller-Friedberg-Strasse 8, 9000 St. Gallen, Switzerland e-mail: benjamin.vangiffen@unisg.ch

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_2

#### 1 Smart Dust for Industrial PSS

In the past years, product-service-systems—broadly speaking integrations of products and services—have been playing a pivotal role in the industrial economic sector (Baines et al. 2007; Meier et al. 2010). Thereby, digital technologies (e.g., smart connected products and corresponding smart services) have promoted the field in research and practice (Hänsch Beuren et al. 2013; Lerch and Gotsch 2015). Continuing this line of digital innovation, the nascent technology of smart dust (Gartner 2018; Ilyas and Mahgoub 2018) promises high value to further advance productservice-systems. By definition, smart dust represents an "autonomous sensing, computing and communication system that can be packed into a cubic-millimeter mote to form the basis of integrated, massively distributed sensor networks" (Warneke et al. 2001, p. 2).

Comprising the whole IoT technology stack from sensor to service, these motes can be installed in the application range of industrial assets to expedite sensing to the next level (Ilyas and Mahgoub 2018). Reverting to related literature, recent empirical works (Holler et al. 2020a, b) explored the economic potentials of smart dust in industrial settings. More precisely, Holler et al. (2020a, b) showed opportunities across the whole lifecycle, from beginning-of-life (e.g., advancement of requirements engineering) over middle-of-life (e.g., enhancement of logistics monitoring) to end-of-life (e.g., augmented retirement planning). While these previous studies have identified smart dust as source for product and service innovation (Holler et al. 2020a, b; Ilyas and Mahgoub 2018), the pathways from an initial offering to smart dust-enhanced product-service-systems have received scant attention. Accordingly, we express the following research question: [RQ] Which strategies could industrial companies pursue to exploit smart dust-enhanced product-service-systems? The present work in the scope of a Swiss National Science Foundation project on the economic potentials of this technology aims to conceptualize and apply such strategies. We proceed with methodical details, bridge to the strategies and their application, and finish with a conclusion.

#### **2** Three Strategies and Their Application

To address the introduced question, we employ conceptual research (Hirschheim 2008). Specifically, we selected an established matrix framework (Baines et al. 2007; Meier et al. 2010) to conceptualize the strategies. The creation process itself is informed by two main data sources as recommended by Hirschheim (2008): On the empirical evidence side, we include various case studies (Yin 2003) from the DACH MEM industry within the mentioned research endeavor. On the knowledge base side, we draw on scientific literature (Webster and Watson 2002) from both relevant streams on smart dust and product-service-systems. The target group (Hirschheim 2008) for our strategies are product, service and solution

managers in industrial companies. For the iterative conceptualization, we continuously referred to established concepts (e.g., product-service-continuum (Baines et al. 2007), product/service development (Ansoff 1957)). In sum, we chose dimension 1 as "Product" and dimension 2 as "Service" because both empirical evidence and knowledge base showed that smart dust affords product and service innovation alike (Holler et al. 2020a, b; Ilyas and Mahgoub 2018). Furthermore, these dimensions were differentiated into the states "No product/service", "Existing product/service" and "Smart dust-enhanced product/service" as industrial enterprises typically start with an existing offering striving to complement and improve it (Lerch and Gotsch 2015).

Figure 1 visualizes the three strategies for smart dust-enhanced product-servicesystems. Within the nine quadrants an "Existing product" (Q1/0), an "Existing service" (Q0/1) or an "Existing product-service-system" (Q1/1) represents the starting point in the form of an already available offering. Starting here, two basic approaches are possible: On the one hand, one might pursue a product-driven strategy (horizontal arrows) to achieve a "Smart dust-enhanced product" (Q2/0) or a "Smart dust-enhanced product-service-system (product-driven)" (Q2/1). On the other hand, one might also take a service-driven strategy (vertical arrows) to reach a "Smart dust-enhanced service" (Q0/2) or a "Smart dust-enhanced product-service-system (service-driven)" (Q1/2). Finally, adopting a holistic strategy (diagonal arrow) leveraging both previously described approaches creates a "Smart dust-enhanced productservice-system (holistic)" (Q2/2) exploiting both advantages. We included the grayed



Fig. 1 Three strategies for smart dust-enhanced product-service-systems

out quadrant "No offering" (Q0/0) and the well-discussed productization and servitization strategies (Baines et al. 2007) for the sake of completeness, but these elements are not in the focus of our work. In the aggregate, industrial companies can adopt the pathways (1) product-driven strategy ("better product", horizontal extension, two manifestations), (2) service-driven strategy ("better service", vertical extension, two manifestations) and (3) holistic strategy ("better product and better service", diagonal extension, one manifestation) to leverage smart dust-enhanced product-service-systems.

To illustrate the conceptualized strategies, we draw on a practically and scientifically relevant use case (Ilyas and Mahgoub 2018), selected upon its typicality for the industrial economic sector. Satyanarayanan (2003, p. 2) describes this case "Monitoring of structures" as follows: "If you added a handful of smart dust to every batch of concrete as it is mixed, the resulting buildings would essentially have a nervous system built into every structural element." Starting from the status quo of a general contractor providing a product (e.g., high-rise building, Q1/0), a service (e.g., predictive maintenance, Q0/1) or a well-integrated offering of both (O1/1), smart dust-based innovation can be made product- or service-driven: First, product-driven, infusing smart dust into the building structure helps to design more load-oriented and customer-centric high-rise buildings (O2/0 resp. O2/1), based on a better understanding of the building mechanics. Second, service-driven, integrating smart dust also enables a more accurate and effective predictive maintenance (O0/2 resp. O1/2), grounded on a multiplication of measured points. Lastly, combining both approaches in the holistic strategy offers the optimum to the company and its customers (O2/2). While we selected a specific use case for the in-depth illustration of the framework (Fig. 2), considerations on further product-service-systems in bordering sectors indicate its generalizability.

#### **3** Which Strategy to Pursue?

In this work, we aimed to conceptualize and apply strategies for smart dust-enhanced product-service-systems. This conceptual research resulted in the three pathways (1) product-driven strategy, (2) service-driven strategy and (3) holistic strategy which could be successfully mapped to the use case "Monitoring of structures". The reflections accomplished show that executives have different options: The product-driven strategy involves next-generation product development (e.g., mechanics-based functionalities) or improvements on the spot (e.g., data-driven functionalities). The service-driven strategy entails improved (e.g., predictive maintenance) or novel (e.g., monitoring of concrete ageing) services, which could not be realized without the use of smart dust. The holistic strategy, mirroring the product-service-system thought at best, certainly promises the most advantageous, however also the most effortful offering. In closing, this emerging technology helps to make industrial product-service-systems more customer- and user-oriented as called by recent voices (Dreyer et al. 2019).



Fig. 2 Application of the three strategies for use case "Monitoring of structures"

First, to science, we introduce smart dust in the field of product-service-systems and offer a first systemization of pathways, thus contribute to the product-service-systems engineering (Cavalieri and Pezzotta 2012) knowledge base. Second, to practice, we provide useful approaches to be applied at a strategy level to push the servitization in manufacturing (Meierhofer and West 2019) forward. Although our typical example could be mapped, further validation with real-world cases (Ilyas and Mahgoub 2018) is necessary to support the theory-building effort of this manuscript. Beyond, only sensory capabilities stood in the center of this work, hence the impact of actuatory abilities (i.e. micro robots) (Holler et al. 2020a) may be considered in future research.

Acknowledgements The authors of this work were supported by the Swiss National Science Foundation "Spark" program.

#### References

Ansoff, H. I. (1957). Strategies for diversification. *Harvard Business Review*, 35(5), 113–124. Baines, T. S., et al. (2007). State-of-the-Art in product service-systems. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture*, 221(10), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1243/09544054JEM858.
- Cavalieri, S., & Pezzotta, G. (2012). Product-service systems engineering: State of the art and research challenges. *Computers in Industry*, 63(4), 278–288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.compind. 2012.02.006.
- Dreyer, S., Olivotti, D., Lebek, B., & Breitner, M. H. (2019). Focusing the customer through smart services: A literature review. *Electronic Markets*, 29(1), 55–78. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12525-019-00328-z.
- Gartner. (2018). Gartner hype cycle for sensing technologies. Retrieved from http://www.gartner. com/en/documents/3883980/hype-cycle-for-sensing-technologies-2018
- Hänsch Beuren, F., Gomes Ferreira, M. G., & Cauchick Miguel, P. A. (2013). Product-service systems: A literature review on integrated products and services. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 47(1), 222–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.12.028.
- Hirschheim, R. (2008). Some guidelines for the critical reviewing of conceptual papers. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 98(8), 432–441. https://doi.org/10.17705/1jais.00167.
- Holler, M., Dremel, C., van Giffen, B., & Fuchs, R. (2020a). Smart Dust und Micro Robots im industriellen Sektor—Chancen, offene Punkte und Handlungsempfehlungen. *HMD Praxis der Wirtschaftsinformatik*, 57(6), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1365/s40702-020-00666-z.
- Holler, M., Haarmann, J., van Giffen, B., & Frank, A. (2020b). Smart dust in the industrial economic sector—On application cases in product lifecycle management. In F. Nyffenegger, J. Rios, L. Rivest, & A. Bouras (Eds.), *Product lifecycle management enabling smart X*. Cham, Switzerland: Springer.
- Ilyas, M., & Mahgoub, I. (2018). Smart dust: Sensor network applications, architecture and design. Boca Raton, Florida: CRC Press.
- Lerch, C., & Gotsch, M. (2015). Digitalized product-service systems in manufacturing firms: A case study analysis. *Research-Technology Management*, 58(5), 45–52. https://doi.org/10.5437/ 08956308X5805357.
- Meier, H., Roy, R., & Seliger, G. (2010). Industrial product-service systems. CIRP Annals Manufacturing Technology, 59(2), 607–627. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cirp.2010.05.004.
- Meierhofer, J. & West, S. (2019). Service value creation using a digital twin. Naples Forum on Service, Service Dominant Logic, Network & Systems Theory and Service Science, Ischia, Italy.
- Satyanarayanan, M. (2003). Of smart dust and brilliant rocks. *IEEE Pervasive Computing*, 2(4), 2–3. https://doi.org/10.1109/MPRV.2003.10012.
- Warneke, B., Last, M., Liebowitz, B., & Pister, K. S. J. (2001). Smart dust: Communicating with a cubic millimeter computer. *Computer*, 34(1), 44–51. https://doi.org/10.1109/2.895117.
- Webster, J. & Watson, R. (2002). Analyzing the past to prepare the future: Writing a literature review. *MIS Quarterly*, 26(2), xiii–xxiii.
- Yin, R. K. (2003). *Case study research—Design and methods*. London, United Kingdom: Sage Publications.

# Service Discovery in Complex Business Ecosystems



Linus Bächler, Shaun West, and Jörg Schanze

Abstract An abundance of frameworks and methodologies are concerned with designing services catering to the needs of specific actors. But how might the potential for such service creation be identified in the first place? And what would the dimensions of the value be, which the service enables? These questions are explored in the case of data centre infrastructure management (DCIM). To scrutinize and answer the questions, literature is reviewed, interviews with eight actors within the ecosystem conducted, and the findings applied in defining the service ecosystem of DCIM. The results are a definition of the actors within the ecosystem, the resources they integrate, what enables and constrains this resource integration, and the service exchange and value cocreation resulting from it. In the service system, value cocreation potential is found to be realized by either cocreating existing value in novel ways or cocreating unprecedented value altogether. This is achieved by integrating novel actors, integrating previously unused resources-or rearranging existing ones, or enhancing or disrupting institutions enabling, or constraining the resource integration. The value dimensions are found to be immediacy and time. The former refers to the proximity of any service exchange to the beneficiary and the latter to when value is experienced by any beneficiary. This is important because the essence of cocreated value must be known to replicate, change, or enhance it. Finally, a replicable process is defined, with which value cocreation potential might be identified and used to lead into a service design process.

**Keywords** Value cocreation · Service-Dominant logic · Business ecosystem · Service design · Service systems

L. Bächler  $(\boxtimes) \cdot S$ . West

Lucerne University of Applied Sciences and Arts, Lucerne, Switzerland e-mail: linus.baechler@gmail.com

S. West e-mail: shaun.west@hslu.ch

J. Schanze IBM Switzerland AG, Zurich, Switzerland e-mail: joes@ch.ibm.com

21

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_3

# 1 Introduction

IBM (2016) points out the hardware-centric view of many information technologies (IT) organisations with an accompanying focus on "[...]optimising individual infrastructure components" (p. 3) of data centres (DC). Siloed solutions to increase partial DC efficiency have resulted in costly and complex DCs, struggling to compete with cloud-based IT services. Data Centre Infrastructure Management (DCIM), too, is often seen as solution, i.e., a product applied in a specific use case with a great variety of vendors, each promoting their own methodology in managing cooling, power supply, and other infrastructure, making up a DC. These approaches often lack a consideration of the essential value enabled by a product's functionality.

This case is exemplary of the challenges faced by businesses, experiencing changes to the ecosystem within which they operate. It therefore offers an opportunity to investigate the following research questions (RQ):

*RQ*(*I*): How can value cocreation opportunities within a complex service ecosystem be identified?

RQ (II): What are the dimensions of value?

### 2 Literature Review

Of relevance for RQ (I) is, that the discussion of DCIM focuses on intended functionality of a product and less on the service surrounding and value enabled by it (see Brown and Bouley (2012), Cole (2012), Harris (2015), Meyer (2016), and Levy and Hallstrom (2017a, 2017b) for examples of this product-centricity) But value is the driving motivation for any market activity, according to Service-Dominant (S-D) logic (Vargo and Lusch 2004, 2016). It is cocreated by multiple, resource-integrating actors and their exchange of service, which is enabled or constrained by institutions (Wieland et al. 2017) and institutional arrangements (Wieland, Vargo, and Akaka 2016). These elements, according to Vargo and Lusch (2016), form service ecosystems. It follows that by understanding specific ecosystems, i.e., the actors, resources, institutions and institutional arrangements, and service exchange, within (as oppose to solely product functionality) one could identify potential changes to the system which result in novel, improved value cocreation.

Considering RQ (II), value itself is determined by a specific, beneficiating actor within the system. It only occurs, however, in use (Akaka and Parry 2016). This means that to formulate a compelling value proposition (Osterwalder and Pigneur 2010; Osterwalder et al. 2014), an understanding of an entire service over time (Prohl and Kleinaltenkamp 2020) needs to be established. Additionally, value seems to be created on different levels of abstraction (Akaka and Parry 2016; Frow and Payne 2019): on the levels of individuals, a group, and number of groups; or in dyadic,

triadic, and network exchange (Chandler and Vargo 2011). It can further be argued that all value is not equal, as categorisations (Ekman et al. 2016; Yang et al. 2017) are possible.

## 3 Methodology

A case-specific literature review, firstly, provides the elements to describe a macro level ecosystem of the DC market. This is done by reviewing contemporary, secondary sources: mainly textbooks, peer reviewed papers, and industry publications.

Then, primary research is conducted to establish the meso and micro level of the ecosystem. This is done mainly through interviews with eight actors (previously identified on the macro level) with qualitative and quantitative components and complemented by the study of literature alluded to in these interviews. Figure 1 offers an abstraction of the resulting three-layered ecosystem.

Finally, a concept of an actual service offering is conceptualised by combining identified values, pains, and jobs in actor profiles and utilizing these profiles to define services, aiming for the cocreation of new value within the ecosystem.

The fitness of these services—and by extensions the fitness of the applied methodology—is tested by subsequently implementing the services in the scope of a four-month project.



Fig. 1 Ecosystem overview

### 4 Results and Initial Analysis

Results from the case-specific literature review allow for the construction of a macro level view of the ecosystem. It consists of actors (firms, regulatory bodies, etc.), the resources they integrate (data management capabilities, norms, etc.), institutions and institutional arrangements (labour laws, communications standards, etc.), and service exchange enabling value cocreation (increased application availability, lowered environmental impact, etc.).

Results from the primary research, based on interviews with actors identified on the macro level, are used to describe the ecosystem's meso and micro level. For instance, the DCIM-software vendor (an actor on the macro level) is segmented into application development, project management, etc. on the meso level. Subsequently, these actors are further subdivided into actors on the micro level, e.g., individual sellers or project managers. Each of these actors are again defined through the resources they integrate, the institutions and institutional arrangements enabling or constraining this integration, and their service exchange and value cocreation with other actors.

Upon construction of the three-layered ecosystem, actors with high potential for value cocreation (DC managers, DCIM-software vendors, etc.) are described through defining their jobs, pains, gains, and the value they experience. These elements are then utilized to conceptualize services, enabled by other actors, which aim for aiding in jobs, alleviating pains, enabling gains, or contributing to the cocreation of experienced value.

The implementation of the services in the form of a consulting project between three actors (DC manager, DCIM-software vendor, and DC consulting firm) confirmed the validity of the prior identified potential for novel value cocreation to be experienced by each of these actors.

# 5 Discussion of Results

This section discusses what constitutes an actor, how value cocreation in ecosystems occurs, what value dimensions can be observed and, finally, the implications for the RQ.

### 5.1 Involvement in Value Cocreation

From the initial research, a DC manager can be identified easily as a main beneficiary of services provided by, for instance, a DC consulting firm. It is tempting to just apply traditional service design methods to arrive at a service offering, catering to this specific "user" and only constrained by the abilities of the providing DC consultants.



However, by describing the ecosystem surrounding these actors, it becomes clear that there is no simple provider-consumer-dichotomy when it comes to the value created. Rather, multiple actors are integrating resources to enable value. And each of these actors, individually, experiences different value in return. Chandler and Vargo (2011) describe this quite fittingly as an Actor-to-Actor (A2A) environment.

These actors do not only encompass individuals, but rather any entity which could integrate a resource, relevant for the service ecosystem. Users naturally fall under this definition as they integrate their skills, time, etc. to use, for instance, a DCIM software. Stakeholders as well, have at some point integrated a resource, i.e., the stake, into the ecosystem but do not necessarily need to also be the user. In the previous example, the financier of the software, for instance, has invested capital and is anticipating optimised DC operations. Stakeholder and user are further similar insofar as they both determine value, albeit in different ways. The return on investment might be more important for the stakeholder, while the user is considering usability. This makes both, the user and the stakeholder, beneficiaries, i.e., determiners of value. Yet, what about someone determining value but not being interested in the success of a service exchange? For instance, DC facility management personnel, integrating their labour into the ecosystem, could be laid off due to automated DC operations. In addition, the software itself, the DC, etc. are all integrating resources into the system but are hardly categorizable as either user, stakeholder, or beneficiary.

The term actor can be applied to encompass all these entities: users, stakeholder, beneficiaries, groups of individuals, or things. It allows for the integration of anything that contributes to the value cocreation. Figure 2 offers a visualisation of this point.

### 5.2 Value Cocreation Mechanics

Having identified the actors involved in value cocreation, an understanding of what it is they integrate is established. The results in this regard could be categorised as capabilities, competencies, or resources (Wieland et al. 2017). But these all are

means to the same end: their integration to foster value cocreation. By not only listing the resources being integrated but rather all resources any actor holds, the potential for envisioning new ways of allocating these resources is unlocked. In doing so, not only the conspicuous properties from resources interacting and actors interacting with resources (Peters et al. 2014) must be considered but also inherent properties, present in any individual resource. The added differentiation between operant and operand resource is in this view misleading, as any operant (acting) resource becomes itself an actor integrating a "capability". Furthermore, distinguishing between tangible or intangible, already of little importance under S-D logic, now becomes even more impractical.

The integration and combination of these resources is what enables value cocreation. That which defines the processes wherein this is done are institutions. In this sense, they go beyond generic rules, norms, meanings, and symbols (Wieland et al. 2017) to include, for instance, new technologies, enabling higher network traffic or the architecture of a storage system in the DC, limiting the storage capacity.

Fostering new value cocreation is not only done by breaking established institutions (Windahl and Wetter-Edman 2019) but also by re-iterating them (Wieland et al. 2017). The final service offering results in new value cocreation because it either introduces new practices into the existing DC management, disrupts insufficient ones, or maintains and supports them with the addition of new actors and the resources they integrate.

The ecosystem's levels of abstraction are described in line with Frow and Payne (2019) as micro (individual actors), meso (sub-groups of actors), and macro (groups of actors). This approach seems more practicable, as an approach according to Akaka and Parry (2016) would relegate discussion of dyadic exchange to the micro level. This is because dyadic exchange occurs among any type of actor: individuals, groups, between individuals and groups, etc. But when trying to describe ecosystems, there is hardly only dyadic exchange. Because multiple actors need to be considered to fully understand most value cocreation.

Considering macro, meso, and micro levels allows for a clear orientation with regards to the level of abstraction one is on at any given time. For instance, an interview is an investigation on the micro level. But—the interviewed individuals being representatives of groups of actors—inferences can be made to the sub-group (itself an actor) on the meso level. It further allows for the visualisation of higher-level connections, such as, between two firms, if that level of abstraction is sufficient. But at the same time, it leaves room for closer investigation of exchanges on a lower level, such as between individuals within and across their organisations.

Alternatingly establishing a focus on specific actors to investigate, allows for the application of design methods such as persona or empathy maps, which focus on individuals. But only by focusing on multiple actors and connecting them in a nodal network (Risdon and Quattlebaum 2018) ultimately leads to the complete ecosystem, with certain areas more fleshed out than others, due to the set focus areas. By focusing the investigation on DC consultants and DCIM-software vendor, for instance, shared connections to the DC manager can be identified, which promise potential for additional value cocreation.

If the premise of a single beneficiary, experiencing value, is accepted, the design of a service would, at some point, have to focus on a single actor's jobs. But by incorporating the findings of the defined ecosystem, it is possible to factor in the value these jobs could enable for other actors. A service blueprint, for instance, should therefore not only show the commonly used "supplier" activities behind a line of visibility and the "user's" activities before this line, but include any actor involved in the value cocreation.

#### 5.3 Value Dimensions

When considering the definition of Akaka and Parry (2016), value would be cocreated in dyadic, triadic, and network exchange. However, it is always an actor (individual or group of individuals) determining the value. In a dyadic exchange, for instance, two completely different kinds of value could be experienced. As the value is experienced, it becomes important to understand the beneficiary's activities and contexts. This is part of the reason why the value proposition canvas (Osterwalder et al. 2014) is such a useful aid. But linking the value enabled to a job is pivotal, as otherwise the connection of activity to experienced value would be lost.

Categories, such as formulated by Yang et al. (2017) or Ekman et al. (2016) are just that: categories. Types of values. And not dimensions evident in all value. One dimension which can be inferred from the results might be related to the levels of abstraction, albeit not in the sense of direct vs. indirect exchange. But rather, as the value as experienced by an individual compared to how it is experienced by the group this individual is part of. For example, the value experienced by a user of DCIM-Software might be defined as a highly simplified way of setting up automated event notifications. The same value, on a higher level of abstraction and experienced by the group this actor is part of (the facilities organisation), could become clarity of responsibilities and reduction of errors. On an even higher level of abstraction (the entire company), this value would then translate into increased DC resiliency.

But similarly, if we focus on one actor's jobs, such as those of the DC manager, there are values directly experienced by this actor, because they make their jobs easier. These jobs, now performed better, enable value for other actors, not necessarily part of the same group. The value of one actor might therefore be experienced differently by another actor. As even a group of individuals is defined as just one actor, instead of referring to a value dimension as its level of abstraction, one could refer to it as immediacy; direct value, experienced by whichever actor is in focus, and indirect, presupposing the direct value but experienced by another actor.

Identifying these dimensions of value allows not only for envisioning solutions to enable it by doing the same jobs better. It also leaves room for envisioning different ways of enabling that value. The benefit being, that one already knows that an actor does experience it as value. For instance, a quick IT service provision is experienced as value by the business organisation and currently enabled by a shift of on-premise to cloud-based services. The same value, known to be valued by this actor, can now be envisioned to be enabled by an automated process for IT infrastructure to access computational capacity in an on-premise DC, with the facility organisation ensuring its availability.

Time becomes another important value dimension to consider; while value is only experienced in the moment, the context in which it occurs might shift over time. For instance, the value for a facilities organisation to accurately depict installed assets in a digital model is experienced when locating an asset for trouble shooting and, in a different context, when performing an audit. The visualisation of context across time is, therefore, an aid in identifying value cocreation opportunities.

### 5.4 Implications for the Research Questions

Following the previous subsections,  $RQ(I)^1$  is answered by the following proposition for a replicable process when faced with the task of finding new value cocreation potential within an ecosystem. And  $RQ(II)^2$  is answered by integrating the identified value dimensions into this process.

In this process, firstly, an understanding of the current ecosystem must be established allowing to go beyond known "customer segments" or "partnering firms". A promising way of doing so is to set up a macro level overview of the market in question. This includes actors such as companies, social groups, governments, and other large entities. To do so, multiple actor-centred ecosystems might be combined into a nodal ecosystem, by overlaying them according to shared actors within. By listing the resources these actors can integrate and mapping occurring interactions, current and potential service exchange is made out.

As this only provides an abstract understanding, the "resolution" of the ecosystem must be enhanced. To do so, a closer investigation of the sub-groups, making up the meso level, and the individuals, making up the micro level, must be established. This could also include inanimate actors such as platforms, software, or anything else integrating resources. The selection of actors to focus on should not be dominated by already established customer segments, but rather allow for the exploration of any actor who might partake in resource integration. As before, introducing actor-centred systems and combining them into nodal systems, allows for a faster arrangement of actors. Additionally, mapping the affiliation of individuals to sub-groups and to groups, fosters a clear structure and understanding across the different levels. The resources these actors can integrate, and the linking of interactions should be visualised once more, as they denote current and potential service exchanges.

Next, an ecosystem consisting of the previously defined macro, meso, and micro level and including actors, their current interactions, and resources which are—or could potentially be—integrated is established. By viewing the resource integration through the lens of actors as beneficiaries, experienced value is identified. This

 $<sup>{}^{1}</sup>$ RQ (I): How can value cocreation opportunities within a complex service ecosystem be identified?  ${}^{2}$ RQ (II): What are the dimensions of value?

includes value experienced by actor "A"—because their jobs are made easier—and value experienced by actor "B", who's value experience is enabled by the enhanced job performance of actor "A". This presupposes an understanding of jobs done and value experienced over time through, for instance, actor-journey mapping.

Lastly, by identifying institutions and institutional arrangements which are currently—or could be in the future—enabling or constraining the resource integration, all elements are present to envision novel value cocreation. This dormant value cocreation is either awoken through the integration of new actors into the system, the introduction of new—or rearrangement of existing—resource integrations, or the enhancement or disruption of institutions.

This ecosystem understanding is then utilised as input for design frameworks, suitable for the definition of concrete services. The allocation of value, to jobs and actors and how they interconnect, allows for a more precise definition of value propositions, which are still aimed at one specific actor. The service design itself is further enriched by the fuller backlog and better understanding of potential beneficiaries and value cocreators.

### 6 Conclusion

This research paper set out to answer how value cocreation opportunities within complex business ecosystems can be identified and what the dimensions of such value are. The methodology to do so investigates the ecosystem of DCIM: reviewing literature on the broader DC market, interviewing actors within it, and assessing the jobs DC managers must perform in order to keep things running. In doing so, an ecosystem description is derived which informed a service design, leading to the conceptualization of services.

The results shed light on the actors within the ecosystem, how they experience value, what resources they (could) integrate, and the resulting service exchange. The results further identify what enables or constrains this exchange of resources. Value cocreation potential in this system is found to be realized by either cocreating existing value in novel ways or cocreating unprecedented value altogether. This is achieved by integrating novel actors, integrating previously unused resources—or rearranging existing ones, or enhancing or disrupting institutions enabling or constraining the resource integration.

These insights are summarized in a process intended to be employed for defining ecosystems in other cases and thereby identifying the value cocreation potential within. This approach further allows for a subsequent service design to be more thorough due to a better understanding and wider range of possibilities.

The value dimensions are found to be immediacy and time. The former refers to the proximity of any service exchange to the beneficiary: a service might be tailored to cocreate value experienced by one beneficiary, but indirectly cause value (positive or negative) to be experienced by another actor not partaking in the dyadic exchange. Time, on the other hand, denotes when value is experienced by any beneficiary. This is important, as the cause of value cocreation must be known in order to replicate, change, or enhance it.

### References

- Akaka, M. A., & Parry, G. (2016). Value-in-context: An exploration of the context of value and the value of context. In P. P. Maglio, C. A. Kieliszewski, J. C. Spohrer, K. Lyons, L. Patrício, & Y. Sawatani (Eds.), *Handbook of service science* (Vol. II, pp. 457–477). Springer Nature Switzerland AG.
- Brown, K., & Bouley, D. (2012). Classification of Data Center Infrastructure Management (DCIM) Tools. *Schneider Electric—Data Center Science Center*, (White Paper 104, Revision 3).
- Chandler, J. D., & Vargo, S. L. (2011). Contextualization and value-in-context: How context frames exchange. *Marketing Theory*, 11(1), 35–49.
- Cole, D. (2012). Data Center Knowledge Guide to Data Center Infrastructure Management (DCIM). Data Center Knowledge.
- Ekman, P., Raggio, R. D., & Thompson, S. M. (2016). Service network value co-creation: Defining the roles of the generic actor. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 56, 51–62.
- Frow, P., & Payne, A. (2019). Value Cocreation: An Ecosystem Perspective. In S. Vargo & R. Lusch (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of service-dominant logic* (pp. 80–96). Los Angeles: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Harris, M. (2015). Data Center Infrastructure Management. In H. Geng (Ed.), *Data Center Handbook* (pp. 601–618). Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons Inc.
- IBM. (2016). The next-generation data center—A software defined environment where service optimization provides the path. IBM Corporation.
- Levy, M., & Hallstrom, J. O. (2017a). A new approach to data center infrastructure monitoring and management (DCIMM). 2017 IEEE 7th Annual Computing and Communication Workshop and Conference.
- Levy, M., & Hallstrom, J. O. (2017b). A reliable, non-invasive approach to data center monitoring and management. Advances in Science, Technology and Engineering Systems, 2(3), 1577–1584.
- Meyer, N. (2016). Data Centre Infrastructure Monitoring. *Partnership for Advanced Computing in Europe.*
- Osterwalder, A., & Pigneur, Y. (2010). Business model generation. Hoboken: Wiley.
- Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y., Bernarda, G., & Smith, A. (2014). *Value proposition design*. Hoboken: Wiley.
- Peters, L. D., Löbler, H., Brodie, R. J., Breidbach, C. F., Hollebeek, L. D., Smith, S. D., et al. (2014). Theorizing about resource integration through service-dominant logic. In *Marketing Theory* (Vol. 14).
- Prohl, K., & Kleinaltenkamp, M. (2020). Managing value in use in business markets. *Industrial Marketing Management* (March).
- Risdon, C., & Quattlebaum, P. (2018). Orchestrating experiences: Collaborative design for complexity. New York: Rosenfeld Media LLC.
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2004). Evolving to a new dominant logic for marketing. *Journal of Marketing*, 68(1), 1–17.
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2016). Institutions and axioms: An extension and update of servicedominant logic. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 44(1), 5–23.
- Wieland, H., Hartmann, N. N., & Vargo, S. L. (2017). Business models as service strategy. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 45(6), 925–943.

- Wieland, H., Vargo, S. L., & Akaka, M. A. (2016). Zooming out and zooming in: Service ecosystems as venues for collaborative innovation. In M. Toivonen (Ed.), *Service innovation* (pp. 35–50). Springer Nature.
- Windahl, C., & Wetter-Edman, K. (2019). Designing for service: From service-dominant logic to design practice (and Vice Versa). In S. Vargo & R. Lusch (Eds.), *The SAGE handbook of service-dominant logic* (pp. 674–688). Los Angeles: SAGE Publications Ltd.
- Yang, M., Evans, S., Vladimirova, D., & Rana, P. (2017). Value uncaptured perspective for sustainable business model innovation. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 140, 1794–1804.

# **Value Propositions for Smart Services**

# Value Creation with Digital Twins—Framework Validation and Analysis of Further Development Priorities



### Linard Barth, Matthias Ehrat, Manuel Holler, and Rainer Fuchs

Abstract This paper presents results of an ongoing research project to explain the systematic value creation with digital twins. Herein a formerly proposed digital twin reference framework is validated, its usefulness in practice is evaluated and development priorities are derived. Therefore, the framework was presented to and discussed with experts from practice. The evaluation of the quality of the framework, its benefits in practice and the applicability for innovation process phases were collected with an online questionnaire consisting of open questions and quantitative ratings. Qualitatively, the study unveiled the systematization and holistic perspective as main strengths and the complexity as major weakness of the framework. Quantitatively, the framework proved to be useful as it provides benefits for practice, especially in the early stages of innovation processes. Finally, development priorities and directions were derived to improve and adapt the framework towards the created insights to foster its applicability in practice.

**Keywords** Digital twin · Value creation · Conceptual framework · Validation · Practical applicability

L. Barth  $(\boxtimes) \cdot M$ . Ehrat  $\cdot M$ . Holler  $\cdot R$ . Fuchs

Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Theaterstrasse 17, Winterthur, Switzerland e-mail: linard.barth@zhaw.ch

M. Ehrat e-mail: matthias.ehrat@zhaw.ch

M. Holler e-mail: manuel.holler@zhaw.ch

R. Fuchs e-mail: rainer.fuchs@zhaw.ch

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_4

## 1 Introduction

The development and progress in information and communication technology will transform traditional products into smart products allowing to offer novel smart services (Dawid et al. 2016). Herein, the digital twin (DT) concept is regarded as a key technology for creating value with smart services (Barbieri et al. 2019).

However, the lack of a shared conceptual framework for DTs with an unambiguous terminology (Schleich et al. 2017) complicates cross-functional discussions. Additionally, the definition of digital twins has been enriched over time, from a digital representation of a physical asset to an evolving digital profile of the historical and current behavior and all properties of an asset, where an asset can be anything of value for an organization (Malakuti et al. 2019). In contrast to original definitions which are narrower (Holler et al. 2016) this understanding includes for example also software or processes used to create value via services for different internal and external stakeholders and actors working with digital twins. For the consideration of this broader view focusing more on the value creation, an integrative approach of internal service provision, market-side service usage and comprehensive data provision and architecture is required (Barth et al. 2020).

The authors therefore proposed an ontology and a conceptual reference framework to discuss and analyze the main value creating dimensions of DTs in a previous publication (Barth et al. 2020). The research questions and objectives in this previous study were (a) « Which dimensions are used to classify and structure DTs in academic literature? » , (b) « What are the fundamental differences or specifications within these dimensions? » and (c) « How do these different specifications relate to each other? » . The objective of the research was to find classification systematics that are (a) representing the entire spectrum of DTs, (b) universally valid in all DT related domains and (c) applicable in research and practice.

The resulting digital twin conceptual framework (DTCF) shown in Fig. 1 requires further research to evaluate and validate the framework regarding its application in practice and research, as well as to examine further refinement and development priorities. This paper grounds on the previous publication (Barth et al. 2020) and presents the research approach for the evaluation of the DTCF and initial results.

### 2 Methods and Objectives

As the objective of the ongoing research project is to integrate and extend existing theories in a new conceptual reference framework as a useful artifact for practice, a proven design science research framework serves as overarching structure for the mixed method approach (Hevner et al. 2004). The step of creating the rigor knowledge base was addressed by conducting a systematic literature review according to vom Brocke (2009) and Webster and Watson (2002) regarding the state of the art of digital twin definitions, taxonomies, dimensions and concepts depicting entities and



Fig. 1 Digital Twin Conceptual Framework (Barth et al. 2020)

relationships between these definitions. The findings from the literature review were assessed and refined within several iterations supported by semi-structured interviews (Schultze and Avital 2011) with academic individuals and focus groups (Morgan 1988). The interim result is the DTCF as seen in Fig. 1.

The next step according to the overarching design science research framework by Hevner et al. (2004) is the validation and further development of the created artifact by studying its relevance and applicability in practice, thus evaluating its usefulness.

# 2.1 Objectives

The main objective of the research at hand is thus the evaluation, validation and investigation of further development priorities for the DTCF as proposed by the authors in a previous publication (Barth et al. 2020). The following objectives are addressed:

- 1. Evaluation and validation of the conceptual framework quality.
- 2. Evaluation and validation of the applicability and usefulness in practice.
- 3. Investigation and assertion of the development priorities for refining and adapting the terminology of the elements and their visual/graphical representation to enhance the applicability in practice.

# 2.2 Research Approach and Methods

To address these objectives, a series of DTCF presentations and discussions were held with experts from various companies that use DTs to create value. The procedure consisted of three steps

- 1. Presentation of the DTCF to a set of stakeholders within the company to create a basic understanding and to ensure a rigor preparation of the next steps
- 2. Comprehensive discussion of the applicability of the DTCF based on use cases from the companies along the following guiding questions:
  - a. How would you define the current status of value creation with digital twins in your company referring to the DTCF?
  - b. In which dimensions and specifications of the DTCF your company seeks to improve its value creation with digital twins in the near future?
  - c. In which dimensions and specifications of the DTCF do you see the biggest long-term potential for value creation with digital twins for your company?
- 3. Collecting feedback from the workshop participants
  - a. by means of an online questionnaire with open questions, focusing on improving the terminology and graphic representation
  - b. and completed by a utility value analysis focusing on the usefulness and applicability in practice, as well as the quality of the DTCF as a conceptual framework.

30 presentations were conducted with one up to five participants. Not all participants filled out the questionnaire, in total 42 responses were collected. The respondents' job titles and industries are listed in Table 1.

Jobtitle categories	N = 42					
	Job Titel and Company $N/A = 4$	Industrial goods	Services	Consulting	Medical	Total
	Product Manager	10	5	1	1	17
	Project Leader	2	2	2	1	7
	R&D	3	1	0	1	5
	Business Development/CEO/Sales	2	2	4	1	9
	Total	17	10	7	4	38

Table 1 Sample job titles and companies

# **3** Results

In general, the feedback during the presentations and during the subsequent discussions was very positive. Many company experts stated that the framework represents their own perspective on the topic very well and that they like the structured approach and holistic perspective.

### 3.1 Qualitative Results: General Findings

The online questionnaire began with a set of open questions. The following chapter names the most frequent answer categories per question and qualitatively describes the answers given.

*Q1:* In your opinion, what are the greatest strengths of the DTCF?

The systematic structure and segmentation in three main dimensions, especially the separation of internal and external value creation met broad agreement. The comprehensive and holistic overview of the value creation with digital twins was mentioned by 22 participants (answers include "holistic", "perspectives", "overview", "comprehensive" or equivalent terms) as a strength of the framework. It seems as this is perceived valuable as it helps to "subdivide complex issues into individual subareas" and helps to detect correlations and links between topics often discussed in isolation. Or as one participant stated: "One is forced to look at all components and connections". Further strengths mentioned in connection with the holistic and comprehensive view of the framework are e.g. "compact summary of all essential features" or "the DTCF can very well be used as a checklist to check whether all relevant issues have been addressed".

Another strength of the framework, mentioned by 15 participants (answer includes "structure" or "structured"), is the clear and consistent structure resulting from the segmentation into three main dimensions and their corresponding specifications. This

enables the DTCF to be applied as "a discussion guide for a rather complex topic" or as a "possible tool for systematic screening and categorization of opportunities.

#### Q2: In your opinion, what are the biggest weaknesses of the DTCF?

The holistic approach and comprehensive overview of the framework seems to be also one of its biggest weaknesses. 13 participants (answer includes "complex" or "complexity") stated that it is too complex as it contains so many specifications with interconnections and therefore "is difficult to keep in mind". Furthermore, the three-dimensional representation, which leads to 27 sub-areas in each dimension, does not seem to be intuitively understood by many, as two participants explicitly stated. However, one participant stated, that the representation is very descriptive, once comprehended.

The gap between the theoretical dimensions and specifications to real use cases was mentioned nine times (answer includes "application", "practice" or "use-case"). This was also noted during most of the discussions, as we were regularly asked to give examples. Even though we were able to explain the individual specifications with a set of examples, we currently lack a single easily understandable and generally valid example, which can be used to explain all dimensions and specifications consistently.

Three participants stated that the meaning of some of the terms is not fully selfexplanatory. This was also recognized during the presentations and discussions and might be due to the fact, that most practitioners are only experts in one of the three dimensions.

Therefore, the probably biggest weakness of the conceptual framework is, that it is hardly completely understood without explanation due to its complexity and specialist terms. It currently lacks a single easily understandable example, which covers all dimensions and specifications.

# *Q3:* Which terms are unsuitable? (e.g. unclear or misleading, not precise, too limited, etc.)

Even though three participants stated already at the previous question that not all terms are self-explanatory, 11 participants explicitly stated that all terms are known and understandable and eight participants have abstained from the question.

The rest of the feedback is diverse, 15 participants mentioned one or more terms that were not understandable to them or that they consider unsuitable, but only six proposed alternative terms to use. The only part of the framework which was mentioned several times is the "value creation hierarchy" in the "internal value creation" dimension with the specification "instance", "type" and "master" with eight out of the 15 responses that mentioned specific terms. Especially "instance" and "master" seem to be the terms most difficult to understand.

Another statement on this question, which occurred twice, is that a glossary with synonyms and explanations for each term would be useful to make the framework self-explanatory.

# *Q4*: Are there key elements in the DTCF that you do not consider relevant for value generation with digital twins?

21 participants answered that all key elements in the framework are relevant and another nine have abstained from the question, hence roughly three out of four participants consider all key elements relevant. Five participants stated that they are not able to asses this question, resulting in only seven participants mentioning key elements not relevant in their opinion. Interestingly, five thereof referring to specifications of the data resource dimension.

# *Q5:* Does the DTCF lack key elements that are relevant for value generation with digital twins?

11 participants answered that the framework is not lacking any key elements and another six have abstained from the question, hence roughly four out of ten participants are not missing any key elements.

The feedback of the other participants is very diverse and does not show any clear cluster or patterns. However, some of the statements might be grouped around business model transformation enabled by digital twins, the customer perspective with regard to willingness to pay and willingness to share data, missing granularity regarding processes and supply chain, as well as some feedback regarding the data resources, e.g. data security or tools to structure and enrich data. Three participants stated that they are not able to asses this question.

# 3.2 Quantitative Results: Framework Quality

To validate the quality of the conceptual reference framework, the participants were asked to rate seven different quality criteria of artifacts (Sonnenberg and vom Brocke 2012) developed within the design science research approach.

The rating with scores of different criteria to validate the quality of a conceptual framework shown in Fig. 2 suggest that the DTCF is considered very complete and capable of covering different areas of application, as this criterium received the best rating with the least deviation. Additionally, the level of detail and the internal consistency received high ratings, but with a notable higher variance of ratings by the participants. Not surprisingly the conceptual framework is also regarded as suitable for standardized and normed comparation of different use cases. The criteria regarding the suitability to depict real applications (practical suitability), degree of self-explanation (comprehensibility and plausibility) and intuitive use (simplicity and applicability) received the lowest ratings, however still above the rating of five, which represents a "just sufficient" fulfilment of a criterium.



**Fig. 2** Framework quality rating (N = 42)

## 3.3 Quantitative Results: Applicability and Use in Practice

The questionnaire asked participants whether they would consider using the DTCF in practice, followed by a question to explain why they would use the DTCF or not. As seen in Fig. 3, roughly four out of five answered that they would consider using the DTCF in practice. The answers to the follow-up questions are very similar to the responses to Q1 (Strengths) and Q2 (Weaknesses).

Deeper insights result from the evaluation of different benefits in practical use as shown in Fig. 4. As a conceptual model must be developed in such a way as to provide a system interpretation easily understood by the user of the model it should satisfy fundamental objectives defined according to Kung and Solvberg (1986). The respondents were asked to rate five fundamental objectives of conceptual models,

**Fig. 3** Proportion of practitioners who would use the framework in practice

Would you consider using the DTCF in practice?







each specified as a benefit in practical use by a corresponding question with a clear reference to the DTCF.

Improvement of the individual understanding received the highest rating, followed by the benefit of facilitating systems details transfer. The suitability as reference point received the third highest rating, while the suitability for documentation of applications received the lowest rating.

This is in line with and supports the findings from the qualitative questions and helps to interpret the findings of the evaluation of the suitability of the DTCF to be used in different phases of the innovation process, as shown in Fig. 5. As presumed based on the statements on strengths and weaknesses and the evaluation of benefits



Fig. 5 Rating of suitability of DTCF for innovation process phases (N = 42)

in practical use, the DTCF is perceived to be better suited for the early stages of innovation processes, with steadily declining ratings from phase one to four.

As shown in Table 2 the suitability of the framework to be used in the phases 1 and 2 was rated significantly higher than in the phases 3 and 4.

"(1) Empathize & Define" as well as "(2) Ideate" were rated more suitable than "(3) Prototype" with **high significance** (p < 0.01). The suitability for the first two phases "(1) Empathize & Define" and "(2) Ideate" was also rated more suitable than "(4) Test" with **high significance** (p < 0.01). The means of the other pairs are not significantly different.

### 4 Conclusion

In this working paper, we set out to (1) validate the conceptual framework quality and (2) evaluate the applicability and usefulness in practice in order to (3) derive development priorities for the Digital Twin Conceptual Framework.

Qualitatively, the study unveiled the systematization and holistic perspective as main strengths and the complexity as major weakness. Beyond, with the exception of minor amendments regarding the terminology (e.g., value creation hierarchy) and scope (e.g., business model transformation), the framework was considered as useful. The respondents considered the DTCF to be useful to foster completeness and holistic perspectives in projects, e.g. by using it as a checklist to ensure that nothing was forgotten and to unveil synergies and connections between partial projects.

Quantitatively, regarding the framework quality, the dimensions completeness, granularity, and consistency showed the highest ratings, whereas the simplicity exhibited the lowest figures, which in turn reflects the qualitative statements. Referring to the applicability and usefulness in practice, the framework is considered most suitable for improving the individual understanding, facilitating systems details transfer and as a reference point, while the suitability for documentation received to lowest rating. Thereby, the DTCF is particularly useful for early stages of the innovation process (i.e. Empathize & Define).

Besides minor points for improvement like nomenclature changes, two approaches to further develop the model are conceivable. For one, the weaker elements could be enhanced, for another the strong components might be made even better.

To science, we contribute a validation, and hence an empirically grounded model for the value creation with digital twins. We therefore overcome many built, yet not validated models (e.g. Enders and Hoßbach 2019, Uhlenkamp et al. 2019). To practice, such a useful artifact offers benefits for the design and the use of digital twins in a variety of industries.

While the mixed method approach in general is beneficiary for the scientific quality, a limitation emerges from the rather small, non-representative sample size. Another simplification is grounded in the perceived value, as the actual value can only be studied in the accompaniment of digital twin activities for months or years.

Table 2 Significance test on 1	paired suit	ability for project phase	SS					
Paired differences	Mean	Standard deviation	Standard error of mean	95%-confidence	e interval	T	df	Signifi-cance
N = 42				Lower value	Upper value			(2-sided)
<ul><li>(1) Empathize &amp; Define</li><li>(2) Ideate</li></ul>	0.381	2.527	0.390	-0.407	1.169	0.977	41	0.334
<ul><li>(1) Empathize &amp; Define</li><li>(3) Prototype</li></ul>	1.452	2.881	0.445	0.554	2.350	3.267	41	0.002**
<ul><li>(1) Empathize &amp; Define</li><li>(4) Test</li></ul>	1.857	3.310	0.511	0.826	2.889	3.636	41	0.001**
<ul><li>(2) Ideate</li><li>(3) Prototype</li></ul>	1.071	2.403	0.371	0.323	1.820	2.889	41	0.006**
<ul><li>(2) Ideate</li><li>(4) Test</li></ul>	1.476	2.822	0.435	0.597	2.356	3.390	41	0.002**
<ul><li>(3) Prototype</li><li>(4) Test</li></ul>	0.405	2.209	0.341	-0.284	1.093	1.187	41	0.242
<i>Note</i> $^{**}$ p < 0.01								

project phases
$\operatorname{for}$
suitability
paired
est on
Significance t
e 2

In the short term, the further development and adaption of the framework towards the created insights is an obvious step, serving as basis for a large-scale evaluation in the mid-term. To enhance the self-explanation of the framework a consistent example case as well as a glossary might be developed. To foster the suitability of the DTCF to be used in practice as a tool for the early phases of an innovation project, the development of a workshop methodology might be considered. For later project phases, where the DTCF is perceived as less suitable to be used in practice, a deeper analysis might be conducted to understand for which subphases the framework can provide value and which other methods and tools could complement and support the development of specific use cases and applications. Finally, the implementation as software tool might be a long-term direction.

### References

- Barbieri, C., West, S., Rapaccini, M. & Meierhofer, J. (2019). Are practitioners and literature aligned about digital twin? In 26th EurOMA Conference Operations Adding Value to Society. Conference Paper. Helsinki, Finland.
- Barth, L., Ehrat, M., Fuchs, R., & Haarmann, J. (2020). Systematization of digital twins: Ontology and conceptual framework. In 3rd International Conference on Information Science and Systems (ICISS 2020). Conference Proceedings, March 19–22, 2020, Cambridge, UK. ACM, New York, NY, USA. https://doi.org/10.1145/3388176.3388209
- Dawid, H., Decker, R., Hermann, T., Jahnke, H., Klat, W., König, R., et al. (2016). Management science in the era of smart consumer products: Challenges and research perspectives. *Central European Journal of Operations Research*, 25(1), 203–230. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10100-016-0436-9.
- Enders, M. R., & Hoßbach, N. (2019). Dimensions of digital twin applications—A literature review. In *Twenty-Fifth Americas Conference of Information Systems*, Cancun, Mexico.
- Hevner, A., March, S., Park, J., & Ram, S. (2004). Design science in information systems research. *MIS Quarterly*, 28(1), 75–105. https://doi.org/10.2307/25148625.
- Holler, M., Uebernickel, F. & Brenner, W. (2016). Digital Twin concepts in manufacturing industries—A literature review and avenues for further research. In 18th International Conference on Industrial Engineering, Seoul, South Korea.
- Kung, C. H., & Solvberg, A. (1986). Activity modeling and behavior modeling. In T. Ollie, H. Sol, & A. Verrjin-Stuart (Eds.), Proceedings of the IFIP WG 8.1 Working Conference on Comparative Review of Information Systems Design Methodologies: Improving the Practice (pp. 145–171). Amsterdam: North-Holland.
- Malakuti, S., Schlake, J., Ganz, C., Harper, K. E., & Petersen, H. (2019). Digital twin: An enabler for new business models. In *Conference: Automation 2019*. July 2019.
- Morgan, D. L. (1988). Focus groups as qualitative research. Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.
- Schleich, B., Anwer, N., Mathieu, L., & Wartzack, S. (2017). Shaping the digital twin for design and production engineering. *CIRP Annals*, 66(1), 141–144. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cirp.2017. 04.040.
- Schultze, U., & Avital, M. (2011). Designing interviews to generate rich data for information systems research. *Information and Organization*, 21(1), 1–16.
- Sonnenberg C., & vom Brocke J. (2012). Evaluation patterns for design science research artefacts. In M. Helfert, & B. Donnellan (Eds.), Practical aspects of design science. EDSS 2011. Communications in Computer and Information Science (Vol. 286). Berlin, Heidelberg: Springer. https:// doi.org/10.1007/978-3-642-33681-2\_7.

- Uhlenkamp, J. F., Hribernik, K., Wellsandt, S., & Thoben, K. D. (2019). Digital twin applications: A first systemization of their dimensions. In *IEEE International Conference on Engineering, Technology and Innovation*, Sophia-Antipolis, France.
- Vom Brocke, J., Simons, A., Niehaves, B., Riemer, K., Plattfaut, R. & Cleven, A. (2009). Reconstructing the Giant: On the Importance of Rigour in Documenting the Literature Search Process, *ECIS* (pp. 2206–2217).
- Webster, J., & Watson, R. T. (2002). Analyzing the past to prepare for the future: Writing a literature review. *Management Information Systems Quarterly*, 26(2), 3.

# **BIM-Enabled Issue and Progress Tracking Services Using Mixed Reality**



Valentin Holzwarth, Sebastian Steiner, Johannes Schneider, Jan vom Brocke, and Andreas Kunz

Abstract This paper reports on a case study in collaboration with an industry partner to explore the value creation potentials of Mixed Reality (MR) in construction. MR is a technology that allows for intuitive interaction with digital data through overlays on the real world, giving immediate access to the data of a construction site to quickly track or resolve possible issues. While prior research identified potential applications of MR in construction, the evaluation of MR in real contexts is lacking. Thus, this paper describes a user study that evaluates an MR-assisted inspection task with the participation of nine construction professionals. The results reveal that the average time needed to track an issue with the Building Information Modeling (BIM)-enabled MR application takes less than a minute, compared to an hour for the standard process. Furthermore, the participants reported that working with the MR application was enjoyable and they would like to use it more frequently. Finally, based on the user study's findings, this paper develops two service concept prototypes that could be implemented by the industry partner.

Keywords Mixed reality  $\cdot$  AEC  $\cdot$  Building information modeling  $\cdot$  Service concepts

# **1** Introduction

Digitization is one of the most important trends of the 21st century. The transformative force originating from digitization imposes a direct influence on value creation

S. Steiner  $\cdot$  A. Kunz ETH Zurich, Innovation Center Virtual Reality (ICVR), 8092 Zurich, Switzerland

The authors Valentin Holzwarth and Sebastian Steiner contributed equally to the work.

V. Holzwarth (🖂) · J. Schneider · J. vom Brocke

Institute of Information Systems, University of Liechtenstein, 9490 Vaduz, Liechtenstein e-mail: valentin.holzwarth@uni.li

V. Holzwarth RhySearch, Network & Innovation, 9471 Buchs, SG, Switzerland

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_5

in a corporate environment. In consequence, the current top five of the world's most valuable companies rely heavily on digital business models (Miller 2017). Also the Architecture, Engineering and Construction (AEC) sector is heavily affected by digitization, leading to an increased availability of data along project life-cycles and allowing for the creation of novel, smart services (Holzwarth et al. 2019).

However, the construction industry has not yet exploited the full potential of digitization (Gandhi et al. 2016). Schober and Hok (2016) identified four key factors to digital transformation in AEC: (i) Automation, (ii) Digital Data, (iii) Connectivity, and (iv) Digital Access. Mixed Reality (MR) is a technology, which supports the latter three of the four key factors to digital transformation in construction. It allows for an interaction with digital data, superimposed to a real environment. Thus, MR might enable the construction industry to further increase their degree of digitization and therefore improve its productivity. Prior research has already identified potential applications of MR in AEC (e.g., Wang et al. 2013). However, most prior works do not evaluate the potential of MR technology in a real context.

Therefore, the aim of the study presented in this paper is to explore the potentials of MR technology by conducting a case study in a representative real life setting. The case study's industry partner, one of the world's leading AEC suppliers, is seeking to develop MR-based services as a future complementary offering for their customers. This allows for an in-depth assessment of MR technology's potential in an industrial setting.

## 2 Related Work

This section provides an overview on the different applications for MR in the construction sector. The findings, where to apply MR technology to support construction processes, originate from different literature sources, such as the work done by Wang et al. (2013) on "a conceptual framework on integrating building information modelling with augmented reality". This section also serves as a basis to determine which MR-supported process should be examined during the user study.

MR technologies can be applied in the planning phase as well as in the construction phase (see Fig. 1). The planning phase includes all preliminary work such as the design and planning process, preparation of construction logistics, and any other preparation task. The construction phase describes the time during which the construction and quality control of the project takes place.

The applications of MR presented in this section are focusing on these planning and construction phase processes. Supporting other project life-cycle processes MR, such as tasks for facility management, is also possible and potentially promising. However, this is beyond the scope of this study and therefore not evaluated in more detail but should be mentioned for completeness.



Fig. 1 Applications of MR in construction

### 2.1 Visualization

The application of MR technology allows for displaying plans and 3D models so-called Building Information Models (BIM) models—in the real world, either at their original size or at a smaller scale. This facilitates model comprehensibility for non-professionals and allows for visualizing substantially more information than conventional, printed plans. For example, with the MR platform *CityScopeAR*, developed by MIT media lab, collaborative urban design processes can be visualized. This system is used to display additional information about the implications that a planned project might have, such as congestion and construction costs (Noyman et al. 2019).

Another software solution for visualisation, which is available today, is the *Trimble sketch up viewer* which makes it possible to view the projects in a MR environment on a smartphone or with a Head-Mounted Display (HMD). Such software solutions allow the user to view the drawings as miniature 3D representations or in life-size, making them better comprehensible and the experience more immersive (Trimble 2019). Having such possibilities of visualizing plans with MR technology enables better understanding of component interaction, particularly between different planner professions, and it also enables a more interactive way of overall planning.

Additionally, construction logistics procedures can benefit from MR technology by connecting planners and the operating staff through simultaneous access to the same digital model. This enables fast response to unforeseen events or test runs of new logistics scenarios. Through these means, planners can be supported by operative staff during the planning process (Reif and Walch 2008).

Furthermore, MR technology is also considered to be valuable in supporting warehouse planning processes. MR technology can be used to visualize any planned rearrangement in full scale. This enables planners to not only test the plans on the real model but also to model new workflows, which are compatible with the changed environment (Glockner et al. 2014).

### 2.2 Work Preparation

The second subcategory of the planning phase is work preparation, which is also linked to the construction phase, as planning is also required here. Besides the fact that task instructions and visualizations can be displayed before the task is carried out, other task-related information such as where to place material or machinery in order to achieve the best results can be communicated to the user as well. By that, a deeper connection between the early planning and the on-site preparation can be created, which allows for better accuracy and efficiency.

### 2.3 Construction

During construction, the execution of tasks plays a key role. The application of MR technology during task execution has been implemented at Boeing in the context of cable routing. Construction information is continuously made available to the user through an HMD, which provides technicians with a real-time, hands-free access to interactive 3D wiring diagrams. This MR-supported wiring process allows for more efficient task execution, which is consequently raising productivity. This has led to a 90% improvement in first-time quality compared to using two-dimensional information on the aeroplane, along with a 30% reduction in time spent on task execution (Boeing 2018). Besides the reported productivity improvements, MR technology leads to a reduced number of mistakes during complex assembly processes (Chalhoub and Ayer 2018).

### 2.4 Inspection

The final part of the construction phase is the inspection. Here, MR technology enables a facilitated and intuitive access to digital planning data directly on the job site. This enables progress and quality assessment by superimposing the real world with digital plans in an MR environment. The MR environment can be used to access information on the intended construction progress from digital plans more easily and thus enabling "as planned as built" comparisons. Also, the quality with which the features have been installed can be determined by comparing the location and alignment of the real world objects with their digital representations. These different inspection tasks set different requirements for the performance of the MR environment regarding accuracy and information allocation, with the latter being the most demanding for accuracy requirements. Since the user on the construction site has direct access to the digital data, accurate digital documentation of progress, quality and other performance indicators are possible through MR applications during inspection processes. This facilitates the collection and storage of digital data about various aspects of the construction process, which can lead to higher overall efficiency due to a higher data density. Utilizing MR technology in inspection tasks also enables self-inspection functionalities. This encourages job site workers to document their working processes and results on a regular basis. Furthermore, it prevents incorrect actions and helps workers to rectify errors immediately (Riexinger et al. 2018).

### 3 Methodology

The methodology of the study presented in this paper follows an exploratory, technology-driven approach, starting with an extensive review of MR applications in AEC, with the goal of creating service concept prototypes (see Fig. 2). The literature review summarizes both, the state-of-the-art in MR technologies, as well as prior research on MR applications in the context of AEC. This step results in a long-list of potential use cases. Subsequently, the technology selection evaluates the capabilities of hand-held and hands-free MR technology, regarding features such as calibration and accuracy. This step excludes those use cases that are not feasible due to technical constraints. A workshop with the industry partner adds specific requirements, which are combined with the technology selection's findings. Based on these steps, a user study is conducted, wherein 9 AEC professionals participate. In the first part of the user study, each participant is asked to solve a task supported by an MR application. In the second part of the user study, semi-structured interviews are conducted with each participant, which are transcribed and coded. In these semi-structured interviews, the participants contrast their expertise in AEC with the experience in solving the MR-supported task. Based on the user study's results, two MR-based service concept prototypes are developed: (i) a co-creation service, including a smartphone application to be utilized by involved stakeholders in the construction process, (ii) a full service, requiring only limited stakeholder interaction and collaboration.



Fig. 2 The methodology of this paper

# 4 Results

The results of the study in this paper follow the methodology's order, starting with the technology selection and concluding with the developed service concept prototypes.

# 4.1 Technology Selection

The technology selection identifies and analyzes two categories of MR technologies: (i) hand-held MR technology (e.g. smartphone MR applications) and (ii) hands-free MR technologies (e.g. HMDs). Accuracy (i.e. the offset of the superimposed virtual model over the real object) is essential for certain applications, such as quality assessment. A positional error (i.e. accuracy) of 6.64% at distances between 1.5 and 2.5 m has been reported for the Microsoft Hololens, which is a popular device for hands-free MR technology (Liu et al. 2018). For hand-held MR technology, no literature could be found. Thus, a benchmark experiment was performed, which yielded a 3.28% positional error at distances between 1.5 and 2.5 m for the iPhone Xs, which is a popular representative of hands-free MR technology.

# 4.2 User Study

The user study integrates the findings of the literature review, technology selection and industry requirements of this study's partner company.

**Materials** The user study was conducted in a specifically prepared room at the industry partner's facility. For this room, a complete BIM model was available in the AEC software Autodesk Revit.<sup>1</sup> Smartphone-based MR technology was chosen, due to accuracy concerns towards head-worn MR devices. The chosen setup was a state-of-the-art Apple iPhone Xs with the built-in ARKit technology and the MR application Gamma AR.<sup>2</sup> For each participant, task completion time and the number of errors were recorded in the first part of the user study. In the second part of the user study, the participants reported on their experience in semi-structured interviews with a duration of approximately ten minutes. These interviews were recorded, transcribed and coded regarding usability and user acceptance criteria.

The Task During the user study, an inspection task is carried out with each participant in the following way: The participant is welcomed to the study session and informed about the inspection task. Furthermore, each participant is made aware of 5 defects in the study room, which are marked with a colored sticker (see Fig. 3). This was done in order to set the focus on the MR-assisted task and not on the identification

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://www.autodesk.com/products/revit.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://gamma-ar.com/.



Fig. 3 The MR Application interface (left) and a defect marked with a colored sticker (right)

of defects. On each sticker, the type of the defect is noted. First, the participant has to set-up the MR environment by conducting a set-up calibration of the model. Then the participant uses the MR access to the BIM model of the study room to add the information which is stated on the coloured markers to the digital model (see Fig. 3). These colored markers define five possible defects or other issues that could potentially occur on a construction site. For each of the five defects, it is stated what the defect is and how the information should be added, either by a text, a photo, or an audio recording. This has to be done for all five defects.

This simplified user study setup can be imagined as part of a real world procedure, which can be divided into three parts: In *part one*, an inspector examines the construction site or specific parts of it in the "real world". When the inspector finds an error on a feature, has a general comment or wants to evaluate the progress, the MR environment provides access to the BIM model so that he can add or receive information.

In *part two*, there is no human interaction required. The comments made by the inspector are being uploaded to the cloud. Then the information can be automatically forwarded to the relevant professionals who oversee the specific parts. For example, if the inspector adds a comment on an electrical installation, the electrician will receive a notification and all the information about this installation. Also, all the comments are archived, which generates a timeline that might be used for performance evaluation.

In *part three*, the different technicians get a summary of the affected part (information available in the BIM model), where it is located and what the comments of the inspector are. With this information, they can collect the exact material they need to fix the issue. When arriving at the position which was marked in the ground plan of the building, the technician could again use the MR environment to locate the exact part. After fixing the issue, the MR environment is used again to add a comment to the part, whether the issue could be fixed or if there are any further actions required.

**Participants** Nine AEC professionals (6 male and 3 female) with a mean age of 27.56 (SD = 6.82) years participated in the user study. They had various backgrounds, such as engineering, marketing, and computer science. All of the participants were daily

smartphone users, whereas 5 participants had prior experience with MR technology. Only 3 participants had prior experience with BIM, while 5 participants were unfamiliar with 3D models of buildings.

After accomplishing the inspection task, all participants reported on their experience in semi-structured interviews. These interviews yielded that all 9 participants considered the MR application easy to use, 8 participants would like to use it frequently, and 7 participants stated it would make their work more enjoyable. Furthermore, 2 participants saw the main benefit in process transparency (i.e. cover-ups for defects are impeded due to fast and transparent issue identification processes).

### 4.3 Service Concept Prototypes

Based on the positive findings of the user study regarding performance, user acceptance, and usability, two prototypes for a MR-based service supporting inspection tasks on construction sites were envisioned:

**Co-creation service** The service would be provided in form of a digital platform, consisting of a smartphone MR application and a cloud-based issue management software. This service requires value co-creation of all workers and inspectors on a construction site (i.e. the value is created by all involved actors together, instead of one actor creating and the other actors consuming the value). Although the findings of the user study were very positive, it is still doubted, whether all stakeholders would engage in the service. This could not only be due to resistance towards novel technology, but also due to transparency that would impede cover-ups of construction defects.

**Full service** The full service relies on the same infrastructure as the co-creation service. Here, the service does not require any co-creation. This is achieved by dedicated teams, managing issues and defects on construction sites. This service concept eliminates the disadvantage of the co-creation service, as it does not require the participation of construction site stakeholders. However, the full service would be substantially more costly for the construction project and would be only chosen for special projects.

### **5** Discussion

The overview of Wang et al. (2013) on applications of MR in AEC served as the basis for this paper. However, it has proven to be challenging to develop a use case that fulfills industry requirements, is technically feasible, and has potential for substantial improvements due to MR support. The inspection of building defects with smartphone-based MR is such a use case. It took the participants on average three minutes and 30 s to complete the task, this is equal to about 40 s per identified issue. The time was measured including the calibration time but excluding the time it took to restart the application if this was necessary during the user study. Overall, it took the participants 1.67 calibration attempts to set-up the MR environment correctly. This means that 40% of calibration attempts were unsuccessful. Surprisingly, participants were not heavily bothered by unsuccessful calibration and reported high usability and acceptance. However, the accuracy (i.e. the offset of the virtual model) was an issue for 3 participants.

### 6 Conclusion and Outlook

The aim of this study—exploring the potentials of MR in AEC—was fulfilled. The first substantial finding is that today's technology already seems to be suited to support some of the basic tasks on a construction site. This is most importantly supported by the participants of the user study, who stated that they could even imagine using the MR setup in its current form. Additionally, it is important to note that a regular smartphone could support the MR application which guarantees a high degree of accessibility. The most meaningful finding, however, is not only that this technology is sufficiently mature and accessible but that it is genuinely considered an improvement over a non-MR-supported workflow. Some participants considered the higher quality of data, which was available after using this technology, as well as the time savings due to much faster data post-processing, are undoubtedly the substantial benefits.

Despite these promising results, some problems were also identified. Firstly, it became clear that the calibration success rate has to be improved in order to accelerate the workflow. Secondly, the overall accuracy of the software needs to be improved in order to make more detail-oriented tasks possible and to avoid generating the necessity for users to compensate for software flaws. Further research should be considered regarding the user acceptance on every level of construction work since the scope of our study could not sufficiently cover such a large spectrum. Therefore, conducting experiments with more participants from different backgrounds in the construction industry and directly comparing MR processes with the currently utilized processes on the construction site as well as comparing different MR solutions would be a consequent development of the presented study.

When discussing the limitations of MR technologies, one also has to consider the technology's potential. Current issues pale in comparison to the manifold future possibilities of developing MR technology further. The great variety of possible future applications was demonstrated by the participants immediately being able to think of further tasks on a construction site, which could be supported by MR. All these tasks could consequently lead to a fully MR-supported construction process. In this process, every participating worker could stay well informed through the data provided by such an MR system. In this sense, MR would serve as the key technology to a full digitization of construction sites, possibly introducing one of the greatest efficiency improvements of recent times.

Acknowledgements This work was supported by a project financed by the Hilti Family Foundation in Schaan, Liechtenstein and RhySearch in Buchs SG, Switzerland. Additionally, the authors would like to thank Hilti AG for the fruitful collaboration.

### References

- Boeing. (2018). *Boeing tests augmented reality in the factory*. Retrieved from https://www.boeing. com/features/2018/01/augmented-reality-01-18.page.
- Chalhoub, J., & Ayer, S. K. (2018). Using mixed reality for electrical construction design communication. Automation in Construction, 86, 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2017.10.028.
- Gandhi, P., Khanna, S., & Ramaswamy, S. (2016). Which industries are the most digital (and why)? Harvard Business Publishing. Retrieved from https://hbr.org/2016/04/a-chart-that-shows-which-industries-are-the-most-digital-and-why.
- Glockner, H., Jannek, K., Mahn, J., & Theis, B. (2014). Augmented reality in logistics. DHL Customer Solutions & Innovation. Retrieved from https://www.dhl.com/content/dam/downloads/g0/ aboutus/logisticsinsights/csiaugmentedrealityreport290414.pdf.
- Holzwarth, V., Schneider, J., Kunz, A., & vom Brocke, J. (2019). Approaching data driven services in the built environment. In J. Meierhofer, & S. West (Eds.), *2nd smart services summit*. Swiss Alliance for Data-Intensive Services.
- Liu, Y., Dong, H., Zhang, L., & Saddik, A. E. (2018). Technical evaluation of HoloLens for multimedia: A first look. *IEEE Multi-Media*, 25(4), 8–18. https://doi.org/10.1109/mmul.2018.2873473.
- Miller, L. J. (2017). *Ten years of iphones have made apple the world's no. 1 company*. Retrieved from https://www.bloomberg.com/news/articles/2017-09-11/apple-vaults-to-no-1-from-no-70-after-a-decade-of-iphone-sales.
- Noyman, A., Sakai, Y., & Larson, K. (2019). Cityscopear: Urban design and crowdsourced engagement platform.
- Reif, R., & Walch, D. (2008). Augmented & virtual reality applications in the field of logistics. *The Visual Computer*, 24(11), 987–994. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00371-008-0271-7.
- Riexinger, G., Kluth, A., Olbrich, M., Braun, J.-D., & Bauernhansl, T. (2018). Mixed reality for on-site self-instruction and self-inspection with building information models. *Procedia CIRP*, 72, 1124–1129. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procir.2018.03.160.
- Schober, K.-S., & Ho, P. (2016). Digitization in the construction industry. Roland Berger GmbH. Retrieved from https://www.rolandberger.com/publications/publicationpdf/ tabdigitizationconstructionindustryefinal.pdf.
- Trimble. (2019). *Trimble sketchup viewer*. Retrieved from https://www.sketchup.com/products/ sketchup-viewer.
- Wang, X., Love, P. E., Kim, M. J., Park, C.-S., Sing, C.-P., & Hou, L. (2013). A conceptual framework for integrating building information modeling with augmented reality. *Automation in Construction*, 34, 37–44. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.autcon.2012.10.012.
# A Capability Model for Equipment-as-a-Service Adoption in Manufacturing Companies



Jonathan Rösler and Thomas Friedli

**Abstract** In the light of digital transformation, manufacturing companies are challenged to rethink their business models as technologies, such as the Internet of Things (IoT), that allow innovative product and service offerings. Equipment-as-a-service (EaaS) is a business model that combines both the product and the services needed to maintain and operate the equipment in one offering, whereas the revenue model is based on the actual value (e.g. usage-based, availability-based, outcome-based) provided. Despite high practical relevance, little is known about the required capabilities to introduce and operate such models, as this phenomenon has just started to be explored. Addressing this gap, our study aspires to provide a first understanding of which capabilities are required for introducing and operating the EaaS business model. Based on the insights gathered from interviews with 18 executives from over 14 manufacturing companies that have introduced such offerings, we present a capability model for assessing the maturity needed to introduce and offer EaaS. While bridging the gap between theory and practice, we leveraged state-of-the-art knowledge to help manufacturing companies better understand where they find themselves concerning the capabilities required to introduce and operate the EaaS model.

Keywords Servitization · Business model · EaaS

# 1 Introduction

Within the increasingly globalized environment of today, manufacturing companies need to stand up to global rivalry. Low-cost production deriving from less developed countries, as well as the increasing commoditization, place the utmost uncertainty upon manufacturing companies' revenue streams and economic margins (Kindström 2010; Reinartz and Ulaga 2008). The importance of services within manufacturing and product-oriented companies are widely recognized to counter this phenomenon (Baines et al. 2013; Ulaga and Reinartz 2011; VanDerMerwe and Rada 1988). The

J. Rösler (🖂) · T. Friedli

Institute of Technology Management, University of St Gallen, Dufourstr. 40a, 9000 St. Gallen, Switzerland

e-mail: jonathan.roesler@unisg.ch

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_6

shift towards service offerings rather than product offerings is referred to as servitization, the transformation of manufacturers into solution providers (Raddats et al. 2019). Switching away from a product centric offering promises interesting paths to implement innovative business models (Baines et al. 2013)

Our research shows how manufacturers increasingly contemplate moving away from transactional relationships and into relationship-based business models, thus, selling customers the ability to use their product without having to purchase them.

In such business models, the providing company is no longer paid for its service activities, such as materials or repairs, but rather upon the outcome of such activities in a continuous setting, e.g., the number of usage hours or the achieved availability of products. Despite widely acknowledged benefits of providing such an offer to customers (Grubic and Jennions 2018), the fundamental question of how companies can introduce and operate EaaS remains widely unanswered to practitioners. In essence, manufacturing companies face difficulties to design and operate such and similar models (Windahl and Lakemond 2006).

As the implementation of Equipment-as-a-Service (EaaS) requires deep changes within and across organizational boundaries of manufacturing companies, the question regarding how manufacturing companies can introduce and operate such models reveals to be of practical importance rather than only theoretical significance. However, existing studies that address this topic are scarce.

Drawing on the resource-based view (RBV) of firms, our study examines the required capabilities to introduce and operate EaaS. We develop a holistic capability-based maturity model to guide manufacturing companies in their endeavor to introduce and operate EaaS. To achieve this purpose, we follow the maturity development process of Becker et al. (2009) to answer the following overarching research questions:

RQ: What capabilities are required by manufacturers for the introduction and operation of the EaaS business model?

The remaining of this paper is structured as follows: first, we will present key literature. Secondly, we will outline the methodological approach adopted, including details regarding data collection. Third, we will introduce our proposed maturity model for EaaS. Lastly, we finish by further elaborating on the implication of our findings and present a brief conclusion.

#### 2 Theoretical Background

Shifting away from transactional and product-oriented approaches to outcome-based contracts (Ng et al. 2013; Visnjic et al. 2017) through EaaS and similar models, such as result-oriented product service systems (Gebauer et al. 2017), or pay-peruse models (Porter and Heppelmann 2015) have been discussed as feasible options for manufacturing companies for decades. Empirical evidence on the successful introduction of such models is, however, mixed at best (Porter and Heppelmann 2015). Whereas examples such as Xerox, Rolls Royce, GE, or Hitachi are often seen as "success stories", the majority of manufacturing companies have yet been unable to offer such models successfully.

In recent times, the most prominent topic within both practice and theory has been how technological possibilities to realize such advanced business models have dramatically increased due to digitalization (Rymaszewska et al. 2020).

The Internet of Things (IoT) is one of the main enablers of these advanced outcome-oriented servitization business models (Becker et al. 2009; Ng and Wakenshaw 2017). The IoT is a system of uniquely identifiable and connected products ('things') generating an internet-like structure that enables a real-time flow of sensing, operation, and location data (Tukker 2004).

Research within this domain has shown that IoT-enabled servitization strategies offer great economic opportunities, closer customer contact, increased sustainability, more stable revenue streams, and improved resource utilization (Kohtamaki et al. 2019; Ng et al. 2012; Reim et al. 2015). Additionally, shifting from product selling to customer problem-solving and outcome provision offers valuable opportunities for customers by mitigating risks and improving operating performance or asset effectiveness (Ng et al. 2012).

However, the shift in processes needed to actuate servitization towards delivering outcomes can be difficult at best, as it requires a significant organization-level change (Benedettini et al. 2015; Story et al. 2017), and many companies lack information to understand the risks associated with such offerings. Moreover, most companies are facing troubles to identify and design suitable EaaS business models and have difficulties in convincing people in the organization to enact such changes towards outcome delivery.

Also, a profound understanding of what and how to organize to achieve an EaaS business model is not always there. There are various further open questions on how value-creating activities are ultimately changing, and which capabilities are required for such changes. In particular, no work on the specific capabilities required for enacting EaaS has been found.

#### **3** Research Methodology

To fill the gaps that emerged from previous analyses, we adopted a three-step research process.

First, we carried out a systematic literature search of servitization-related capabilities using the Scopus database. The search was targeted at scholarly or peer-reviewed research papers. We applied a search combination of servitization ("Servitization"), product-service systems ("product (-) service system\*", "PSS"), advanced services ("advanced service\*"), integrated solutions ("integrated solution\*"), performance contracting ("performance contracting", "PBC"), Pay-per-Use ("Pay-per-Use", "PPU", Pay-per-X"), Equipment-as-a-Service, and other related keywords ("Equipment-as-a-Service", "KaaS", "Machine-as-a-Service", "MaaS",

"Product-as-a-Service", "PaaS", "as-a-Service", "XaaS", "as a Service"), and capabilities ("capability").

The search conducted between 2000 and 2020 yielded 134 usable articles with review criteria based on the relevance of the abstracts and keywords (first stage) and the content of each publication (second stage). The reviewing procedure included carefully reading, reviewing, and sorting the found articles. These articles were used to derive an initial list of capabilities. Given the employment of a single search engine, no duplicates were found nor excluded.

Secondly, we conducted semi-structured interviews of 90 min with executives from manufacturing companies that were either already experienced in EaaS offerings (12 interviews) or were significantly ahead in piloting these (2 interviews). To refine the model, we asked for their perception of necessitated capabilities for EaaS and validated with them our initial list of capabilities derived from the literature review. We used publicly available information to verify the information given concerning the companies and their offerings.

Third, after formulating the capability-maturity model, we interviewed 15 individuals, academics, and practitioners involved within the topic for their opinions to build support for the model. Each interview was of 60 min. Emails with a questionnaire to guide the open conversations were distributed in advance.

The majority of the responses acknowledged the importance of evaluating manufacturers' capabilities for introducing and operating EaaS and supported the overall structure of the model. Minor adjustments were made regarding the designation of the dimensions. Furthermore, we evaluated the comprehensiveness of the model and validated the results in a self-assessment with the interviewees from steps two and three.

#### 4 Proposed Capability Model

Our model consists of 27 capabilities organized against 8 dimensions (see Table 1) based on the identified requirements and key business activities derived from literature and interviews with field experts: (1) *Organization & Governance*, (2) *Value network*, (3) *Data & Analytics*, (4) *Research & Development*, (5) *Marketing & Sales*, (6) *Operations*, (7) *Risk management*, and (8) *Culture*.

For each dimension, the corresponding maturity can be measured on a 5-point scale (ranging from '0 = poorly developed' to '5 = strongly developed') that has been calculated from the average obtained by evaluating the items within each dimension.

To visualize the results, respondents could calculate the average scores for each construct and plot them on a radar chart for their company or business unit. Whenever respondents from the same organization completed the maturity assessment, they could either compare their respective charts or calculate total average scores for each construct to create a shared chart. The tool could therefore be used to compare different business units or companies.

Dimension	Capability	
Organization & governance	<ul><li>(1) Fast decision making, (2) Ability to allocate roles flexibly, (3) Efficient process (re-)design</li></ul>	
Value network	<ol> <li>Identification and analysis of relevant partners, (2) Organizational alignment with network, (3) Ability to co-design processes,</li> <li>Ability to evaluate intermediaries' performance</li> </ol>	
Research & Development	<ol> <li>Ability to design products for service, (2) Ability to design for disassembly, (3) Ability to design for recycling, (4) Ability to anticipate potential causes of product failure, (5) Ability to update/upgrade the product</li> </ol>	
Data & analytics	<ol> <li>Ability to convince the customer to share data, (2) Ability to translate data into value, (3) Ability to ensure data privacy and security</li> </ol>	
Marketing & sales	<ol> <li>Understand the customer's value drivers, (2) Ability to quantify the value provided by the offer, (3) Ability to communicate the individual benefits of the offer, (4) Performance evaluation, (5) Ability to quickly share information among the entire sales force, (6) Ability to design incentives aligned with customer's benefits from the offer, (7) Ability to establish trustworthy relationships with customers</li> </ol>	
Operations	(1) Ability to solve "digital" complaints and incidents, (2) Ability to quickly react to fast-changing situations	
Risk management	(1) Ability to quantify, control, and monitor risks	
Culture	(1) Ability to establish a continuous learning culture, (2) Internal communication	

Table 1 Identified dimensions and capabilities of the EaaS capability model

#### 4.1 Organization and Governance

Our data imply that moving towards Equipment-as-a-Service requires a fundamental change in the company's system of making and implementing decisions as well as in its organizational structure.

In particular, our interviewees frequently emphasized that they had to completely rethink their decision-making process and operating guidelines for being able to operate their EaaS model successfully. Overwhelmed by this transformation and the frequently occurring organizational resistance, sometimes, companies decided hence to set up entirely new organizational units.

In this context, the undertaking of *efficient process re-design* without significantly increasing costs was one of the most frequently mentioned capabilities in the interviews. Besides, more than ever, the use of cross-functional teams was highlighted as a proven practice to deal with complex and interdisciplinary problems when moving to this new business model. Also, the ability to *allocate roles flexibly* was therefore considered an essential prerequisite for offering EaaS. Finally, as many firms faced

great operational hurdles when introducing their EaaS model, *fast decision making* was revealed to be of great importance.

#### 4.2 Value Network

To develop and operate the EaaS model, often, a new level of cooperation and value co-creation with third parties beyond customers is required. Our data shows that manufacturing firms willing to adopt EaaS, therefore, need to develop more intimate relationships with their customers and partners within their respective ecosystems. Consequently, capabilities that relate to coordinating and integrating with these partners, i.e. for billing or financing, become of high value.

In many interviews, the vast number of potential partners who offer or develop solutions aiming to support manufacturing companies with their EaaS model was addressed. This frequently led to a certain complexity regarding the question of which partner possesses the best offering and who could be a reliable long-term partner for the company. Hence, manufacturers need to further develop capabilities that allow the *identification and analysis of relevant partners* for their EaaS model.

Moreover, once such partnerships were established, the experience with such intermediaries was not always satisfactory. Many of these partners, such as platform operators, were often unable to keep their promises or, as financing partners, turned out to be too expensive when scaling up the model. The ability to *evaluate intermediaries' performance* systematically and suitably was thus mentioned repeatedly.

Also, we found that the EaaS business model led to much closer cooperation with partners as well as a deepening of customer relationships. Consequently, manufacturers build up capabilities that facilitate *organizational alignment with the network*. For instance, the majority of interviewed manufacturers have somehow aligned their organizational structure to leverage the efficiencies within their value creation network. Striving for these efficiency gains, many interviewees noted that they had also re-designed their processes tailored to the needs of all partners. Consequently, many companies had to learn to *co-design processes* with all of the actors found within the EaaS ecosystem.

#### 4.3 Research and Development

The EaaS business model is something that cannot be implemented from one day to another. In contrast, manufacturing companies need to optimize their products and services in line with the model and consequently build up the associated capabilities.

For instance, our data indicates that companies have to improve their capabilities to *design products for service*. Namely, to operate the EaaS model efficiently, easy

accessibility of components for maintenance must be ensured or products equipped with sensors.

As at times, the cost of recycling is higher than that of purchasing the equipment, the ability to *design for recycling* at low cost is a factor that will become predominant as the provider takes over the ownership of its assets.

Furthermore, the ability to *design for disassembly* was addressed by some companies. For instance, if an EaaS contract expires, the machine must likewise be dismantled or sold on the aftermarket. Our interviews showed how manufacturers often had a lack of such skills or resources. Consequently, it seemed all the more crucial to enable the simplest possible dismantling system.

With products installed at the customer's facility and getting paid on output or outcome achieved with the equipment, another indispensable capability is the ability to *anticipate potential causes of product failure*. Manufacturers highlighted how they often were forced to further develop within their product innovation organizations as well as begin to apply techniques, such as Failure Mode and Effects Analysis (FMEA). This is because manufacturers needed to improve their products to avoid the downtime of equipment.

Besides these capabilities, our interviewees emphasized the importance of being able to take the customer with them in the development process and receive honest feedback. Often challenged by internal resistance, manufacturing companies should therefore go to customers during the EaaS drafting process.

Finally, many interviewees have pointed out the importance of understanding new trends and technologies that they were able to utilize for their offerings. Market intelligence hence often laid the foundation to develop EaaS models.

#### 4.4 Data and Analytics

To successfully operate and offer EaaS models, companies need to expand their current resource base with digital capabilities. Our data indicate that a necessity for this came not only from being able to operate or design better products but also from many manufacturers selling their EaaS model within their core value proposition of improving the customer's operational efficiency via the model.

This translates into having the equipment readily connected, and the data interpreted and turned into value for either the provider or the customer. Both the ability to *convince the customer to share data* and to *translate data into value* were detected.

As it is not trivial to get access to product status data, product usage data, customer process data, and other sources of data, manufacturers emphasized how customers needed to be sure that their data was well-protected. Hence, we found the ability to *ensure data privacy and security* to be another crucial capability within this dimension.

#### 4.5 Marketing and Sales

Designing, selling, and marketing the EaaS business model turned out to be a key challenge within manufacturing companies. Not least because the skills to identify and demonstrate the value of such a business model have not been heavily developed in typically transaction-driven equipment or service sales organizations of manufacturing companies. Additionally, the ability to design a revenue model that takes into account both the provider and customer perspective is challenging.

Manufacturing firms, therefore, need to be able to assess, and thus identify and then quantify, as well as communicate the total value of their EaaS offer. In detail, we found seven capabilities necessary for offering the EaaS business model in this dimension:

First, we found that EaaS providers need capabilities that allow them to develop an intimate understanding of their customers' needs, processes, requirements, earnings logic, and product use. We characterized this as the ability to "*understand the customer's value drivers*". This is mainly due to the different usage behavior of customers and their diverse value drivers, be it productivity, quality, or other factors as shown in our interviews. Manufacturing firms need to be able to connect their value propositions with their customer's needs when drafting their EaaS model. In this context, segmenting customers based on such vale drivers was a common practice observed in the interviewed companies.

Second, our data suggest that the ability to *quantify the value provided by the offer* is of significant importance. Moreover, manufacturing companies should be able to determine the lifecycle costs of the solution as well as to have an intimate understanding of their customer's earnings logic to quantify the total customer lifetime value provided with their EaaS model. Although essential to designing a profitable revenue model for their EaaS offer, usually, we found these capabilities to be not well developed inside the companies in our sample, particularly before moving towards offering EaaS.

Third, when offering the EaaS model to customers, manufacturers need to upgrade their current maturity by being able to *communicate the individual benefits of the offer*, such as compared to the next-best alternative. In particular, the ability to convince customers to decide on the EaaS model, and to agree on the contract duration, the price model, including how to share benefits, emerged as a significant barrier in scaling up this model. Regularly, sales teams of the interviewed manufacturers started to elaborate on the current baseline whenever showing the multiple benefits that the EaaS model offered to their customers. Our interviewees also mentioned that having access to insights about the competitor's offerings and strategies allowed them to better communicate their specific value proposition. Manufacturers should, therefore, develop a profound understanding of their competitor's offering to elaborate on the individual benefits of the EaaS model from a comparative standpoint.

Fourth, manufacturing companies need to develop capabilities that allow them to assess the related costs and contribution margin of their EaaS offer. Our data suggest that many manufacturers had found their initial revenue model to be insufficient, which often meant that the model could not be operated profitably. The ability to design or adjust the price model based on such an analysis is hence a crucial capability, which we named "*Performance evaluation*."

Fifth, as EaaS requires a reconfiguration of the sales approach, manufacturing companies need to develop capabilities that allow them to *quickly share information among the entire sales force*. Our data suggest that most manufacturing companies are quite diverse in the way they sell their products globally. To sell EaaS on a global scale, companies, therefore, need to train their entire sales force, for which information and documents are needed to be shared smoothly across the whole organization. Furthermore, as selling EaaS was typically considered to be of greater complexity, this capability allowed companies to share "best-practices" within their sales teams.

Sixth, companies need to improve their ability to *design incentives aligned with customer's benefits from the offer* with the EaaS model. Our interviewees often highlighted how they had to adjust their sales incentives to be successful within their EaaS. As EaaS is a completely new business model, salesforce had great benefits from selling EaaS at first. Coupled with the customer's success with the model, many sales roles were, however, re-defined from being one-time sellers to customer success related roles, ensuring that customers were satisfied with the offer.

Seventh and finally, our interviewees also highlighted the ability to *establish trustworthy relationships with customers* across the entire organization to convince customers to opt for the EaaS model. More than before, manufacturing companies should keep their promises and focus on facilitating professional customer account management.

#### 4.6 **Operations**

By taking on maintenance responsibilities from the customers, providers of EaaS models are more than ever required to deliver comprehensively high quality when it comes to service. Managing the value chain of their EaaS offering, therefore, becomes a key task for manufacturers.

Our data shows that manufacturing companies willing to introduce EaaS should be able to *solve "digital" complaints and incidents* with the same quality and speed as "hardware" related complaints and incidents. For instance, if remote monitoring functions were to go offline, manufacturers would need to be fast at fixing such an error.

Moreover, manufacturing companies need to develop the capability to *quickly react to fast-changing situations*. Our interviewees highlighted the difficulties to operate EaaS on a global scale. For which automated business processes, coordinated salesforce, and field service organization, as well as the use of digital field management software, and access to relevant customer data, were all mentioned as key success factors.

#### 4.7 Risk Management

In the past, manufacturing companies only had to take responsibility for the risks associated with the products they sold. However, with the EaaS business model, providing companies take over operational and economical risks from their customers, e.g. by offering a machine for leasing and guaranteeing its availability.

As this is a significant challenge, manufacturers need to build up new risk management capabilities to *quantify, control and monitor risks*. Our data show that these additional risks must first be assessed to determine whether they can be accepted, hedged, and how they need to be priced. For example, if a customer's ability to operate equipment is inadequate, higher operational risks can be a dealbreaker, as availability cannot be guaranteed for a reasonable price. Therefore, the ability to take over risks is based on the company's capability to assess the respective risks of customers in advance. To achieve this, manufacturers also need to utilize gathered information to offer customer-tailored contracts, typically conceived after defined criteria and processes.

# 4.8 Culture

The culture of a company describes its value system. For EaaS offerings, many cultural related aspects focus on the ability to offer EaaS successfully.

Our data shows, in particular, the need to establish a business innovationfriendly *continuous learning culture*, where different approaches can be tried out and failures can be made. The capability to build such an environment, driven by continuous improvement, a seamless feedback loop system and systematic knowledge management, has therefore been identified as a key to offering EaaS.

Furthermore, manufacturing firms need to develop or expand their capacity for *internal communication*. As EaaS is a new business model in which success cannot be guaranteed, best-practice sharing, as well as communicating openly about success and failure, ensures that the whole organization is "on-board", which was frequently considered as very important to be successful. To ensure this, many manufacturing firms made use of dedicated resources to perform internal marketing.

## 5 Conclusions

# 5.1 Implications for Theory

In this study, we investigated the capabilities required for manufacturing companies to successfully introduce and operate Equipment-as-Service (EaaS). In achieving this purpose, we identified these required capabilities, which align to 8 dimensions. In

particular, we highlight those capabilities that are unique and critical. In doing so, the study complements existing academic efforts and makes three leading contributions.

First, while previous studies identified servitization capabilities, this investigation specifically addressed the capabilities required to offer the EaaS business model.

Second, we considered capabilities from both the perspective of introducing and operating such a model. In doing so, this research extended the current knowledge base, as specific capabilities for introducing such a model were typically not well emphasized in existing work. Namely, capabilities that referred to the development and sale of such business models were not widely discussed in previous research.

Third, while this work is focusing on the capabilities required by manufacturing firms wanting to offer EaaS, the data suggests that complementary capabilities relating to intermediaries and customers should be built up for the implementation of EaaS models. In essence, our study highlights the ecosystem perspective of EaaS business models.

#### 5.2 Implications for Practice

Our research sheds more light on how companies can successfully provide EaaS offerings and master the necessary strategic and organizational adaptations needed. The study hence suggests several principal managerial implications for manufacturing companies that are considering to offer EaaS.

Most importantly, manufacturing companies need to invest in building up capabilities that mostly relate to the ability to transform and re-configure the resource-base of companies. By doing so, manufacturers need to balance their traditional business model with the EaaS business model.

Also, it revealed that manufacturers need to expand their current capabilities to succeed in communicating with the customer and selling the EaaS model. The latter is because EaaS models require a much thorough interaction with customers in identifying the EaaS value proposition and the value delivered to customers.

Finally, as most EaaS models are based on digital technologies, manufacturing companies are well-advised to expand their corresponding capabilities in this field.

# 5.3 Limitations and Further Research

As with all research, this study has some limitations. First of all, the development of the model is based on literature and only a limited number of interviews with executives from manufacturing companies and experts, which makes it conceptual. For that reason, further research could involve more interviewees, divided into academics and practitioners, aiming at improving the model consideration of different perspectives. Moreover, we also acknowledge how even though the maturity model has been carefully developed, based on literature and interviews, a testing and final evaluation of

the tool with cases has not yet been conducted. Besides, at this stage, some dimensions of the model are so far captured insufficiently and should be supplemented.

Nevertheless, the presented maturity model can serve as an essential part of future empirical and theoretical work. As we pursued the ambition to provide a fertile ground for future research, we suggest further research to explore the various dimensions of our model and their internal interdependencies empirically. On the one hand, this exploration could be carried out expediently in a qualitative research design setting where the potential challenges in the conceptualization of each dimension should be clarified along with their causality relation. On the other hand, we also invite quantitative studies of our framework to measure the above in a broader perspective, which could include examining the effects of different capabilities on the performance of companies.

### References

- Baines, T., Lightfoot, H., Benedettini, O., & Kay, J. (2009). The servitization of manufacturing: A review of literature and reflection on future challenges. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 20(5), 547–567.
- Baines, T., Lightfoot, H., Smart, P., & Fletcher. S. (2013). Servitization of manufacture: Exploring the deployment and skills of people critical to the delivery of advanced services. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 24(4), 637–646.
- Becker, J., Knackstedt, R., & Pöppelbuß, J. (2009). Developing maturity models for IT management: A procedure model and its application. *Business & Information Systems Engineering: Business & Information Systems Engineering*, 1(3), 213.
- Benedettini, O., Neely, A., & Swink, M. (2015). Why do servitized firms fail? A risk-based explanation. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 35, 946–979.
- Briscoe, G., Maull, R., Ng, I., Parry, G., & Smith, L. (2012). Transitioning from a goods-dominant to a service-dominant logic: Visualising the value proposition of Rolls-Royce. *Journal of Service Management*, 23, 416–439.
- Gebauer, H., Saul, C. J., Haldimann, M., & Gustafsson, A. (2017). Organizational capabilities for pay-per-use services in product-oriented companies. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 192, 157–168.
- Grubic, T., & Jennions, I. K. (2018). Do outcome-based contracts exist? The investigation of Powerby-the-hour and similar result-oriented cases. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 206, 209–219.
- Kindström, D. (2010). Towards a service-based business model—Key aspects for future competitive advantage. *European Management Journal*, 28(6), 479–490.
- Kohtamaki, M., Parida, V., Oghazi, P., Gebauer, H., & Baines, T. (2019). Digital servitization business models in ecosystems: A theory of the firm. *Journal of Business Research*, 104, 380–392.
- Ng, I. C. L., Ding, D. X., & Yip, N. (2013). Outcome-based contracts as new business model: The role of partnership and value-driven relational assets. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 42(5), 730–743.
- Ng, I. C. L., & Wakenshaw, S. Y. L. (2017). The Internet-of-Things: Review and research directions. *International Journal of Research in Marketing*, *34*(1), 3–21.
- Parida, V., Sjödin, D. R., Wincent, J., & Kohtamäki, M. (2014). Mastering the transition to productservice provision: Insights into business models, learning activities, and capabilities. *Research Technology Management*, 57(3), 44–52.

- Porter, M. E., & Heppelmann, J. E. (2015). How smart, connected products are transforming companies. *Harvard Business Review*, 93(10), 96–16.
- Raddats, C., Benedettini, O., & Burton, J. (2019). Servitization: A contemporary thematic review of four major research streams. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 83, 207–223.
- Reim, W., Parida, V., & Örtqvist, D. (2015). Product–Service Systems (PSS) business models and tactics—a systematic literature review. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 97,61–75.
- Reinartz, W., & Ulaga, W. (2008). How to sell services more profitably. *Harvard Business Review*, 86, 90–6, 129.
- Rymaszewska, A., Helo, P., & Gunasekaran, A. (2020). IoT powered servitization of manufacturing—An exploratory case study. *International Journal of Production Economics*.
- Story, V. M., Raddats, C., Burton, J., Zolkiewski, J., & Baines, T. (2017). Capabilities for advanced services: A multi-actor perspective. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 54–68.
- Tukker, A. (2004). Eight types of product–service system: eight ways to sustainability? Experiences from SusProNet. Business Strategy & the Environment (John Wiley & Sons, Inc), 13(4), 246–260.
- Ulaga, W., & Reinartz, W. J. (2011). Hybrid offerings: How manufacturing firms combine goods and services successfully. *journal of marketing*, 75(6), 5–23.
- VanDerMerwe, S., & Rada, J. F. (1988). Servitization of business: adding value by adding services. *European Management Journal*, 6(4), 314–324.
- Visnjic, I., Jovanovic, M., Neely, A., & Engwall, M. (2017). What brings the value to outcomebased contract providers? Value drivers in outcome business models. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 192, 169–181.
- Windahl, C., & Lakemond, N. (2006). Developing integrated solutions: The importance of relationships within the network. *Industrial Marketing Management*, *35*, 806–818.

# Procurement of Advanced Services Within the Domain of Servitization: Preliminary Results of a Systematic Literature Review



Oliver Stoll, Shaun West, and Lars Hennecke

**Abstract** The development of smart services for business to business applications enabled by digital technologies is on the rise. Services can become very complex in industrial applications; many actors are involved in their development, and value propositions often reflect complexity by addressing many beneficiaries. The challenge of pricing services is still prioritized in service-science because services are often intangible, therefore not as easy to price. With complex value systems emerging from advanced services, it is even harder to describe their value. When developing services, strong emphasis is put on understanding ecosystems and customer needs to create compelling value propositions. The key question for service sales is how much value the offering should capture? The pricing of services can be cumbersome and should be consistent with the value proposition: the promise to solve the customer's defined problems. To maximize value for the customer, the offering should not be under- or over-scoped with features of limited usefulness. Every actor in the buying process has a different view on value, and different situations create different amounts of value. For sales, this is where a careful analysis is essential. But how are the services for industrial applications bought, and how is the value of a service assessed by a customer? Are there any differences between the stated value proposition and the perceived value proposition? This paper aims to investigate models and concepts from literature on assessing the value of services from the buyer's perspective, comparing them to existing sales models.

Keywords Servitization · Advanced services · Service purchasing

O. Stoll  $(\boxtimes) \cdot S.$  West  $(\boxtimes)$ 

S. West e-mail: shaun.west@hslu.ch

L. Hennecke

Lucerne University of Applied, Sciences and Arts, 6048 Horw, Switzerland e-mail: oliver.stoll@hslu.ch

Ace Advisor Services Limited, Mid Levels Crossmoor Road Axbridge, Somerset BS26 2DY, UK e-mail: larshennecke@aceadvisorservices.com

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_7

#### **1** Introduction and Background

Servitization in manufacturing is a mature research field (Kowalkowski et al. 2017) which investigates how manufacturers move from selling products to selling "bundles" of products and services (Vandermerwe and Rada 1988). In some of these manufacturing firms these service offerings have become dominant, a shift described by Vandermerwe and Rada (1988) as the "servitization of business". Servitized manufacturing firms with up to 3,000 employees are more profitable than traditional firms (Neely 2008). The impact and the prospect of outperforming competitors through services (Neely 2008; Schmenner 2009; Vandermerwe and Rada 1988) can be a strong motivation for firms to participate in servitization. During the period 2000-2010, servitization led manufacturers to innovate and move from selling products to selling integrated product-service offerings that deliver value in use (Baines et al. 2009). The shift to value-added services and value in use business models (Baines and Lightfoot 2014; Gebauer et al. 2017; Kohtamaki et al. 2019; Raddats et al. 2015) has driven servitization to a more customer-centric approach compared to the tactic of gaining dominance over the customer through servitization (Schmenner 2009). Another emerging approach for assessing the value of services is service-dominant logic (SD logic) (Vargo and Lusch 2008). This concept has emerged more recently in the research field of servitization (Stoll et al. 2020a; S. West et al. 2018a). Putting smart services enabled by digital technologies into an SD logic perspective (value cocreation) may be considered a path to explain the value of smart services (Stoll et al. 2020b; West et al. 2018b). Smart services can be seen as an enabler for advanced service (Baines and Lightfoot 2014), because digital technologies enable firms to provide capability, availability or performance contracts (Kohtamaki et al. 2019).

In servitization, pricing (capturing value) is a recurring topic that presents many challenges (Kindstrom and Kowalkowski 2014; Raja et al. 2020; West et al. 2016). Within marketing literature, Anderson and Narus (1998) provided a useful framework to identify, create and deliver value in B2B environments. Within SD logic literature, Vargo and Lusch (2008) offer a framework to support value identification based around the "value in use" rather than the approach of "value in exchange" from a goods-dominant logic paradigm. There appears to be a limited amount of literature that links value capture with revenue models pragmatically, nor is there significant literature on the fair sharing of value between parties in a value co-creation and co-delivery situation. Some of the recent research proposes to assess the value of smart services (West et al. 2018a) through the lens of SD logic (Vargo and Lusch 2008) and an approach to value capture (West et al. 2018b).

Procurement in firms has been professionalized over the past 30 years, resulting in commoditization of the buying process, which in turn has cut costs in external purchases (Anderson and Katz 1998; Rehman Khan and Yu 2019). The use of alliance agreements in two different markets (Murthy et al. 2016) has shown that a move to different procurement approaches supports situations where collaborative value creation is occurring, still neither provide objective views on the appropriate level of the value share between the two firms.

A recently published paper describing the commercialization of smart services coming from a Digital Twin (Stoll et al. 2020) revealed that the customer's purchasing department was considered a barrier for selling the services. Moreover, Stoll et al. (2020) proposed to investigate further how customers buy services because the tools and mechanisms for buying products cannot be applied to purchasing services (van der Valk 2008). Therefore, this paper aims to investigate: "*how are smart services purchased according to existing theoretical frameworks within the research field of servitization*?" To answer the research question, a systematic literature review was conducted.

#### 2 Methodology

The methodology has been designed to answer the research question by investigating the literature of servitization. In this context, a semi-structured literature review (Snyder 2019) was performed to understand the state of knowledge about purchasing services in this particular research field. Figure 1 shows the procedure followed by the researchers. The search was conducted in the Web of Science (WoS) database and the servitization research area.

The data set was built by searching WoS with the following keywords: TS = (servitization AND purcha\*) OR TS = (servitization AND sourcing) OR TS = (Servitization AND "sourcing strategy") OR TS = (Servitization AND procurement) and refined by: WEB OF SCIENCE CATEGORIES: (management or engineering multidisciplinary or business or engineering industrial or engineering mechanical or engineering manufacturing or operations research management science or computer science software engineering or computer science information systems or economics or computer science artificial intelligence or computer science interdisciplinary applications). Data cleaning was done by reading the titles and abstracts. Analysis and validation of the results were conducted by each author individually. This allowed the authors to get unbiased results, and having the data analyzed by practitioners and academics enabled practical and theoretical implications to be derived from the study.



Fig. 1 Process followed by the researchers



Fig. 2 Results of the systematic review

## **3** Results

The data set for "servitization" consists of 913 papers published in journals and conferences. The keyword search (see Fig. 2) returned 71 matches. After refining according to the WoS categories 61 references were left. The initial screening process of reading the titles and abstracts lead to rejecting 50 papers as not being relevant and 1 where the full text was not available.

The final set of full texts were read by the three authors independently to assess the relevance of the papers' content to the research question. Table 1 shows the identified papers and the ratings from a consensus score, for the rating a 5 point Likert Scale was used where each author specified his agreement for the relevance of the paper ((1) Strongly disagree; (2) Disagree; (3) Neither agree nor disagree; (4) Agree; (5) Strongly agree).

#### 4 Discussion

Since the impact and the prospect of outperforming competitors through services (Neely 2008; Schmenner 2009; Vandermerwe and Rada 1988) is considered a strong motivation to participate in servitization, it has been surprising that within the servitization research community, minimal studies have been conducted investigating how firms buy advanced services. In the literature, van der Valk (2008) emphasizes that buying goods or services are substantially different processes. Further, that buying services may even be more complicated than buying goods and that the 'interactive character of advanced services has so far largely been neglected in published studies. van der Valk (2008), Liu (2014), Liu and Song (2014), Maiwald et al. (2014) and Tunisini and Sebastiani (2015) however, do highlight the importance of investigating servitization from the buyer's perspective. The authors consider that currently the work of (Liu 2014); Liu and Song (2014) can be considered the leading investigation of the buyer's perspective of servitization.

In this study, after the full reading by the authors, only four papers out of almost 1000 were found to be relevant to answering the research question. Three of the

Title of paper	Combined score	Reasoning for score
Towards an operations strategy for product-centric servitization (Baines et al. 2009)	1	Limited links to research question
Making a profit with R&D services - The critical role of relational capital (Kohtamaki et al. 2013)	2	The focus on R&D limits its transferability
Will User Involvement Always be the Case? The Effect of Service Procurement on Customer Perceived Value in Servitization (Liu 2014)	4	Provides insights from a buyer's point of view
Service Outsourcing and Procurement in Service Supply Chain: Perspective of Service Buyers (Liu & Song, 2014)	3	Provides a framework to describe the interactive nature of services and its implication for procurement
The dark side of providing Industrial Product-Service Systems - perceived risk as a key challenge from a customer-centric point of view (Maiwald et al. 2014)	3	Provides insights to procurement and purchasing behaviors
Innovative and networked business functions: customer-driven procurement (Tunisini and Sebastiani 2015)	4	Insights to the role procurement could play
Should everybody be in services? The effect of servitization on manufacturing firm performance (Crozet and Milet 2017)	1	Limited link to research question
Supply Chain Management Integration in Maintenance and Repair Services Sector (deSouza and Haddud 2017)	2	Limited link to research question
Territorial servitization: Exploring the virtuous circle connecting knowledge-intensive services and new manufacturing businesses (Lafuente et al. 2017)	1	Limited link to research question
Capturing and enhancing provider value in product-service systems throughout the lifecycle: A systematic approach (Matschewsky et al. 2020)	2	Limited link to research question

 Table 1 Results from the analysis of full papers

publications are conference proceedings, and one is a paper in a journal. The two publications from Liu were published in the proceeding of the 13th Wuhan International Conference on E-Business. The work of Liu has gained little to no attention since the citation count on WoS is zero. However, the authors consider Liu's work as relevant for this study because the author covers SD logic through the characterization of services and emphasizes the importance of the procurement role. To that, a critical view on co-creation (user involvement) is provided, examining the importance of collaboration and interaction needed from procurement (Tunisini and Sebastiani 2015) for buying services.

The third publication from Maiwald et al. (2014) was published in the proceedings of the 6th CIRP Conference on Industrial Product-Service Systems and has been cited five times, according to WoS. The work provides a different view on how customers perceive risks associated with purchasing product-service systems. This contribution has not been considered directly relevant to answering the research question, but the risk perception of such offerings may be a relevant aspect to consider when researching the purchasing of services. When viewed together it starts to highlight the research gap here, and the importance of linking procurement with the selling of advanced services.

The paper written by Tunisini and Sebastiani (2015) is the only relevant paper published in the Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing. It attempts to describe the role of procurement and how customers' procurement drives client value. Also, the growing integration of procurement and sales was discussed, and how the procurement process starts to interact with the clients business.

#### 4.1 Academic Implications Business

Based on this literature review, there is a research gap on how firms purchase advanced services in the field of servitization. Examining this topic could improve understanding of how to sell services in this context and add to the knowledge base on servitization and value.

#### 4.2 Practitioner Implications

Procurement plays a vital role in many organizations; in some, it has high strategic relevance. With increasing service offerings, the opportunities for firms are growing. However, services cannot be bought in the same way as products.

The procurement process for servitized offers will need to address the interactive nature of services. It may require a higher degree of collaboration of buyer and seller, come with an increased risk of supplier dependency, or require flexibility to address future needs. Therefore, buying services requires enhanced procurement strategies and capabilities to define, evaluate and drive operational collaboration between buyer and seller to maximize the advantage of a purchased service.

#### 5 Conclusion and Recommendations

This systematic literature review shows that within the research field of servitization, there are no explicit frameworks supporting the procurement of this type of advanced services. The vast majority of the work focuses on the development and sales of advanced services. However, evidence was found that procurement practices differ for services and products. Some aspects of these differences are presented in the papers found. The impact of these papers is meager, either indicating a lack of interest in the servitization research community, or that this study searched in the wrong community. This paper is limited by focusing on servitization literature and WoS as a database, or possibly the keywords used for the search may be incomplete.

#### References

- Anderson, J. C., & Narus, J. A. (1998). Business marketing: Understand what customers value. *Harvard Business Review*, 76, 53–67.
- Anderson, M. G., & Katz, P. B. (1998). Strategic sourcing. The International Journal of Logistics Management, 9(1), 1–13. https://doi.org/10.1108/09574099810805708.
- Baines, T., Lightfoot, H., Peppard, J., Johnson, M., Tiwari, A., Shehab, E., et al. (2009). Towards an operations strategy for product-centric servitization. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 29(5), 494–519. https://doi.org/10.1108/01443570910953603.
- Baines, T., & Lightfoot, H. W. (2014). Servitization of the manufacturing firm exploring the operations practices and technologies that deliver advanced services. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 34(1), 2–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/Ijopm-02-2012-0086.
- Crozet, M., & Milet, E. (2017). Should everybody be in services? The effect of servitization on manufacturing firm performance. *Journal of Economics & Management Strategy*, 26(4), 820–841. https://doi.org/10.1111/jems.12211.
- deSouza, A., & Haddud, A. (2017). Supply chain management integration in maintenance and repair services sector. *Operations and Supply Chain Management-an International Journal*, 10(4), 200–213. Retrieved from ≤GotoISI≥://WOS:000436752800002.
- Gebauer, H., Haldimann, M., & Saul, C. J. (2017). Competing in business-to-business sectors through pay-per-use services. *Journal of Service Management*, 28(5), 914–935. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/josm-07-2016-0202.
- Kindstrom, D., & Kowalkowski, C. (2014). Service innovation in product-centric firms: a multidimensional business model perspective. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 29(2), 96–111. https://doi.org/10.1108/jbim-08-2013-0165.
- Kohtamaki, M., Parida, V., Oghazi, P., Gebauer, H., & Baines, T. (2019). Digital servitization business models in ecosystems: A theory of the firm. *Journal of Business Research*, 104, 380–392. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.06.027.

- Kohtamaki, M., Partanen, J., & Moller, K. (2013). Making a profit with R&D services—The critical role of relational capital. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 42(1), 71–81. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.indmarman.2012.11.001.
- Kowalkowski, C., Gebauer, H., Kamp, B., & Parry, G. (2017). Servitization and deservitization: Overview, concepts, and definitions. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 60, 4–10. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2016.12.007.
- Lafuente, E., Vaillant, Y., & Vendrell-Herrero, F. (2017). Territorial servitization: Exploring the virtuous circle connecting knowledge-intensive services and new manufacturing businesses. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 192, 19–28. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijpe.2016. 12.006.
- Liu, L. Y. (2014). Will user involvement always be the case? The effect of service procurement on customer perceived value in servitization. *Thirteenth Wuhan International Conference on E-Business* (pp. 647–653). Alfred: Alfred Univ.
- Liu, L. Y., & Song, H. (2014). Service outsourcing and procurement in service supply chain: Perspective of service buyers. Alfred: Alfred Univ.
- Maiwald, K., Wieseke, J., & Everhartz, J. (2014). The dark side of providing Industrial Product-Service Systems - perceived risk as a key challenge from a customer-centric point of view. In Product Services Systems and Value Creation: Proceedings of the 6th Cirp Conference on Industrial Product-Service Systems (Vol. 16, pp. 241–246). Amsterdam: Elsevier Science Bv.
- Matschewsky, J., Lindahl, M., & Sakao, T. (2020). Capturing and enhancing provider value in product-service systems throughout the lifecycle: A systematic approach. *CIRP Journal* of Manufacturing Science and Technology, 29, 191–204. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cirpj.2018. 08.006.
- Murthy, C., Padhi, S. S., Gupta, N., & Kapil, K. (2016). An empirical investigation of the antecedents of value co-creation in B2B IT services outsourcing. *Business Process Management Journal*, 22(3), 484–506. https://doi.org/10.1108/bpmj-05-2015-0064.
- Neely, A. (2008). Exploring the financial consequences of the servitization of manufacturing. Operations Management Research, 1(2), 103–118. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12063-009-0015-5.
- Raddats, C., Burton, J., & Ashman, R. (2015). Resource configurations for services success in manufacturing companies. *Journal of Service Management*, 26(1), 97–116. https://doi.org/10. 1108/josm-12-2012-0278.
- Raja, J. Z., Frandsen, T., Kowalkowski, C., & Jarmatz, M. (2020). Learning to discover value: Valuebased pricing and selling capabilities for services and solutions. *Journal of Business Research*, 114, 142–159. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2020.03.026.
- Rehman Khan, S. A., & Yu, Z. (2019). *Procurement* (pp. 191–206). Springer International Publishing.
- Schmenner, R. W. (2009). Manufacturing, service, and their integration: Some history and theory. International Journal of Operations & Production Management, 29(5), 431–443. https://doi.org/ 10.1108/01443570910953577.
- Snyder, H. (2019). Literature review as a research methodology: An overview and guidelines. *Journal of Business Research*, 104, 333–339. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbusres.2019.07.039.
- Stoll, O., West, S., & Barbieri, C. (2020). Using service dominant logic to assess the value cocreation of smart services (pp. 283–290). Springer International Publishing.
- Stoll, O., West, S., Gaiardelli, P., Harrison, D., & Corcoran, F. J. (2020). The successful commercialization of a digital twin in an industrial product service system (pp. 275–282). Springer International Publishing.
- Stoll, O., West, S., Rapaccini, M., Barbieri, C., Bonfanti, A., & Gombac, A. (2020). Upgrading the Data2Action framework: Results deriving from its application in the printing industry. In *Exploring service science* (pp. 273–286). Springer International Publishing.
- Tunisini, A., & Sebastiani, R. (2015). Innovative and networked business functions: Customerdriven procurement. *Journal of Business & Industrial Marketing*, 30(3–4), 302–311. https://doi. org/10.1108/Jbim-06-2014-0118.

- van der Valk, W. (2008). Service procurement in manufacturing companies: Results of three embedded case studies. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 37(3), 301–315. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.indmarman.2007.07.007.
- Vandermerwe, S., & Rada, J. (1988). Servitization of business: Adding value by adding services. *European Management Journal*, 6(4), 314–324. https://doi.org/10.1016/0263-2373(88)90033-3.
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2008). Service-dominant logic: Continuing the evolution. *Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science*, 36(1), 1–10. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11747-007-0069-6.
- West, S., Gaiardelli, P., & Rapaccini, M. (2018a). Exploring technology-driven service innovation in manufacturing firms through the lens of Service Dominant logic. *Ifac Papersonline*, 51(11), 1317–1322. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol.2018.08.350.
- West, S., Kujawski, D., & Schmitt, P. (2016). Service pricing strategies for maintenance services. In Proceedings of the 23rd EurOMA Conference(June) (pp. 1–10).
- West, S., Rohner, D., Kujawski, D., & Rapaccini, M. (2018b). Value-scope-price: Design and pricing of advanced service offerings based on customer value. In M. Kohtamäki, T. Baines, R. Rabetino, & A. Z. Bigdeli (Eds.), *Practices and tools for servitization: Managing service* transition (pp. 141–167). Cham: Springer International Publishing.

# Value Capture with Smart Services

# A Customer-Centric Search for Triggers as a Basis for Marketing Automation Service Design



Frank Hannich, Tania Kaya, and Marcel Hüttermann

**Abstract** This B2C case is about Houzy, a startup and free landlord platform based in Zurich. We used the five trigger sources approach to identify relevant triggers and a gap analysis to create new service design ideas. Our study shows that the five trigger sources approach works well for small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) with limited data and resources. We found numerous triggers that generate behavior changes in customers, and we derived service design ideas from triggers not yet addressed by Houzy services.

**Keywords** Trigger-based marketing  $\cdot$  Customer centricity  $\cdot$  Marketing automation  $\cdot$  B2C  $\cdot$  Trigger sources  $\cdot$  Service design

# 1 Introduction—The Houzy Case

Houzy is a platform for home and apartment owners based in Zurich, Switzerland. Through Houzy, property owners can monitor renovation requirements, financial performance, and access many other services. This is free of charge and without obligation (MyHouzy 2020) and is achievable because Houzy has more than 450 partners and investors (Unsere Partner 2020).

Houzy consists of a 29-strong team and is continuously growing and developing new ideas (Das Houzy-Team 2020). As is typical for B2C platform business models, one of the first pressing challenges is generating a large user base, and Houzy has taken big steps towards achieving that. Their principal task now is to retain their clients and intensify service usage and interaction. Consequently, Houzy must offer services that their customers need, at the right time when the need exists—and in

F. Hannich (🖂) · T. Kaya · M. Hüttermann

Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Theaterstrasse 17, 8400 Winterthur, Switzerland e-mail: frank.hannich@zhaw.ch

T. Kaya e-mail: tania.kaya@zhaw.ch

M. Hüttermann e-mail: marcel.huettermann@zhaw.ch

85

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_8

a largely or fully automated way to be able to scale business. This importance of value in use and the need for perfect timing has led Houzy to consider trigger-based marketing.

# 2 Literature Review—Customer-Centricity in Marketing Automation Should Be Improved

Automation is one of the most discussed topics in marketing at present (Mero et al. 2020). While companies consider customer satisfaction to be their primary goal, marketing automation initiatives seldom take this sufficiently into consideration. A lack of customer-centricity in marketing automation is evident in definitions as in frameworks describing the process. Indeed, marketing automation has been described as "...the IT-supported execution of recurring marketing tasks with the goal of increasing the efficiency of marketing processes and the effectiveness of marketing decisions" (Little 2001). In more recent definitions, customercentricity is, at least, mentioned. Murphy (2018) describes a "company-centric automation of repetitive tasks to find efficiencies" (Murphy 2018), and Järvinen and Taiminen speak of the "customer-centric delivery of content to users based on specific rules" (2016). When marketing managers were consulted, a similar picture emerged. According to Adestra's Marketer vs. Machine industry report, "marketers are found most frequently to see benefits of automation in saving time (74%), increased customer engagement (68%), more timely communications (58%), and increased opportunities, including up-selling (58%)" (Adestra 2015).

A well-established framework for describing and analyzing marketing automation processes is offered by Heimbach et al. and depicted in Fig. 1. It describes the main elements of the process in a consistent way. However, the framework uses triggers to define known automated processes and omits any need to identify cases that generate added value for customers or cases where customers initially accept automation (Heimbach et al. 2015; Vargo and Lusch 2008). In terms of customer-centricity and apart from the mentioned element "control performance", the framework does not emphasize the need to generate new data and insights from customer responses, the implementation of feedback, or the learning cycles depicted by the back arrows in Fig. 1 (Effendi et al. 2016).

Therefore, our work is structured as follows:

- 1. A description of the general customer-centric trigger identification process.
- 2. The creation of a foundation for customer-centric automation at Houzy.
- 3. The identification of service gaps for the development of service-design concepts.

One concept that seeks to identify individual customer triggers and react to them in a customer-centric way is trigger-based marketing. Common reasons why companies rely on trigger-based marketing are (Hannich and Hüttermann 2020):



Fig. 1 Marketing automation process; Adapted from: Heimbach et al. (2015)

- to identify incidents and specific moments when marketing automation creates added value for customers,
- to create relevance and wow-effects for customers with personalization, to perfect timing and channel selection, and
- to improve marketing efficiency (compared to mass marketing) and offer better leveraging of existing customer value potential and data.

The concept of trigger-based marketing and an approach for identifying customer triggers are discussed in the following section.

# 2.1 Trigger Identification by Analyzing Customer Life Cycles

Trigger-based marketing is an essential tool for modern companies as it becomes increasingly important to reach the right customer with the right message at the right time. To achieve this requires a deeper understanding of those moments in time when customer needs alter. Trigger-based marketing follows a life-cycle approach based on recognizing that certain events in people's lives trigger changes in their needs and purchasing behavior (Dyche and O'Brien 2002).

Trigger-based marketing aims to capitalize on four dimensions (Hannich and Hüttermann 2020): (1) the customer, (2) the moment in time, (3) the channel, and (4) the message or content. Consequently, companies that are successful at reaching customers with personalized messages at exactly the right time can significantly improve key performance indicators such as perceived interaction quality or conversion rates. In many cases, but not always, this process is automated and employs an



Fig. 2 Trigger-based marketing process (Hannich and Hüttermann 2020)

omnichannel approach. (Belz 2016; Cebulsky and Günther 2015; Dyche and O'Brien 2002; SDV 2017). While the right moment is dependent on the individual, the principal triggers seldom are. From similar preferences concerning the right content, and the channel microsegments can be formed and used in automated processes. The process of trigger-based marketing can be summarized in three steps, as Fig. 2 shows below (Hannich and Hüttermann 2020).

In this paper, the focus is on the initial step, and to ensure that trigger-based marketing is successful, it is crucial to identify the relevant customer life events and the questions, needs, and issues related to them. The following section outlines a five trigger sources approach for identifying these events systematically and in a customer-centric way.

# 2.2 The Five Trigger Sources Approach

The five trigger sources approach can help identify triggers, but the question arises as to which triggers exist and which of these represent events that change customer needs (creating or eliminating them) and behavior.

Research into significant life events begins by looking at customer lives in terms of phase of life models, which are still prevalent in socio-demographic segmentation (Heinonen et al. 2010). Segments such as DINKs, families with small children, or retired people are all derived from this approach, and it is clear that they have differing needs in many respects. There are also obvious events that mark the transition from one phase to another, such as the birth of a child or retirement. Such an event is very relevant to Houzy. The decision to buy a house or apartment as a significant event in the life of many individuals, and often the single biggest investment, triggering a host of other needs and actions. This approach enables to search for additional life cycle models and systematically identify triggers relevant to customers.

The customer relationship life cycle represents a general explanatory model of an ideal time course of a customer relationship developed a similar way to the product life cycle (PLC) (Strauss 2011). When identifying the right triggers, it is necessary to understand the customer life cycle from the entry touchpoint up to the exit point (Lambe 2008). Customers are the core of any business, so a company can only succeed if it effectively manages customer relationships (Nguyen et al. 2007). The

customer relationship life cycle helps identify triggers such as a first purchase or complaint.

The PLC can be an important source of customer triggers, too, such as the expiry of contracts or guarantees that can prompt additional service needs or other requirements. Additional to the PLC changes of the macro environment can also be triggers that alter customer needs and behavior. A good way to identify these triggers from changes in companies' macro environment is going along the PESTEL model. The PESTEL model lists five fundamental areas, namely the political, economic, social, technical, ecological, and legal (Yüksel 2012). A bank, for example, can analyze which customers are affected by changes in interest rates and initiate meetings with these clients. In the Houzy case, changes in real-estate taxation rates are especially relevant to landlords.

A final source of triggers is the everyday transaction (Hannich and Hüttermann 2020). Triggers based on transactions or single process customer journeys are used frequently in e-commerce settings. In many cases, these are automated reactions to customer behavior, such as orders (and order confirmation) or completion of a transaction triggering feedback requests, or abandoned online shopping carts acting as triggers for retargeting. Another variation is threshold triggers, such as when customer loyalty programs offer special customer discounts or extra services when a milestone is reached. In the following section, the methodology and findings will be described in detail. Afterwards its implications for management are discussed and in the end this paper will be concluded by outlining its limitations and potential for future research.

#### 3 Methodology

The research into trigger-based marketing aims to describe a general, customercentric trigger identification process and create a foundation for customer-centric automation. Based on this, an effort was made to identify service gaps and derive service-design ideas for Houzy.

To understand customer triggers better, the authors worked in close cooperation with different companies. Between 2017 and 2020, more than 300 managers in continuing education or on Master's programs attended workshops based around their employers or other selected companies. A number of research projects with companies, including the Houzy study, utilized the five sources approach as a guideline for conducting customer interviews and for targeted data analysis. This approach has proven to be quite effective in helping companies identify customer triggers and become more customer-centric.

In this study, user data (mainly observational data from Google Analytics, search histories and behavioral data from Houzy apps based on Hotjar analytics) was analyzed to search systematically for customers' triggers. The subsequent interviews using the five trigger sources with Houzy employees, business partners, and—most importantly—customers then revealed additional triggers.

As an additional step, a gap analysis was conducted to compare the identified triggers with the existing services of Houzy. A gap analysis is generally used to identify missing information by using a conceptual, technical, and organizational base to provide a quick overview of the status (Jennings 2000). However, this methodology does not prescribe a design since it focuses on the basic information needed and identifies the elements of the existing set (Jennings 2000).

A workshop with Houzy employees and partners was conducted for the trigger gap analysis, where the five trigger source approach was introduced, and participants asked to identify any triggers. In the same week, the five sources approach was again used when holding in-depth interviews with Houzy customers, who were asked about triggers in their lives relating to their properties. Following the interviews and workshop, a list was made of all the triggers mentioned. To identify which triggers were already covered Houzy services were analyzed in a workshop setting using external and internal information with the help of their marketing managers. Through this gap analysis, it was possible to generate new service design ideas.

The design thinking approach for creating service design ideas provides a holistic and customer-centric solution to complex issues using a wide variety of methods based on an iterative innovation process (Eppler and Hoffmann 2012; Uebernickel et al. 2015). In doing so, innovation is driven by a thorough understanding of customer needs and wishes, including their likes and dislikes about the product itself and its manufacture, packaging, marketing, sales, and support (Brown 2008). The gap analysis used here can deliver these insights needed to start design thinking projects.

# 4 Results and Discussion

It starts by outlining the five trigger sources approach results, which are summarized in Fig. 3, after which the gap analysis findings are described. From the customer life cycle, it was managed to identify 25 triggers. Then every trigger (and the connected





needs) were compared with the existing services offered by Houzy to determine how many of the triggers found were already being addressed. Where triggers and services match, Houzy may find a way to increase interaction in one of two ways first, by making it as easy as possible for customers to find the right service when the need arises and, second, by implementing automated processes such as personalized emails or targeted pop-ups.

The life cycle of the customer: When buying and selling customers wish checklists of the most important issues, other triggers include marriage and divorce and Houzy may also require assistance concerning inheritance. Another issue is managing small properties, with customers wanting to manage all their portfolios through Houzy. The most significant gap identified was a proper record of repairs and renovations. Houzy customers like to know the tradesmen employed for a particular job even if it happened many years ago.

The life cycle of the customer relationship: Houzy customers require legal support and advice during both house construction and maintenance. They would also like to record insurance details and be reminded of other relevant issues. Another wish among Houzy customers is car parking and the ability to track vehicle depreciation over time.

The life cycle of the product/service (PLC): The PLC for Houzy customers comprises, garden maintenance and the existing online plant information and care service. Customers would like an improved version of the plant manager app and a timeline in their Houzy account, which draws their attention to house maintenance requirements. One missing service that was found: Houzy customers need a legal advice service (by phone or in-person) covering all aspects of property ownership.

**Environmental changes (PESTEL)**: Blog posts regarding new technologies, materials, and building standards were requested, as well as details of any changes in energy-saving regulations. Customers also wish to be informed about air conditioning systems for hot weather and about what is happening in their immediate neighborhoods, such as town planning changes.

**Transactions**: Houzy customers want a clear idea of how much certain building upgrades would cost. A room calculator could help here. For example, it could show Houzy customers how much a new bathroom would cost based on its size and proposed fittings. Another issue concerns information regarding e-mobility vehicle provision, which could be delivered in the form of a blog post or newsletter. Since Houzy customers like to have a general overview, a location summary detailing local amenities would also be very helpful.

Figure 4 depicts the gaps between the triggers identified and the triggers already covered by Houzy services. Once identified, this led to a number of ideas for new services, all beginning with a clear customer need.

The issue of e-mobility leads, in turn, to several other needs concerning the buildings themselves, such as solar cells or vehicle charging stations. By answering these questions and offering services based around e-mobility, Houzy has the opportunity to create added value for its customers.



Fig. 4 The trigger gap analysis process

# 5 Conclusion and Brief Recommendations

It was found that the five trigger sources approach worked well for Houzy and should for any small and medium enterprise (SME) with limited data and resources, since it serves as a quick and straightforward way to understand customer needs and the events that trigger them. In addition the approach offers a way to become more customer-centric. However, it works best when used as a guideline for customer interviews and customer data analysis. It is also useful because it identifies which triggers could be served by automated processes. Through the gap analysis, it is possible to create new service design ideas as shown in the Houzy case.

The identified limitations were that this explorative design needs to be tested further especially in other companies and industries. Additionally explorative data analytics methods could be used in cases where there is more data available. Further use of the approach might even reveal other principal trigger-sources that should be included. Despite this, the five trigger sources approach is a sound basis for identifying triggers, as the Houzy case and the numerous management workshops have demonstrated.

#### References

Adestra. (2015). Marketing vs. Machine-Marketers and the rise of technology. Adestra.

- Belz, C. (2016). Marketing Heatmap II-Marketing-Effizienz, Marketing-Organisation und-Prozesse, Cross Cahnnel und Kunden zum Kauf führen. *Marketing Review St. Gallen*, 33(2), 16–25.
- Brown, T. (2008). Design thinking. Harvard Business Review, 86(6), 84.
- Cebulsky, M., & Günther, J. (2015). Der digitale Versicherungskunde: anspruchsvoll, vernetzt und mobil. In *Marktplätze im Umbruch* (pp. 141–148). Springer Vieweg, Berlin, Heidelberg.
- Das Houzy-Team. (2020). Houzy. https://www.houzy.ch/team
- Dyche, J., & O'Brien, M. (2002). The CRM handbook: A business guide to customer relationship management. Addison-Wesley Professional.
- Effendi, A., Soetjipto, B. E., & Widiati, U. (2016). The implementation of cooperative learning model tsts and carousel feedback to enhance motivation and learning outcome for social studies. *Journal of Research & Method in Education (IOSR-JRME)*, 6(3), 131–136.
- Eppler, M. J., & Hoffmann, F. (2012). Design Thinking im Management. Zur Einführung in die Vielfalt einer Methode. Zeitschrift OrganisationsEntwicklung, 2, 4–7.
- Hannich, F. M., & Hüttermann, M. (2020). Trigger-based Marketing–Tiki-Taka im digitalen Kundenbeziehungsmanagement. In *CRM goes digital* (pp. 267–279). Wiesbaden: Springer Gabler.
- Heimbach, I., Kostyra, D. S., & Hinz, O. (2015). Marketing automation. Business & Information Systems Engineering, 57(2), 129–133.
- Heinonen, K., Strandvik, T., Mickelsson, K. J., Edvardsson, B., Sundström, E., & Andersson, P. (2010). A customer-dominant logic of service. *Journal of Service management*, 21(4), 531–548.
- Jennings, M. D. (2000). Gap analysis: Concepts, methods, and recent results. *Landscape Ecology*, 15(1), 5–20.
- Lambe, P. (2008). Knowledge-based CRM: A map. Extraído el, 14.
- Little, J. D. (2001). Marketing automation on the internet. In *5th Invitational Choice Symposium* (pp. 1–5).
- Mero, J., Tarkiainen, A., & Tobon, J. (2020). Effectual and causal reasoning in the adoption of marketing automation. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 86, 212–222.
- Murphy, D. (2018). Silver bullet or millstone? A review of success factors for implementation of marketing automation. *Cogent Business & Management*, 5(1), 1546416.
- MyHouzy Die digitale Plattform für Ihr Zuhause. (2020). Houzy. https://www.houzy.ch/.
- Nguyen, T. H., Sherif, J. S., & Newby, M. (2007). Strategies for successful CRM implementation. Information Management & Computer Security.
- Stauss, B. (2011). Der Kundenbeziehungs-Lebenszyklus. In *Grundlagen des CRM* (pp. 319–341). Gabler.
- Schweizer Dialogmarketing Verband [SDV]. (2017). *Dialogmarketing Report Schweiz 2017*. Frauenfeld, Switzerland: SDV.
- Uebernickel, F., Brenner, W., Pukall, B., Naef, T., & Schindlholzer, B. (2015). *Design Thinking: Das Handbuch*. Frankfurter Allgemeine Buch.
- Unsere Partner. (2020). Houzy. https://www.houzy.ch/unsere-partner
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2008). Service-dominant logic: Continuing the evolution. Journal of the Academy of Marketing Science, 36(1), 1–10.
- Yüksel, I. (2012). Developing a multi-criteria decision making model for PESTEL analysis. *International Journal of Business and Management*, 7(24), 52.

# The Role of AI Platforms for the Servitization of Manufacturing Companies



Cosimo Barbieri, Mario Rapaccini, Federico Adrodegari, Nicola Saccani, and Giulia Baccarin

**Abstract** The paper sheds light on the interplay between the adoption of digital platforms for Artificial Intelligence (AI) and the servitization of manufacturing companies. Through the analysis of three cases that have been deployed with a commercial AI platform to provide advanced services such as health monitoring and predictive maintenance to industrial equipment and infrastructures, we conjecture about how manufacturing companies could benefit from the adoption of this kind of platform in their servitization journey.

Keywords Servitization · AI · Digital platform

# 1 Introduction

The success stories of companies such as Uber or Airbnb are notable examples of the large diffusion of platform-based businesses, in which the value is created and captured by first enabling demand matching, and then facilitating transactions between customers and suppliers. These businesses are always characterized by the

C. Barbieri (🖂) · M. Rapaccini

e-mail: cosimo.barbieri@unifi.it

M. Rapaccini e-mail: mario.rapaccini@unifi.it

F. Adrodegari · N. Saccani Department of Mechanical and Industrial Engineering, University of Brescia, Via Branze 38, 25123 Brescia, Italy e-mail: federico.adrodegari@unibs.it

N. Saccani e-mail: nicola.saccani@unibs.it

Department of Industrial Engineering, University of Florence, Viale Morgagni 40, 50134 Florence, Italy

G. Baccarin MIPU—Predictive Hub, Via Enrico Fermi 5a, 25087 Salò, Italy e-mail: giulia.baccarin@mipu.eu

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_9

presence of an internet-based infrastructure (i.e. the digital multi-sided platform) that, as defined by the literature (Ardolino et al. 2020), enables the interactions among two or more different groups of users (i.e. the different sides of the platform,) through a virtual environment (i.e. an app, a website, etc.). Platform-enabled business does not only concern consumer sectors, where marketplace like Amazon and Alibaba have taken the lead over "brick and mortar" competitors, but also B2B settings in which other categories of industrial platforms are emerging. For instance, Internetof-Things (IoT) technologies and their applications are experiencing great diffusion thanks to solutions such as Thingworx by PTC or Mindsphere by Siemens. These platforms are used to connect equipment, collect, store, organize and analyze field data (on the Cloud), generate insights, and enable the provision of data-driven, proactive services. The spreading of the mentioned platforms in the form of Platform as a Service (PaaS) can facilitate to a large extent the servitization of manufacturing firms: using an industrial internet platform, the equipment manufacturer can focus on the provision of intermediate and advanced services such as condition monitoring, remote control, preventive maintenance, and customer support, rather than just selling their products and forgetting the needs of professional customers along the product lifecycle. The trend to develop advanced services through the use of digital technologies has been named "digital servitization" (Paschou et al. 2020). Despite its growing relevance, how digital servitization can be implemented in practice remains rather unexplored. In particular, little work has specifically focused on how companies can manage data and information gathered from the field, to develop advanced services. In addition to IoT and industrial internet platform, also Artificial Intelligence (AI) seems to fit naturally with the servitization strategy (Iansiti and Lakhani 2020) and have proven to be useful in this business setting (Paschou et al. 2018). Despite this popularity, it is claimed that most initiatives developing AI do either completely fail or not reach the expected goals: companies find hard "augmenting" the human skills with AI models since there is a paucity of professional competencies such as business analysts and data scientists (Xing et al. 2015). A great help could come from the advent of a new category of digital platforms, namely AI platforms, that are specifically designed to facilitate the development of AI applications (Porter and Heppelmann 2015). Big vendors such as SAS, IBM (Watson), and Microsoft (Azure) are claiming that their solutions can speed up to a great extent the servitization journey of a manufacturing company since it can use AI platforms to develop and deploy diagnostic models that can be trained (and retrained) on the huge amount of data that are so far collected by its installed base. AI platforms include also features that automate—to a large extent—the typical tasks requested in digital servitization, such as data collection, cleansing, normalization, ingestion, selection of the most appropriate algorithms, verification, training, validation, etc. These platforms are usually conceived to support the deployment of the AI models along their lifecycle and with features that help the construction and distribution to the equipment users (i.e. operators and maintenance crew) of dashboards. In this sense, these platforms can be of great help in increasing the diffusion of AI applications and the development of data-driven models and advanced services, in the servitization domain.

Based on the above considerations and since academic research on the role of the AI for servitization is in its infancy, it is of great interest to answer the following research question (RQ): how these platforms could support the servitization of manufacturing companies?

Starting from these gaps, through the investigation of AI applications that have been developed with AI platforms, this paper aims at shedding light on the potential contribution of these platforms to the servitization of manufacturing companies. In line with these premises, the rest of the paper is organized as follows: Sect. 2 presents a short background on AI platforms and servitization concepts, Sect. 3 illustrates the research strategy, Sect. 4 presents the selected cases, and Sect. 5 draws some considerations from the cross-case analysis. The paper ends with some concluding remarks in Sect. 5.

#### 2 Background

#### 2.1 AI Platforms

According to the well-known Magic Quadrant of Gartner corporation Den Hamer et al. 2020), an AI platform needs features supporting at least the following processes: a) collecting and preparing data; b) building models; c) deploying those models along the lifecycle (through dashboards). These features, according to the CRISP-DM method (Wirth and Hipp 2000), are characteristic of a data mining project, since they are means for the data understanding and preparation, modeling, evaluation, and deployment phases. Other premium features relate to the level of automation of the different coding tasks (e.g. simple/low efforts/one-click features, etc.), and the ease-of-use. The market leaders in this domain (e.g. SAS, RapidMiner, KNIME, etc.) have different AI algorithms for classification, regression, prediction, clustering, as well as functionalities for automating building and testing models.

#### 2.2 Servitization

The term servitization refers to the shift of manufacturers from selling products to offering product-service solutions, where more and more services are tightly coupled to the product to increase the value potential of this new offering (Baines et al. 2007). The interest in this topic is growing among academia, business, and government because it is thought that a move towards servitization is a mean to create additional value-adding capabilities for traditional manufacturers(Baines et al. 2009). It is considered a strategic alternative to product innovation (Carlborg et al. 2013) and standardization (Baines al. 2009), a way to meet increasingly more heterogeneous needs while exploiting scale economies from high-volume production (Hart 1995;

Baines and Lightfoot 2014). This transformation is having a deep impact on the business of the manufacturing sector. Nowadays, the application of digital technologies can further advance servitization, by enabling more and more sophistication of the service offerings (Carlborg et al. 2013) and the development of new service-oriented business models (Brax 2005). Notable cases have already shown this potential and the rationale for such a shift, and also smaller companies are increasingly interested in the adoption of digital platforms to collect and elaborate field data from their installed base, to include advanced services like predictive maintenance or pay-per-use models (Ardolino et al. 2018; Fu et al. 2018). This trend has been named "digital servitization", that is "the development of advanced services and/or the improvement of existing ones through the use of digital technologies by enabling new digital business models, finding ways of co-creating value, generating knowledge from data, and improving a firm's operational performance" (Paschou et al. 2020).

# **3** Research Strategy

We use case-based research (Yin 2015) since there is little knowledge on this topic, and this research is explorative and early-stage. In particular, we evaluate the impact of AI platforms application in the development of advanced services in different cases, manufacturing companies belonging to different sectors.

First, the selection of the AI platform based on the requirements previously explained, in relation to the -known Magic Quadrant of Gartner corporation (Den Hamer et al. 2020). We selected an AI platform that has been developed by a niche software company and that is currently used by a network of professionals, consultants, and data scientists. We had the opportunity to receive a demo of one AI/ML platform and to enter in touch with the platform provider that also showed a clear interest to be involved in this research.

Then, for the selection of the use cases, with a retrospective approach, semistructured interviews have been conducted—to provide deeper insights (Barriball and While 1994)—with the platform provider to investigate representative use-case, that have been selected based on the following criteria: (a) the application should have been developed with a clear business purpose (e.g. reducing costs of maintenance, predict performance/ degradation, reduce downtime, etc.); (b) its triggers should have been clearly identified (for instance, partly funded by public R&D frameworks, a change in regulations, a requirement of the customer's customer, etc.); (c) the process from its beginning to the deployment of (even preliminary) results (e.g. a dashboard to the end user) should have been completed; (d) the contexts should have been mostly related to industrial equipment and productive plants (B2B settings) to be maintained and supported along their life cycle; the OEM as well as the owner/operator of the equipment should have either been involved in, or have triggered or commissioned the project; (e) any cultural, organisational and technical challenges faced during the project should have been reported, in order to shed lights on how the corresponding
obstacles had been overcome, being these obstacles related to the different stages (data preparation, model building, etc.).

In the end, the results of the findings have been shared and discussed between the authors to highlights the most relevant patterns and draw conclusions.

#### **4** Cases Description

The cases have been selected based on the criteria stated in the previous section, among the customers that have developed advanced services thanks to the AI platform (i.e. Rebecca AI) of the platform provider. This platform has been designed to enable end-to-end management of AI solutions, from data collection (through databases or IoT) to machine learning model development, implementation, validation, and deployment in the production environment (see Table 1). It consists of three main modules ("apps"), namely (a) Builder, (b) Innest, and (c) Frame. (a) Rebecca Builder allows the user to build and train intelligence efficiently and seamlessly, without the need to code. This is composed of three further submodules, respectively "Dataset", "Flows" and "Model". In the "Dataset" workspace, data can be visualized and compared in predefined visualization tools that enable interactive data cleaning operations. Filters can be applied to the raw data to obtain the most suited dataset for model training and evaluation. In the "Flows" workspace, several machine learning algorithms can be implemented to solve supervised (regression and classification) and unsupervised (dimensionality reduction and clustering) tasks, by explicitly selecting their hyperparameters or by adopting a grid-search approach. In the "Model" workspace, the model performance can be evaluated on a test dataset through dedicated visualization tools and performance metrics such as the mean absolute squared error (MAPE) and the mean squared error (MSE) for regression, or precision and recall for classification. The best performing model can be published in the (b) Rebecca Innest module where it becomes available to be deployed in the production environment. Models published in Innest can be connected to the data streaming in real-time through Rebecca IoT, and the model prediction visualized in (c) Rebecca Frame module. Standard visualization can be enriched with tailored dashboards and data experience functionalities, and it is possible to set customized alerts based on the model output.

Rebecca modules	Rebecca sumodules	Corresponding phases of CRISP-DM method	
Builder	Dataset	ataset Data preparation	
	Flows	Modeling	
	Model	Evaluation	
Innest	-	Deployment	
Frame	-		

 Table 1
 Rebecca modules and sub-modules in relation to CRISP-DM method phases

Below we briefly present three cases where AI has been applied to support service operations (in particular for predictive maintenance) through the Rebecca platform earlier described.

#### 4.1 Case A

Case A is a public company responsible for the management, maintenance, and administration of the railway infrastructure in Italy. One of the main issues related to this task is to constantly monitor the railway health state and predict the likelihood of faults to implement predictive maintenance and improve safety. The solution, proto-typed in Rebecca Builder, made use of real-time data related to different parameters representing railway geometry and collected by an IoT acquisition system. By incorporating information about the warnings generated by operators trained in detecting anomalies, a fault prediction algorithm based on an artificial neural network and XGBoost (a Python module) was implemented and trained for each parameter, allowing to predict the generation of a warning 14 days in advance a possible fault. Through Rebecca Innest, the models were deployed for several lines, and Rebecca Frame was set to send a notification to the maintenance manager whenever the algorithm detects an anomaly in the railway.

#### 4.2 Case B

Case B is one of the leading companies in Europe in the supply, production, and sale of electric power and gas, in the energy and environmental services, and the exploration and production of hydrocarbons. B needed to implement a system to monitor the health status of several assets of an energy production plant (such as gas and steam turbines, heat recovery steam generators, auxiliaries, heat exchangers, condensers, and cooling towers) and to act proactively to reduce management costs, improve plant reliability and optimize the maintenance operations. A monitoring system installed on the plants was responsible for data collection. For each asset, Rebecca Builder was first used to perform data cleaning and then to implement a regression model to predict the output (such as output temperature in the example of the gas turbine modeling) through a feed-forward neural network algorithm. The grid search functionality was used to achieve the best model hyperparameter, and model validation was performed by looking at MAPE metric and control charts, such as the residual and the cumulative sum control charts (CUSUM). The implemented models achieved a precision of over 95% and an MPE < 2%. Through the data experience of Rebecca Frame, the output of the 41 models representing the whole plant could be monitored through dedicated alarms and control charts representing in real-time the difference between the real and predicted output for each asset, thus allowing the operator to spot anomalous system behavior due to possible faults or degradations.

## 4.3 Case C

Case C is a global leading company for low carbon emission power generation and distribution. C needed to implement predictive maintenance for a wind farm consisting of 18 wind turbines. Using Rebecca Builder, AI models have been built based on 5-years historical monitoring data and maintenance events. Data preprocessing on the dataset workspace showed that 40% of maintenance hours were spent to resolve four machine failure types, thus helping in identifying the most critical components (i.e. generator, slip-ring, and bearing). Model training was carried out with a feed-forward neural network with one hidden layer and the optimal number of neurons was selected through the grid search functionality, by setting the selection criteria based on the lowest MSE. The resulting performance control models were deployed in Rebecca Frame and used to describe the degradation of each component, thus anticipating failures. Control charts were visualized to plot the error between real output value and predict the output value for each component. As an example, the degradation of the slip-ring was characterized by an increasing trend of residuals, up to the time of replacement, thus demonstrating the capability of this model to detect anomalies.

#### 5 Discussion

The description of the three cases focused on the application of AI to the understanding of failure mechanisms and predictions to anticipate maintenance activities. The cases, therefore, allow discussing the purposeful adoption of AI platforms to develop advanced services. All the three companies analyzed provide, through their equipment, services to customers. Case A is in charge of maintaining the railway infrastructure, Case B and C produce energy that is then sold to the customer. The role of AI algorithms in the three cases can be viewed in the light of understanding the functions of the above-mentioned technologies: they provide internal (to the company) and external (to the customer) benefits in a servitization path. In particular, the case applications aim at increasing system availability and safety (from an external viewpoint) and improving service efficiency (from an internal viewpoint). These results are reached by monitoring the systems and component status, understanding and anticipating potential failure, this way improving maintenance planning capabilities on one hand, and reducing maintenance cost and increasing its effectiveness on the other. The case applications are primarily focused on the detection of anomalies and unwanted behaviors in the usage of the equipment, starting from usage data.

#### 6 Concluding Remarks

Among the digital technologies that are increasingly changing the competitive landscape, AI is becoming the new operational foundation of business, defining how the company drives the execution of tasks (Iansiti and Lakhani 2020). It is not surprising therefore that great interest has emerged both in the managerial and academic communities to explore how AI, coupled with more affordable digital technologies, can enable the ongoing strategic transformations in the manufacturing industries, such as servitization. By analyzing three application cases of AI in the domain of product health status assessment and predictive maintenance based on an AI platform, we have investigated the linkages between the adoption of AI digital platform and servitization, therefore advancing knowledge on this topic. In particular, we understand from the cases that companies through the adoption of AI platform achieve external or internal benefits (such as the increase in systems availability or improving service efficiency) through the purposeful exploitation of the functions related to AI platforms.

Moreover, by illustrating the application of an AI platform to three cases, this paper discusses the functions these platforms may have in enabling servitization and what motivates or obstacles their utilization in practice. We conclude that AI platforms can be a fundamental factor in this process since as described above, they enable functions (e.g. data collection, cleansing, normalization, ingestion, selection of the most appropriate algorithms, verification, training, validation, and visualization) by facilitating the manufacturing companies dealing with the top challenges of AI adoption (Goasdaff 2019), such as the need for highly skilled professionals.

Thus, this paper also has implications for managers since they can use the results illustrated to more consciously evaluate the adoption of AI platforms as an enabler of the servitization transformation in their particular context.

Anyway, the research comes with some limitations, mainly related to the fact that our results rely on the application of a specific AI platform, limiting the extent to which the results can be generalized. Future research should thus analyze how different AI platforms in different contexts can be used by companies to servitize their business. Also, more use-cases and a more structured analysis of the results should be considered in order to answer more comprehensively to the research question.

This research appears as one of the first attempts to address the practical implications of AI platforms in servitization, and we hope that this research will inspire other researchers to contribute within this field which we are convinced will significantly advantage both scholars and practitioners.

#### References

- Ardolino, M., Rapaccini, M., Saccani, N., Gaiardelli, P., Crespi, G., & Ruggeri, C. (2018). The role of digital technologies for the service transformation of industrial companies. *International Journal of Production Research*, 56(6), 2116–2132. https://doi.org/10.1080/00207543.2017.132 4224.
- Ardolino, M., Saccani, N., Adrodegari, F., & Perona, M. (2020). A business model framework to characterize digital multisided platforms. *Journal of Open Innovation: Technology, Market, and Complexity*, 6(1), 10. https://doi.org/10.3390/joitmc6010010.
- Baines, T. S., Lightfoot, H. W., Benedettini, O., & Kay, J. M. (2009). The servitization of manufacturing: A review of literature and reflection on future challenges. *Journal of Manufacturing Technology Management*, 20(5), 547–567. https://doi.org/10.1108/17410380910960984.
- Baines, T. S., & Lightfoot, H. W. (2014). Servitization of the manufacturing firm: Exploring the operations practices and technologies that deliver advanced services. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 34(1), 2–35. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJOPM-02-2012-0086.
- Baines, T. S., Lightfoot, H. W., Evans, S., Neely, A., Greenough, R., Peppard, J., et al. (2007). Stateof-the-art in product-service systems. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers*, *Part B, Journal of Engineering Manufacture*, 221(10), 1543–1552. https://doi.org/10.1243/095 44054JEM858.
- Barriball, K. L., & While, A. (1994). Collecting data using a semi-structured interview: a discussion paper. *Journal of Advanced Nursing-Institutional Subscription*, 19(2), 328–335. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1365-2648.1994.tb01088.x http://www.academia.edu/download/34291860/Barrib all \_\_\_While\_1994\_Collecting\_data\_using\_a\_semi-structured\_interview\_JAN.pdf
- Brax, S. (2005). A manufacturer becoming service provider–challenges and a paradox. *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 15(2), 142–155. https://doi.org/10.1108/096045205 10585334.
- Carlborg, P., Kindström, D., & Kowalkowski, C. (2013). A lean approach for service productivity improvements: synergy or oxymoron? *Managing Service Quality: An International Journal*, 23(4), 291–304. https://doi.org/10.1108/MSQ-04-2013-0052.
- Den Hamer, P., Krensky, P., Linden, A., Idoine C., Brethenoux E., Hare J., Sicular, S., & Choudhary F. (2020). *Critical capabilities for data science and machine learning platforms*. Gartner. https://www.gartner.com/doc/3981610
- Fu, W., Wang, Q., & Zhao, X. (2018). Platform-based service innovation and system design: A literature review. *Industrial Management and Data Systems*, 118(5), 946–974. https://doi.org/10. 1108/IMDS-03-2017-0129.
- Goasdaff, L. (2019). *3 Barriers to AI adoption*. Smarter with Gartner. https://www.gartner.com/sma rterwithgartner/3-barriers-to-ai-adoption/
- Hart, S. L. (1995). A natural-resource-based view of the firm. Academy of Management Review, 20(4), 986–1014. https://doi.org/10.2307/258963.
- Iansiti, M., & Lakhani, K. R. (2020). Competing in the age of AI: Strategy and leadership when algorithms and networks run the world. Harvard Business Press.
- Porter, M. E., & Heppelmann, J. E. (2015). How smart, connected products are transforming companies. *Harvard Business Review*, 93(10), 96–114.
- Paschou, T., Rapaccini, M., Adrodegari, F., & Saccani, N. (2018). Competences in digital servitization: A new framework. XXIII Summer School "Francesco Turco"—Industrial Systems Engineering [Conference presentation]. Palermo, Italy http://www.summerschool-aidi.it/cms/extra/ papers/811.pdf
- Paschou, T., Rapaccini, M., Adrodegari, F., & Saccani, N. (2020). Digital servitization in manufacturing: A systematic literature review and research agenda. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 89, 278–292. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.012.
- Wirth, R., & Hipp, J. (2000, April). CRISP-DM: Towards a standard process model for data mining. In Proceedings of the 4th International Conference on the Practical Applications of Knowledge

Discovery and Data Mining (pp. 29–39). London, UK: Springer. http://cs.unibo.it/~montesi/ CBD/Beatriz/10.1.1.198.5133.pdf.

Xing, E. P., Ho, Q., Dai, W., Kim, J. K., Wei, J., Lee, S., et al. (2015). Petuum: A new platform for distributed machine learning on big data. *IEEE Transactions on Big Data*, 1(2), 49–67.

Yin, R. K. (2015). Qualitative research from start to finish. Guilford publications.

# A Cognitive Approach to Manage the Complexity of Digital Twin Systems



Jinzhi Lu, Xiaochen Zheng, Lukas Schweiger, and Dimitris Kiritsis

Abstract During the entire lifecycle of system development, various digital twins could be developed to support different systems engineering activities, such as verification and validation. The increasing complexity of digital twins leads to a challenge to manage the consistency, changes and traceability across the entire lifecycle. In this paper, a semantics modeling approach is provided to formalize the digital twins using systems thinking. The semantic models represent the information of each digital twin and the interrelationships among them. Using the semantic models, system developers are enabled to promote the cognitive capabilities of digital twins, which in return will provide more potentials for decision-makings based on digital twins. Finally, the feasibility of the proposed approach is evaluated through a case study in the Swiss Innovation Project IMPURSE.

**Keywords** Digital twins · Complexity management · Semantics modeling · Cognitive twin

# 1 Introduction

Since the system complexity is increasing, different digital twins are provided by system developers in order to describe different architectural views of stakeholders and to verify their concerns (Tao et al. 2017). Such amount of digital twins bring new challenges to the system developers: (1) Requirements (why do we need to build them?); (2) Concepts and solutions (How to build them?); (3) Decision-makings (How to improve the cognitive capabilities of each digital twin in order to make them support decision-makings better); (4) Complexity management (How to manage their

J. Lu  $(\boxtimes) \cdot X$ . Zheng  $\cdot D$ . Kiritsis

Jinzhi Lu is a research scientist in ICT4SM group at EPFL.

ICT4SM Lab, Ecole Polytechnique Fédérale de Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland e-mail: jinzhi.lu@epfl.ch

L. Schweiger School of Engineering, ZHAW, Winterthur, Switzerland

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_10

complexity?). Previous research (Gharaei et al. 2020) has investigated the application of systems engineering approach in identifying the requirements of digital twins development. Various modeling techniques are available to support creating and modeling digital twin models, such as Modelica (Scaglioni and Ferretti 2018). These models are widely used to support decision-makings aiming to promote efficiency of system development. However, a large number of digital models make model users difficult to understand how they support system development when managing the complexity of digital twins.

In this paper, we focus on the complexity management of digital twins and expect to find a solution to promote the cognitive capabilities of digital twins in order to support decision-makings. First, during the entire lifecycle of system development, an approach is expected to identify all the entities of digital twins. Then, the complexity of digital twins requires to be formalized as the basic ontology concepts for its management. Finally, these ontology concepts can construct knowledge graph models for management activities during system development.

In order to manage the complexity of digital twins, a semantics modeling framework is proposed to empower the development of semantics models for digital twins based on systems thinking. Real systems and system lifecycle are considered to provide a scope for semantics modeling. Through systems thinking, digital twins and their interrelationships can be identified. Based on the concepts created by systems thinking, semantics models could be developed to describe the information of digital twins and their interrelationships. In order to evaluate the proposed approach, a case study from Swiss Innovation Project IMPURSE is provided to build the semantics models through systems thinking. Through the semantics models, the proposed approach identify the information for digital twins and their interrelationships and manage their complexity.

The rest of the paper is organized as follows. We discuss the related work and propose the research methodology in Sect. 2. In Sect. 3, the semantic modeling approach based on systems engineering is proposed. In Sect. 4, a case study from Swiss Innovation Project IMPULSE evaluates the availability of our approach. Finally, we offer our conclusions in Sect. 5.

#### 2 Related Work

Digital twins are considered as one of the key enabling technologies in the Industry 4.0 era. It is empowered by various existing technologies such as 3D modeling, system simulation, digital prototyping etc. (Boschert and Rosen 2016; El Saddik 2018). In recent years digital twins and its enabling technologies have been evolving explosively (Tao et al. 2017). With the wide application of digital twins in different domains, heterogeneous models and architectures of digital twins have been developed due to the lack of unified design and development platforms and tools (Qi et al. 2019). During the development of a complex system, various digital twin models might be involved which contain different specifications, protocols and standards. Semantics technology and systems engineering are considered as promising solutions to manage the complexity of heterogeneous systems (Cho et al. 2019). In a previous study (Lu et al. 2020), the concept of Cognitive Twins was proposed by integrating semantics technologies and systems engineering with traditional digital twin concept to manage heterogeneous models from different domains. Although the idea of cognitive twins is promising, many challenges need to be addressed to fully realize its vision. One of the challenges is the increasing complexity with more digital twin models involved.

Studies specifically focused on the complexity management of digital twin models are quite rare. However, in some relevant domains, such as manufacturing, complexity management has been attracting many research efforts. For example, the authors of (Efthymiou et al. 2012) identified and synthesized the research done in the manufacturing systems' complexity domain; and investigated the approaches based on a theoretical analytical framework that provide a quantitative analysis of manufacturing systems complexity. Efthymiou et al. (2014) studied the fluctuation of critical manufacturing performance indicators to assess the complexity of a manufacturing system. To mitigate the ever-increasing complexity of large-scale engineered systems, systems thinking (ST) has been utilized in many studies (Frank 2012; Greene and Papalambros 2016). Systems thinking supports to analyze how a system interacts with the other components of the larger system of which it is a part (Kenett et al. 2018). Kasser and Mackley (2008) proposed an approach to apply systems thinking and align it with systems engineering. They identified a set of perspectives and defined a systems thinking perspective set of views for a system. A case study was performed in their study to apply the set of perspectives to the Royal Air Force Battle of Britain Air Defence System which proved that the set of perspectives could facilitate the modeling the complex system.

Previous studies have verified the effectiveness of using semantics technologies and systems thinking to manage the complexity issues of complex systems. Therefore, in this paper, we propose a cognitive approach enabled by semantics modelling to manage the complexity of digital twin systems following the systems thinking methodology.

# 3 Systems Thinking Supports Cognitive Semantics Modeling

In this chapter, we first introduce the overview of the whole approach. Then we explain how systems thinking support semantics modeling in order to manage the complexity of digital twins.

# 3.1 Overview

As shown in Fig. 1, systems thinking is proposed as a core technique to support semantics modelings for complexity management of digital twins. Systems and system lifecycle are considered as two inputs of systems thinking in order to define scope for semantics modeling. Then semantics models are developed in order to identify digital twins' information and to describe the interrelationships between them.

- Real systems refers to the target products which the digital twins are developed for. The real systems provide data for digital twin development and digital twins provide information to the real systems.
- System lifecycle refers to the entire development processes of the real system. It provides the scope for digital twin development. Also, digital twins provide decision-makings for system lifecycle.



Fig. 1 Cognitive semantics modeling for complexity management

- **System thinking** refers to one approach to identify digital twin models in the scope developed based on real systems and system lifecycle.
- **Semantics models** refers to one virtual asset to describe information of digital twins and their interrelationships.
- Cognitive capabilities refers to the set of mental abilities or processes that are part of nearly every decision-making action while system developers are awake during decision gates. They has to do with how system developers understands the system or system development and decision-makings in it.

# 3.2 Systems Thinking and Semantics Modeling

Systems thinking is an approach for understanding a system nature by identifying the entities and their interactions within the system boundary (Haskins 2014). Obtaining inputs from real systems and system lifecycle, several steps are required to implement in order to construct systematic concepts related to digital twins and implement semantics modeling:

- 1. **Identify system scope for semantics modeling**: based on real system and system development, system boundary for digital twins are identified.
- 2. **Define use cases:** scenario awareness of each digital twin is implemented. Considering the real system as target system, during each work task in the system development process, architectural views (ISO/IEC 2007) of the real systems are identified. Then the scenario including such architectural views are captured.
- 3. **Identify Digital twins and their key information**: in each scenario, required digital twins are identified with their key information which is considered to be important to system developers.
- 4. **Identify interrelationships between digital twins**: in each scenario or across scenarios the interrelationships between digital twins are identified, such as *copy*, *reference*.
- 5. **Implement semantics modeling**: based on the digital twin concepts and their interrelationships identified from the previous step, semantics models can be developed.
- 6. **Evaluation of ontology logicality and completeness of semantics models**: to evaluate the semantics models, we verify them for completeness and logicality using SPARQL and SWRL query (Lu et al. 2020).
- 7. **Develop a tool prototype for complexity management of digital twins**: development of a tool prototypes based on proposed semantics models.
- 8. **Prototype evaluation**: after a thorough evaluation of the complexity management prototype, a new round of semantics modeling is started.

# 3.3 Semantics Modeling for Complexity Management

Based on the complexity definition in Goldstein (2001), we define the complexity of digital twins in system lifecycle as follow:

**Definition 1** It is a characteristic making digital twins difficult to support decisionmakings of system development, in particular, in terms of understanding all relevant interactions among digital twins, system lifecycle and real systems in the defined boundary.

The complexity includes two types (Weaver 1991; Shank 2013): (1) disorganized complexity, referring to a system with thousands of disconnected parts, operating in random, whose interactions are chaotic and unpredictable. (2) organized complexity, referring to a system wherein the interactions between the myriad parts are anything but accidental: these functions allow the overall entity to interact with other entities in a wholly intentional basis.

In this paper, we expect the complexity management of digital twins enables to transfer the entire digital twins in the system lifecycle from disorganised complexity to organized complexity in order to promote the cognitive capabilities of digital twins. Thus, we define several types of interrelationships between digital twins in order to describe the complexity more clear. These interrelationship types are defined based on previous research (Lu et al. 2018):

- **Reference**—refers to one interaction to track the versions of the related digital twins.
- Control—refers to one interaction that digital twin can control another.
- **Co-simulation**—refers to one interaction that real-time data exchange between digital twins and physical systems.
- **Model transform**—refers to one interaction that one digital twins is generated from another by model transformation.
- Trace-describes that traceability links of data between different digital twins.
- Copy—describes that one digital twin is copied from another.
- Refine—describes that one digital twin is refined by another.
- Verify—describes that one digital twin can verify another.
- Satisfy—describes that one digital twin can satisfy another.

Through these interrelationship definitions, digital twins can be organized as one whole system with organized complexity. Using developed knowledge management systems based on the semantics models, all the digital twins can be managed.

# 4 Case Study

In order to verify our proposed approach, we adopt a shiptec scenario to build ontology in order to manage the complexity of digital twins related to the Shiptec scenario. Shiptec is a shipyard located in Luzern, Switzerland. They design, develop and build



Fig. 2 Shiptech case study: a Shiptech ecosystem; b Shiptech models in anylogic; c Ontology definitions; d topologies between DT models

inland water vessels for professional applications. Moreover, Shiptec is an associated company of the navigation company of Lake Lucerne (SGV Holding AG). The shiptec expects to understand the system of systems perspective of their products and promote their product performances based on the their ecosystem (Meierhofer et al. 2020), as shown in Fig. 2a.

The digital twin models were developed to support Shiptec and their partners for decision-making for system design and the operations of the ships. They were built in AnyLogic (Borschev and Anylogic 2008) using agent-based and system-dynamic elements, as can be seen in Fig. 2b. In order to manage the complexity of digital twins in the Shiptec scenario, ontology entities are built which are shown in Fig. 2c, Finally, the knowledge graph model was built in Protégé (Stevens and Hancock 2004), which is shown in Fig. 2d.

#### 4.1 Digital Twin Models of Shiptec

Figure 2a describes the ecosystem of Shiptect (Meierhofer et al. 2020). It shows the interaction between the different stakeholders and their interrelationships. This ecosystem analysis was done to better understanding the complex system around Shiptecs business. By mapping the ecosystem of Shiptec, the system boundary for the

digital twin could be identified in accordance with the modeling process introduced in Sect. 4.2. The following actors of the ecosystem displayed in Fig. 2a, were defined out of scope for the use case: (1) Cleaning Company, (2) Weather, (3) Passenger, (4) Train, (5) Bus, (6) Cable Car, (7) Politics, and (8) Catering. The remaining stakeholders are beneficiaries or agents of the developed digital twin.

With this defined scope, the use case was identified, and the digital twin models were built to support the relevant stakeholders in the ecosystem. The digital twin should help the stakeholders by presenting them with multiple options to solve a question concerning operational processes and the possible consequences of their choices. The digital twin in the case of Shiptec consists of an operational and a performance model. The operational model simulates the ships driving on the lake according to their schedule is placed in a geographic information system (GIS) network. This part of the model is mainly built as an agent-based model. The operational model can function on its own. It can support service technicians and the dispatch managers by providing knowledge about specific scenarios, such as ship malfunctions. In addition to this purely operational model, a technical performance model was added. The aim of this model of the propulsion system of one ship was to support the crew, the service technicians, the dispatch manager, as well as the owner.

The whole model of Shiptec consists of 15 agents. The top-level agent is the main-agent. In it, all the following agents are placed and interact with each other. The main agent provides the GIS map network in which the ships, routes, and stations are placed. Inside this network, the ships moving according to routes from station to station are simulated. The ships, routes, and stations are modeled agent-based. There are various routes with different operating hours and destinations (stations) simulated in the model. Each route sizes multiple stations on its course as well as a ship. The vessels, on the other hand, have different parameters that are different depending on the type of the ship. Not all of the vessels, for example, have sufficient size for all routes on the lake of Lucerne. Therefore, in the case of a failure of one ship, it is not trivial to find a working solution for a replacement. In addition to this operational modeling of the ship operations on the lake, the ship agents include a performance model of the propulsion system and the heating, ventilation, and air conditioning (HVAC) system. Both of those models are built as system-dynamic models and simulate the performance of the ship. As can be seen in Fig. 2b the model of the propulsion system is described by nine agents. Those agents are system dynamic and simulate the performance of one particular part of the propulsion system. In combination, they are able to predict, for example, fuel usage during a trip. This helps the dispatch manager to plan more ecological as well as economic routs for the ships. It also helps to prepare the refueling process of the vessels on the lake. As each ship has a different propulsion system, this is different for all the ships in the fleet and, therefore, not trivial to find an optimal solution without the data from the digital twin.

#### 4.2 Ontology Definition for Complexity Management

In order to manage the complexity of digital twins in the Shiptec scenario, We define the ontology entities, including: (1) use case; (2) process; (3) stakeholder; (4) worktask; (5) digital twin model. As shown in Fig. 2c, use case refers to one scenario that digital twins are required. Process refers to the operational workflow in the use case which constructed by worktasks. Stakeholders refer to people and organizations who related to the use case. They developed digital twin models for the use case.

In Protégé, the OWL classes are developed based on the ontology entities. The object properties are developed to describe the interrelationships between entities. Moreover, interrelationships between digital twin models are also described based on Sect. 4.3. Through the OWL modeling, individuals of owl models representing all the digital models are built in order to describe the topology between digital twin models in Fig. 2b with object properties. Finally, the visualization of the individuals is demonstrated in Fig. 2d.

#### 4.3 Discussion

Through the case study, we found the interrelationships between digital twin models are described based on the developed ontology using the OWL model. Thus, in the use case, the complexity between digital twin models is changed from disorganized complexity to organized complexity, because the interrelationships between digital twin models, use cases, process, work tasks and stakeholders are described. Based on the knowledge graph model, consistency management, complexity management, traceability management, and knowledge management can be implemented for digital twin models with more promoted cognitive capabilities. From the case study, the proposed approach includes several contributions as follows:

- A system thinking approach is provided to develop semantics models for managing the complexity of digital twins.
- Through the system thinking approach, systems and system lifecycles are integrated in order to support consistency, traceability and change management of digital twins.
- This approach provides one solution to construct cognitive twins in order to support decision-makings of system development (Lu et al. 2020).

#### 5 Conclusion

This paper proposed one cognitive semantic modeling approach to support complexity management of digital twins. The semantics modeling approach can describe the information of each digital twin and their interrelationships. Through the semantics models, system developers can identify their required information with more powerful cognitive capabilities. From the IMPURSE case, we find the semantics models indeed capture the expected information from digital twin models and provide potentials for their complexity management. Future works focus on a tool prototype which will be used to manage the complexity of digital twins.

Acknowledgements The work presented in this paper is supported by the EU H2020 project (869951) FACTLOG-Energy-aware Factory Analytics for Process Industries and EU H2020 project (825030) QU4LITY Digital Reality in Zero Defect Manufacturing and the InnoSwiss IMPULSE project on Digital Twins.

#### References

- Borschev, & Anylogic. (2008). How to build a combined agent based/system dynamics model in any logic. In *System Dynamics Conference*.
- Boschert, S., & Rosen, R. (2016). Digital twin—the simulation aspect. In *Mechatronic futures* (pp. 59–74). Springer.
- Cho, S., May, G., & Kiritsis, D. (2019). A semantic-driven approach for industry 4.0. In 2019 15th International Conference on Distributed Computing in Sensor Systems (DCOSS) (pp. 347–354).
- Efthymiou, K., Pagoropoulos, A., Papakostas, N., Mourtzis, D., & Chryssolouris, G. (2012). Manufacturing systems complexity review: Challenges and outlook. *Proceedia CIRP*, *3*, 644–649.
- Efthymiou, K., Pagoropoulos, A., Papakostas, N., Mourtzis, D., & Chryssolouris, G. (2014). Manufacturing systems complexity: An assessment of manufacturing performance indicators unpredictability. *CIRP Journal of Manufacturing Science and Technology*, 7(4), 324–334.
- El Saddik, A. (2018). Digital twins: The convergence of multimedia technologies. *IEEE Multimedia*, 25(2), 87–92.
- Frank, M. (2012). Engineering systems thinking: Cognitive competencies of successful systems engineers. *Procedia Computer Science*, *8*, 273–278.
- Gharaei, A., Lu, J., Stoll, O., Zheng, X., West, S., & Kiritsis, D. (2020). Systems engineering approach to identify requirements for digital twins development. In B. Lalic, V. Majstorovic, U. Marjanovic, G. von Cieminski, & D. Romero (Eds.), Advances in production management systems the path to digital transformation and innovation of production management systems (pp. 82–90). Cham: Springer International Publishing.
- Goldstein, H. (2001, Nov). Emergence: The connected lives of ants, brains, cities, and software [Book Review]. *IEEE Spectrum*, 38(11), 66. Retrieved from https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/ document/963260/. https://doi.org/10.1109/MSPEC.2001.963260.
- Greene, M. T., & Papalambros, P. Y. (2016). A cognitive framework for engineering systems thinking. In 2016 Conference on Systems Engineering Research (pp. 1–7).
- Haskins, C. (2014, July). A journey through the systems landscape. SIGHT, 17(2), 63–64. Retrieved from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/inst.201417263a. https://doi.org/10.1002/inst.201417263a.
- ISO/IEC. (2007). Systems and software engineering: Recommended practice for architectural description of software-intensive systems (Vol. 2007). Technical Report.
- Kasser, J., & Mackley, T. (2008). Applying systems thinking and aligning it to systems engineering. In *Incose International Symposium* (Vol. 18, pp. 1389–1405).
- Kenett, R. S., Zonnenshain, A., & Swarz, R. S. (2018). Systems engineering, data analytics, and systems thinking: Moving ahead to new and more complex challenges. In *Incose International Symposium* (Vol. 28, pp. 1608–1625).

- Lu, J., Töorngren, M., Chen, D. J., & Wang, J. (2018). A tool integration language to formalize co-simulation tool-chains for cyber-physical system (CPS). Lecture Notes in Computer Science (Including Subseries Lecture Notes in Artificial Intelligence and Lecture Notes in Bioinformatics) (Vol. 10729, pp. 391–405). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-319-74781-1.
- Lu, J., Wang, G., & Torngren, M. (2020, Mar). Design ontology in a case study for cosimulation in a model-based systems engineering tool-chain. *IEEE Systems Journal*, 14(1), 1297–1308. Retrieved from https://ieeexplore.ieee.org/document/8734748/. https://doi.org/10.1109/JSYST. 2019.2911418.
- Lu, J., Zheng, X., Gharaei, A., Kalaboukas, K., & Kiritsis, D. (2020). Cognitive twins for supporting decision-makings of internet of things systems. In *Proceedings of 5th International Conference* on the Industry 4.0 Model for Advanced Manufacturing (pp. 105–115).
- Meierhofer, J., West, S., Rapaccini, M., & Barbieri, C. (2020). The digital twin as a service enabler: From the service ecosystem to the simulation model. In *International Conference on Exploring Services Science* (pp. 347–359).
- Qi, Q., Tao, F., Hu, T., Anwer, N., Liu, A., Wei, Y., et al. (2019). Enabling technologies and tools for digital twin. *Journal of Manufacturing Systems*.
- Scaglioni, B., & Ferretti, G. (2018). Towards digital twins through object oriented modelling: A machine tool case study. *IFAC-Papers OnLine*, 51(2), 613–618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ifacol. 2018.03.104.
- Shank, B. (2013). Disorganized and organized complexity. Retrieved from https://pov. mastersprogram.org/2013/10/14/disorganized-and-organized-complexity/.
- Stevens, R., & Hancock, J. M. (2004, Oct). Protégé. In Dictionary of bioinformatics and computational biology. Chichester, UK: Wiley. Retrieved from http://doi.wiley.com/10.1002/ 9780471650126.dob0577.pub2. https://doi.org/10.1002/9780471650126.dob0577.pub2.
- Tao, F., Zhang, M., Cheng, J., & Qi, Q. (2017). Digital twin workshop: A new paradigm for future workshop. *Computer Integrated Manufacturing Systems*, 23(1), 1–9.
- Weaver, W. (1991). Science and complexity. In *Facets of systems science* (pp. 449–456). Boston, MA: Springer US. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-1-4899-0718-9.

# **Digital Twin Based Decision Support Services in Business Operations**



Jürg Meierhofer, Lukas Schweiger, and Lukas Schreuder

**Abstract** With the advent of servitization and against the background of progressive digitalization, industrial value creation is increasingly shifting to service interactions at the customer interface. Companies are focusing less on selling goods and more on creating service values. The goods remain important as carriers of service values. The concepts of the Service-Dominant Logic (S-D Logic) prepare this shift in conceptual and theoretical foundations by providing a new perspective that puts the co-creation of values in service ecosystems at the core of the conceptual design. Service delivery is significantly supported by the increasing capabilities of digital and data-driven tools (Lusch and Nambisan, 2015). In business-to-business (B2B) environments, the benefits of services manifest themselves primarily in businessrelevant decision making. By using data, the consequences of decisions can be better predicted, reducing uncertainty for management and increasing the quality of decisions. This paper examines the modeling of decision support by digital twins in business processes with a consistent focus on service value creation for the human actors in the system. For this purpose, decision making is modelled as a multi-stage process that can be represented by different elements of digital twins. The conceptual study is accompanied by an implementation in a real company case study. This case shows how the elements of digital twins interact to create service value and what kind of data is required to create this value.

Keywords Smart services · Digital twin · Decision support

J. Meierhofer  $(\boxtimes) \cdot L$ . Schweiger

School of Engineering, ZHAW Zurich University of Applied Sciences, Zurich, Switzerland e-mail: juerg.meierhofer@zhaw.ch

L. Schweiger e-mail: lukas.schweiger@zhaw.ch

L. Schreuder Shiptec AG, Lucerne, Switzerland e-mail: l.schreuder@shiptec.ch

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_11

### 1 Introduction

In business-to-business (B2B) environments, services are applied to provide value to both external partners (i.e., customers) or internal users (i.e., employees) of a company. In these types of situations, the benefit of services is manifested primarily in the support of business-relevant decisions. Business decisions are very frequent in operational processes and are accompanied by the inherent uncertainty about their consequences. This poses major challenges for operational management and is a major pain, which represents significant potential for the application of systematically designed data-driven service ecosystems. Data-driven management means taking such decisions supported by data—for example, process data, data created by customer assets, or data from other actors in the ecosystem: by using data, consequences can be better predicted, which reduces management uncertainty and increases the quality of decisions. The Digital Twin as an adequate data-based representation of real objects represents a concept that has the potential to provide value for data-driven decision support.

The research underlying this paper aims at understanding, modeling and optimizing how value is created by Digital Twin-based decision support services in operational processes, in particular—but not exclusively—in manufacturing companies. For this goal, the process of decision taking and its support is described through the lens of service science and Service-Dominant Logic, thus enabling a business value-oriented perspective—characterizing decision taking processes in operational environments and modeling their impact on value creation on a combined quantitative and qualitative basis.

# 2 The Evolution of Servitization of Manufacturing Towards Data-Driven Industrial Services Based on the Digital Twin

The concept of servitization of manufacturing moves industrial value creation from the goods perspective to the service perspective, where value is created in the interaction between providers and beneficiaries (Kowalkowski and Ulaga 2017; Lightfoot et al. 2013; Vargo and Lusch 2008). In this transition from goods to services, the concept of so-called product services systems (PSS) has emerged (Oliva and Kallenberg 2003; Tukker and Tischner 2006) where products deploy their value via services.

With the emergence of digitalization and the internet of things (IoT), service value creation by data-driven services is a topic of increasing importance in industrial environments, leading to the concept of the industrial internet of things (IIoT) or Industry 4.0 (Thoben et al. 2017; Weimer et al. 2016). Data-driven services enable so-called advanced services, which are output-oriented services, where the customer gets a promised level of output for an agreed price. Data science (also referred to

as advanced analytics, machine learning, artificial intelligence etc.) represents an enabling factor for providing advanced services (Paschou et al. 2020).

The Digital Twin is defined as a virtual representation of a connected physical equipment that represents in real-time its static and dynamic characteristics (Romero et al. 2020). It has the potential to add value to many applications and, in particular, to industrial processes and thus attracts increasing interest of practitioners and scholars (Barbieri et al. 2019). There is a wide range of understandings and definitions of the Digital Twin and its applications (Tao et al. 2018). In the literature, the Digital Twin is mainly discussed as a technical tool that has diverse interpretations (Meierhofer and West 2019) which vary widely depending on the industry and implementation field (Tao et al. 2018).

The research streams of industrial services, data-driven services and Digital Twins converge in the field of decision support services. The Digital Twin can be considered as an implementation of data-driven services that enable the exploration of scenarios and alternatives and thus support decision taking in business environments (Kunath and Winkler 2018). Therefore, changing the perspective and conceptualizing the Digital Twin as an approach for value creation from a service perspective is a promising new research direction (Barbieri et al. 2019).

#### **3** Decision Through the Lens of Service-Dominant Logic

According to Service-Dominant Logic (S-D Logic), considering service as the fundamental purpose of economic exchange, value is created by actors integrating resources to create new so-called operant resources which create benefit for other actors (Vargo and Lusch 2008). The support for decision taking can be considered from this perspective as a way of creating benefit for the decision taker. The resources integrated are: (a) the expert knowledge of the human actors in the system, (b) the data created by the actors, in particular by the equipment, people and processes that are to be managed, (c) the analytics applied to this data, (d) the decision taking process based on the integration all these resources.

This process of integrating knowledge and data from their raw formats up to supporting decisions is based on (Holsapple 2008). The structure is comparable to the DIKW (data-information-knowledge-wisdom) scheme based on (Rowley 2007). According to (Holsapple 2008), the traditional conception of decision taking has to be differentiated from the knowledge-based conception, which—according to S-D Logic terms—integrates knowledge resources other than pure data from the systems.

# 4 Industrial Decision Support Systems Supported by Digital Twins

Decision Support Systems (DSS) are information systems that help users in their decision activities, which can extend to highly automated decision taking. The steps of the decision taking process are described in (De Almeida and Bohoris 1995; Dong and Srinivasan 2013; Holsapple 2008; Power 2004, 2008; Sala et al. 2019) and can be simplified to: 1. Describe the set of possible actions or alternatives. 2. Evaluate these actions. 3. Select the preferred action. This can be followed by additional steps for recording and analyzing the decision and using it for improving future decisions.

Step 2. of the simplified decision process points to the application of the Digital Twin, in particular Digital Twin-based simulation, which allows to explore the variants and evaluate their consequences. This is supported by (Sala et al. 2019), which states that simulation is a very common decision support instrument, in particular for decisions in maintenance and capacity planning in product-service-systems. Several industrial application cases of Digital Twins are described in the literature. (Kunath and Winkler 2018) elaborate how a Digital Twin of the physical manufacturing model is applied to scheduling, the calculation of delivery dates and dynamic pricing as well as the dynamic administration of supply processes. In (Zhou et al. 2016) the application of agent based simulation for service technicians or the service policy—e.g., the number of maintenance periods after which the equipment is replaced. (Huynh et al. 2010) discusses the application of Digital Twins of machines or equipment for decision support and (Xia et al. 2009) takes into account a Digital Twin of processes.

Operational decisions are taken in the interplay between the product (the equipment) and the operational processes. The Digital Twin of the equipment gets data (e.g., a health condition or a performance indicator) from the physical equipment, i.e., a machine. However, this is considered raw information for better understanding, but does not support the actor taking decisions. Based on the information from the Digital Twin of the equipment, the additional step with the Digital Twin of processes can support decision taking along the lifecycle as shown in Table 1 (Meierhofer et al. 2020; Meierhofer and West 2020):

In the MOL phase, for example, an actor managing an asset takes decision by trading off resource constraints, e.g., between maintenance – requiring available

Beginning of Life (BOL)	Middle of Elle (MOL	Elid of Life (EOL)
<ul> <li>Process design decisions</li> <li>Capacity design decisions</li> <li>Automation (vs. manual) design decisions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Capacity vs. demand decisions</li> <li>Quality decisions</li> <li>Maintenance decisions</li> <li>Skills development decisions</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Process redesign decisions</li> <li>Re-skilling workforce decisions</li> <li>Process design for recycling or refurbishment</li> </ul>

Table 1 Support services provided by the process twin across the lifecycle



Fig. 1 Enriching raw data to information and knowledge and integrating it with human knowledge to support decision making

maintenance resources, or replacement – requiring available spare equipment, or any point on the continuum between these two extremes.

In the industrial sector, this typically boils down to the concept of data-driven management in operational processes. Data-driven decision support is an essential part of this. Here, operational decisions are made on the basis of data: by using data (for example, internal process data or customer data), consequences can be better predicted, which reduces a management pain and increases the quality of decisions. This process, which turns raw data into good decisions, can be visualized by the so-called DIKW pyramid (Fig. 1): information is created from digital raw data by interpreting it in context. Knowledge, however, is only created through analysis. Combined with management knowledge, this results in the balanced assessment ("wisdom") required for the decision, on the basis of which digital (data-driven) products develop their business benefits in interaction with the users.

# 5 Case Study: Application for Decision Support in Ship Operations Processes

#### 5.1 Introduction to the Shipyard Case

Shiptec is a Swiss shipyard located in Lucerne which designs, develops and builds inland water vessels for professional applications. These include ships as public transport, tourist activities, ships for the transport of goods as well as government and rescue boats. Shiptec offers all related services, from strategic maintenance planning to short-term technical operations. Shiptec has extensive experience in the holistic analysis and design of energy and drive systems and is a leading engineering company to reduce the ecological footprint of fleets or to gradually achieve zero emissions. Shiptec is an associated company of the navigation company of Lake Lucerne (SGV Holding AG). The SVG Holding consists of the three members Tavolago AG (gastronomy), SGV AG (navigation company) and Shiptec AG mentioned above.

Passenger transportation on inland lakes and rivers was once the fastest means of transport before it was replaced by the cars, busses and trains. With today's need for mobility, the capacities of these transport routes reach their limits. Particularly in metropolitan areas and on main connecting routes, the roads are congested and the capacity limits of the trains are exhausted. The waterway becomes again more important as an addition to existing commuter routes. Because a vessel is a long-term investment of 30+ years, technical evolutions did not happen in the same pace as for private and public transport vehicles, which have evolved heavily over the last decades in terms of ecology, economy and comfort. With the arrival of new and cleaner hybrid and purely electric propulsion systems for inland vessels, it brought many sensors onto the water and made the vessels more digital. This makes it possible to monitor vital ship data in real-time to improve the ship availability, power and fuel consumption and passenger comfort.

The combination of the increasing demand for more and greener mobility on one hand and the availability of modern technology on the other hand creates new business cases previously not deemed profitable for a navigation company and opens new markets for a traditional shipyard. In particular, this situation lends itself to a systematic servitization approach as described in the introduction of this paper. For these reasons, Shiptec joined a research project on smart services based on Digital Twins with the aim of developing a Digital Twin which would support decision making in the existing ecosystem of Shiptec and its partners and co-created the case following hereinafter.

### 5.2 Ecosystem Mapping

The business system of the vessel transportation is analysed applying the serviceoriented concepts provided by the framework of the S-D Logic. To better understand the complex business landscape around Shiptec, according to (Meierhofer et al. 2020) an ecosystem analysis was done. The ecosystem map in Fig. 2 shows the main actors and their connections. In the case of Shiptec, multiple actors were identified. The inner core of this ecosystem and its actors is depicted in Fig. 2.

During the mapping of the ecosystem, different interactions between actors have been investigated. The actors which are colored in green are members of Shiptec. The blue ones are members of the SGV and the golden one from Tavolago. The black ones are external actors that influence the ecosystem. Out of this service ecosystem, several actors were selected to build new services around Digital Twins for them. For framing the procedure according to the concepts of the S-D Logic, practical methodologies of service design approaches were applied. According to (Vargo et al. 2018), service



Fig. 2 Ecosystem Map Shiptec

design (Stickdorn et al. 2018) can be considered an operationalization of SDL. In particular, the value proposition design tools (Osterwalder et al. 2014) provide a suitable means to research user insights about the beneficiaries by investigating their jobs, pains, and gains.

The primary beneficiaries are listed below with their jobs, pains, and gains. During the iterative model development, the range of potential beneficiaries was continuously extending. Therefore, there are multiple beneficiaries and not just the one with which the case was started.

#### 5.3 Primary Beneficiaries

Along the iterative process of modeling, the four actors described below turned out to be the most relevant beneficiaries of Digital Twin based services.

#### 5.3.1 Dispatch Manager (SGV)

The job of the dispatch manager is to make sure that the right amount of crew is at the right time on the right ship. In addition, he has to create the timetables for the ships and organizes the refueling and cleaning of the ship. His greatest pains are: unplanned breakdowns of ships, high level of fuel usage, paper-intensive communication processes, interfaces between different planning tools, and the integration of theme tours into the regular schedule. The gains of the dispatch manager are: a stable, planned schedule, appropriate capacity (size of ship) timely available given the demand (number of waiting passengers), thus resulting in reduced waiting times.

#### 5.3.2 MRO Manager (Shiptec)

The job of the MRO manager is to plan and organize the maintenance and repair, planned and unplanned, for the customers of Shiptec. His main pains are: missing spare parts and the long waiting time to get these, due to misleading information and missing data from the ships, as well as sending the wrong technician. Also missing appreciation internally as well as from external customers as well as when customers do not have a centralized channel to report failures and problems. His gain is the low failure rate and high availability of the ships. Knowing the ship's health status at any time and knowing in advance when parts are going to break.

#### 5.3.3 Service Engineer (Shiptec)

The job of the service engineer is to repair and maintain the ships at the customer's site. This includes going on board looking for the error and fixing it with little to no information where the error may be located. Prioritize the different error messages and act accordingly. Get in contact with the ship crew to decide if the ship can still be used or needs to be replaced. His greatest pains are: frequently not having the right tools to fix the ships because it was not clear where the problem occurred, too little time to fix the problem on the ship, need to visit the ship several times per error message due to the lack of information.

#### 5.3.4 Owner (SGV)

The job of the owner is to operate a fleet of ships in the most profitable and sustainable manner. His main pains are: ships not operating at full capacity, high fuel consumption, unplanned maintenance events. His gains are reliable planning of recourses and investments, reduction of operation costs such as fuel, spare parts, maintenance, and labor cost.

# 5.4 Model

The model is built to support these primary actors in the ecosystem of Shiptec to support decision making. As a modeling tool, AnyLogic was used, which enables building agent-based, discrete event, and system-dynamic models in the same environment (Fig. 3). The model was co-created with Shiptec in an iterative process. This was done to focus on the jobs, pains, and gains of the primary actors in the ecosystem

Digital Twin Based Decision Support Services ...



Fig. 3 Structure of final model

of Shiptec. The aim of the model is to support the different actors in the ecosystem with possible options of reactions in situations where complex decisions need to be taken.

# 5.5 First Iteration—Operations Model

In the first iteration, an agent-based operations model was built, i.e., a digital twin of processes according to Sect. 4. The model consists of four agents: Main, Ship, Station, and Route. The "Main" agent is the route environment where all the other agents are placed in and interact with each other. The primary beneficiaries of this model are the Dispatch Manager, the MRO Manager, and the Service Engineer. With the model, different operations states and their implications on the current situation can be simulated. This helps the dispatch manager to take capacity decisions during the operation of the ships on the Lake of Lucerne. For example, the dispatch manager and the MRO manager are able to use the model to calculate the optimal replacement constellation in the event of ship failure. This calculation takes the different routes and ships that are in use on the Lake into consideration. Such calculations can be done in near-real-time or at the end of a day for the upcoming days if a ship needs to go into maintenance. The resulting simulation model is shown in Fig. 4.



Fig. 4 Print Screen from simulation of the operations model

# 5.6 Second Iteration—Integration of HVAC

During the first iteration of building the model, it became evident that by adding a simulation of the Heating, Ventilation, and Air Conditioning (HVAC) of the ship the simulation could also support the crew by providing them with information about the development of the indoor climate on the ship. Therefore, the HVAC system of one ship was added to test the approach and to test if it creates value. This represents a digital twin of an equipment according to Sect. 4.. This was done using a system dynamics approach. This addition to the model should benefit the crew as it would be able to simulate the influence of the HVAC system onto the climate on board. Often, they have to decide if it is economical to use the HVAC system between two stations. With this addition to the digital twin, this pain could be resolved, and indirectly relieves pains of the primary beneficiary "owner".

# 5.7 Third Iteration—Propulsion Model

Based on the learnings from the previous two iteration steps and considering the needs of service engineer (and additionally the crew and the engineering department) to better understand the behavior of the ship's behaviour, a further addition to the digital twin was made, which is able to simulate the propulsion system of one of the ships of the SGV, which is an additional digital twin of an equipment according to Sect. 4.. It is a pure system dynamics model that should help, on the one hand, the engineering department and, on the other hand, the crew (Fig. 5). The engineering



Fig. 5 Propulsion model system dynamics

team can simulate the ship's propulsion and energy system in different conditions and different operating models. The crew gets a support model to decide in advance with which speeds they should drive the ship on the next trip to be as efficient as possible.

# 5.8 Fourth Iteration—Combination of Operations and Propulsion

The fourth iteration integrated the propulsion model into the operations model from iteration one. This inclusion benefits mainly two actors in the ecosystem. Starting from the Dispatch Manager with helping him to plan more ecological and economical routes for his ships. Another beneficiary is the owner as he will be able to develop new routes and business models that were not feasible before due to the lack of information.

# 6 Limitations and Future Research

This paper describes the theoretical concept of applying Digital Twins for decision support services in business operations. It is based on the decision chain consisting of the Digital Twin of the equipment and the Digital Twin of processes described in (Meierhofer and West 2020) and applied here in the case study of the shipyard business, in which value is provided to specific actors by decision support services. The

concept of the Digital Twin of the equipment and of processes could be successfully applied in this case study. However, this research did not yet systematically elaborate which type of business questions lend themselves for which specific concept of Digital Twin models.

Future research will provide a conceptual methodology for describing how service value creation for business operations is impacted by decision processes and how this concept can be taken to the next level by data-driven services. It will base this approach on the concept of the Digital Twin as a technical resource for informing these decision processes in complex and unpredictable environments.

This will enable to close the significant gap in the understanding, conceptualization, and design of value creation for business operations through data-driven service ecosystems, which is of strategic importance for research, business and society, as well as education.

#### References

- Barbieri, C., West, S., Rapaccini, M., & Meierhofer, J. (2019). Are practitioners and literature aligned about digital twin. In 26th EurOMA Conference Operations Adding Value to Society. Conference Paper.
- De Almeida, A. T., & Bohoris, G. A. (1995). Decision theory in maintenance decision making. *Journal of Quality in Maintenance Engineering.*
- Dong, C.-S. J., & Srinivasan, A. (2013). Agent-enabled service-oriented decision support systems. Decision Support Systems, 55(1), 364–373.
- Holsapple, C. W. (2008). Decisions and knowledge. In F. Burstein & C. W. Holsapple (Hrsg.), Handbook on Decision Support Systems 1: Basic Themes (S. 21–53). Springer. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/978-3-540-48713-5\_2.
- Huynh, T. K., Barros, A., Bérenguer, C., & Castro, I. T. (2010). Value of condition monitoring information for maintenance decision-making. *Proceedings-Annual Reliability and Maintainability Symposium (RAMS)*, 2010, 1–6.
- Kowalkowski, C., & Ulaga, W. (2017). Service strategy in action: A practical guide for growing your B2B service and solution business. Service Strategy Press.
- Kunath, M., & Winkler, H. (2018). Integrating the Digital Twin of the manufacturing system into a decision support system for improving the order management process. *Procedia CIRP*, 72, 225–231.
- Lightfoot, H., Baines, T., & Smart, P. (2013). The servitization of manufacturing: A systematic literature review of interdependent trends. *International Journal of Operations & Production Management*, 33(11–12), 1408–1434.
- Lusch, R. F., & Nambisan, S. (2015). Service innovation: A service-dominant logic perspective. MIS Quarterly, 39(1), 155–176. https://doi.org/10.25300/MISQ/2015/39.1.07
- Meierhofer, J., & West, S. (2019). Service value creation using a digital twin. 11.
- Meierhofer, J., & West, S. (2020). Data-driven decision support by digital twins in manufacturing. In 2020 7th Swiss Conference on Data Science (SDS) (pp. 53–54). https://doi.org/10.1109/SDS 49233.2020.00019.
- Meierhofer, J., West, S., Rapaccini, M., & Barbieri, C. (2020). The digital twin as a service enabler: From the service ecosystem to the simulation model. In H. Nóvoa, M. Drăgoicea, & N. Kühl (Hrsg.), *Exploring service science* (S. 347–359). Springer International Publishing. https://doi. org/10.1007/978-3-030-38724-2\_25

- Oliva, R., & Kallenberg, R. (2003). Managing the transition from products to services. *International Journal of Service Industry Management*.
- Osterwalder, A., Pigneur, Y., Bernarda, G., & Smith, A. (2014). Value proposition design: How to create products and services customers want. Wiley.
- Paschou, T., Rapaccini, M., Adrodegari, F., & Saccani, N. (2020). Digital servitization in manufacturing: A systematic literature review and research agenda. *Industrial Marketing Management*. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.indmarman.2020.02.012.
- Power, D. J. (2004). Specifying an expanded framework for classifying and describing decision support systems. *Communications of the Association for Information Systems*, 13(1), 13.
- Power, D. J. (2008). Decision support systems: A historical overview. In Handbook on decision support systems 1 (S. 121–140). Springer.
- Romero, D., Wuest, T., Harik, R., & Thoben, K.-D. (2020, July 12). *Towards a cyber-physical PLM environment: The role of digital product models, intelligent products, digital twins, product avatars and digital shadows.*
- Rowley, J. (2007). The wisdom hierarchy: Representations of the DIKW hierarchy. *Journal of Information Science*, 33(2), 163–180. https://doi.org/10.1177/0165551506070706.
- Sala, R., Pezzotta, G., Pirola, F., & Huang, G. Q. (2019). Decision-support system-based service delivery in the product-service system context: Literature review and gap analysis. In 11th CIRP Conference on Industrial Product-Service Systems (Vol. 83, pp. 126–131).
- Stickdorn, M., Hormess, M. E., Lawrence, A., & Schneider, J. (2018). *This is service design doing: Applying service design thinking in the real world*. O'Reilly Media, Inc.
- Tao, F., Qi, Q., Liu, A., & Kusiak, A. (2018). Data-driven smart manufacturing. Journal of Manufacturing Systems, 48, 157–169. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jmsy.2018.01.006.
- Thoben, K.-D., Wiesner, S., & Wuest, T. (2017). "Industrie 4.0" and Smart Manufacturing— A review of research issues and application examples. *International Journal of Automation Technology*, *11*(1), 4–16. https://doi.org/10.20965/ijat.2017.p0004
- Tukker, A., & Tischner, U. (2006). Product-services as a research field: Past, present and future. Reflections from a decade of research. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 14(17), 1552–1556. https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2006.01.022
- Vargo, S. L., & Lusch, R. F. (2008). From goods to service (s): Divergences and convergences of logics. *Industrial Marketing Management*, 37(3), 254–259.
- Vargo, S. L., Lusch, R. F., & Koskela-Huotari, K. (2018). *The SAGE handbook of service-dominant logic*. SAGE.
- Weimer, D., Irgens, C., & Thoben, K.-D. (2016). Machine learning in manufacturing: Advantages, challenges, and applications AU - Wuest. *Thorsten. Production & Manufacturing Research*, 4(1), 23–45. https://doi.org/10.1080/21693277.2016.1192517.
- Xia, L., Zhao, M., Rong, L., & Pang, R. (2009). Research on equipment maintenance decision system based on health management. In 2009 8th International Conference on Reliability, Maintainability and Safety, 653–657.
- Zhou, R., Hu, Y., Xiao, S., & Wen, J. (2016). A multi-agent based decision–making approach for field service delivery of IPS2. *Proceedia Cirp*, *47*, 228–233.

# Business-Centred, Data-Centred, or User-Centred? A Perspective on the Role of Designerly Approaches to User Centricity in Big Data Innovation



#### **Thomas Abrell**

**Abstract** Digital innovation is of growing importance for manufacturing companies, potentially disrupting entire industries. Particularly the use of big data offers new grounds for innovation in product-service-systems. However, digital innovation poses challenges to incumbent companies on how innovations are created. With an abundance of technological possibilities, potential business challenges, and novel use cases, companies struggle to find the right approach to digital innovation. This conceptual paper builds on a study of big data innovation that proposes to either start with a data or business perspective in the ideation phase (Vanauer et al. 2015) and reflects these approaches with a user innovation perspective, suggesting that the changing role of users and customers in digital innovation may allow for a third, user-centred approach. While a data-centred approach starts with key resources, a business-centred approach starts with organisational goals that need to be fulfilled (Vanauer et al. 2015). Although both approaches may be suitable to lead to innovation, a user-centred approach may help to build big data innovation based on current and future user needs. While some studies criticized that a focus on users may lead to incremental innovation, this may be due to how users are involved. This study explores how designerly approaches such as service design and design thinking may be utilized for innovation of product-service-systems in the context of big data innovation. Based on these concepts, I formulate four propositions for future empirical and theoretical consideration.

Keywords User innovation · Big data · Designerly approaches

# 1 Introduction

Digital innovation is changing the manufacturing industry profoundly. On the one hand, digital innovation offers manufacturing companies new business opportunities beyond their current offerings (Nambisan 2013; Nylén and Holmström 2015). On

T. Abrell (🖂)

Hamburg, Germany e-mail: t.abrell01@gmail.com

<sup>©</sup> The Author(s), under exclusive license to Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2021 S. West et al. (eds.), *Smart Services Summit*, Progress in IS, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-72090-2\_12

the other hand, new market entrants are changing the competitive landscape, challenging incumbent players. Existing business models are endangered to be rendered outdated by digital innovation. Therefore, manufacturing companies are seeking ways to utilize digital innovation to create novel products and services. Digital innovation accelerates their endeavors to move from purely product-based companies to offering product-service-systems, as the products become increasingly smart and connected (Porter and Heppelmann 2014), enabling smart product-service-systems (Chowdhury et al. 2018; Zheng et al. 2018). However, as the characteristics of digital innovation differ from product and service innovation, companies need to adopt new ways to manage innovation processes (Henfridsson et al. 2014; Nylén and Holmström 2015). Particularly the concept of big data, which addresses the growing volume, velocity, and variety of data which offers new grounds for innovation (McAfee et al. 2012), is challenging for manufacturing companies.

In an attempt to shed light on creating digital innovation using big data, Vanauer et al. (2015) introduce two starting points and ways of working to create new ideas and develop them in the ideation stage. They contrast an approach to start with data or with a business perspective (in this paper referred to data-centred and businesscentred). In this study, I argue that there may be a third approach to innovation: user-centred, as users may guide digital innovation efforts (Abrell et al. 2016). User knowledge, however, may not be readily applicable for innovation use, and user involvement is criticized as being incremental and thus of limited use when it comes to innovation beyond the incremental scope (Ulwick 2002). Companies need to rely on both incremental improvements of their products and services as well as radical innovation. However, the different characteristics of radical innovation requires a different approach (de Brentani 2001). In particular, while identifying and responding to user needs was found to be a significant success factor for both incremental and radical innovation, the latter demands to focus on longer-term user requirements as well as utilize new and creative problem-solving approaches (de Brentani 2001). By drawing on the concepts from the design realm, I argue that a designerly approach to user involvement may lead to opportunities beyond the incremental scope.

This study is structured as follows: First, relevant theoretical constructs are introduced. Subsequently, the proposed model by Vanauer et al. (2015) for the ideation phase of big data innovation is used to illustrate designerly approaches to user centricity, followed by a discussion of users in big data innovation, designerly approaches, and product-service-systems, leading towards four propositions. Finally, the study concludes by pointing out implications for theory and practice.

#### 2 Background

#### 2.1 Product-Service-Systems

A product-service-system (PSS) is defined as a "marketable set of products and services capable of jointly fulfilling a user's need"(Goedkoop et al. 1999, p. 20). Having its origins in sustainability, one of the PSS goals is to reduce consumption through enabling users to use products without owning them (Beuren et al. 2013). Another aim is to increase the profitability and competitive position in the marketplace (Geng et al. 2010). PSS are regarded as a special case of servitization (Baines et al. 2007). Servitization of manufacturing companies addresses that offerings are increasingly bundles of products and services with services (Rada and Vandermerwe 1988) and transforms manufacturing companies to organisations that are providing integrated product and service offerings that deliver value in use (Neely 2008). Digital innovation is contributing to servitization of manufacturing companies through smart, connected products enabling novel use cases (Porter and Heppelmann 2014). The internet of things is researched as driver for manufacturing servitization (Rymaszewska et al. 2017), and Chowdhury et al. (2018) use the term smart PSS for PSS that are particularly enabled by smart, connected products.

Within this environment, either product companies become more service oriented or vice versa. Following a categorisation of Tukker (2004), PSS can be either product oriented, use oriented or result oriented. While these categories may offer guidance, they are not mutually exclusive, as PSS may include more than one. One of the opportunities of digital innovation is to use data generated by products, merge with other relevant data to generate new useful services.

#### 2.2 User Innovation and Designerly Approaches

Building on the first accounts of the innovative potential of users of Von Hippel in the 70's (Von Hippel 1976), it is widely acknowledged that users contribute to innovation of products (Baldwin et al. 2006), services (Magnusson et al. 2003), and digital innovation (Abrell et al. 2016). Bogers et al. (2010) state that it is imperative for successful innovation to develop an understanding of user needs. In order to innovate, knowledge about user needs as well as technical solution knowledge is required (Bogers et al. 2010; Von Hippel 2006). However, despite accounts of radical user innovation (e.g. Lettl 2007), user contribution to innovation has been criticized to be limited to incremental innovation, as their knowledge about novel technologies is limited (Ulwick 2002). While this may be the case, research has shown that the approach of how to involve users into innovation may be detrimental (Lettl 2007; Magnusson et al. 2003). In service innovation, Magnusson et al. (2003) urge innovation teams to go beyond asking the customers for ideas, and Lettl (2007) urges that in order to reach radical innovation it is necessary to involve the fitting users at the appropriate timing in the development process and in the right way. Users are defined as individuals using the products and services (Abrell et al. 2016).

Bessant and Maher (2009) suggest the use of design methods for developing radical service innovations, which they describe as a toolkit to express unclear opportunities, through engaging users as active co-creators. Various design approaches such as design thinking (Johansson-Sköldberg et al. 2013), service design (Goldstein et al. 2002), user-oriented design (Veryzer and Borja de Mozota 2005), and user-centred design (Abras et al. 2004) have in common their focus on the user. While acknowledging that these approaches are focusing on certain aspects of design, I subsume them for this conceptual study under the term 'designerly approaches' to user centricity. Verganti (2008) however adds another dimension to the role of design when coining the term 'design-driven innovation', suggesting that design is used for radical innovation of meaning beyond user centricity by the help of interpreters with a profound knowledge of sociocultural models. Important to note is that designerly approaches are going well beyond a pure set of methods. Hassi and Laakso (2011) describe design thinking as a set of practices, thinking styles, and a certain mentality. There are practitioner accounts of using design thinking for innovation, suggesting that designerly approaches may be one way to involve users in the appropriate manner to derive new offerings radically departing from the past (Brown 2008). These designerly approaches have been researched in a number of contexts, however, not in the context of big data, although Maglio and Lim (2016) call for research on service design in this context.

#### 2.3 Digital Innovation and Big Data

Digital innovation is defined as "carrying out new combinations of digital and physical components to produce novel products" (Yoo et al. 2010). While this definition is product-centred, other researchers mention product and service innovation combined in their studies (e.g. Nylén and Holmström 2015). In product-service-systems, the combination of products and services needs to be taken jointly into account (Barrett et al. 2015).

Big data has unique properties that open up opportunities for digital innovation. The vast volume of data, the pace of data creation enabling real-time information (velocity), and the variety of different data sources are among these unique properties (McAfee et al. 2012). The volume allows companies to analyse various datasets to build a more holistic customer understanding (Lam et al. 2017). The variety of big data allows companies to augment their customer data for example with GPS coordinates, tweets, and the like (Lam et al. 2017). Lam et al. (2017) further mention big data completeness, data veracity, and big data value. They describe big data completeness as offering the required depth and breadth of data for the tasks to be done (Lam et al. 2017). Veracity refers to the unpredictability and validity of uncertain data, while value addresses the usefulness of big data for decision making (Vanauer et al. 2015).

Vanauer et al. (2015) approach the topic of introduction of big data by following a stepped approach, with ideation, idea assessment, and implementation, proposing methods for each step to help companies accomplish big data utilization. They follow workgroup ideation processes with two phases: ideation/creativity and implementation phase, with transition and action subphases. They further clarify that the introduction of big data is an innovative process (Vanauer et al. 2015). While implementing innovations is a challenge as such, manufacturing companies struggle to find direction for their digital innovation endeavors. Therefore, this study is focused on the early ideation phase of big data innovation.

# 2.4 Linking the Concepts: Illustrative Application of Designerly Approaches to User Centricity to the Ideation Phase of Big Data Innovation

Vanauer et al. (2015) use IT value, the question how "IT brings value to firms in the form of competitive advantage" to argue for a business-centred and data-centred approach for the ideation phase. They state that either IT helps to fulfill business requirements, or building on Porter and Millar (1985) that IT creates new business opportunities and that information provides a competitive advantage. Porter and Millar (1985) further argue that products are often combined with information, and this information enables offerings tailored to customers.

Von Hippel (1988) is pointing out two types of competitive advantage: efficiency versus value advantage. While an efficiency advantage allows firms to provide services at a lower cost, the value advantage is gained through a superior value proposition for a customer. When a firm can offer superior products and services to its customers, exceeding the provision cost, then value is created, and if competitors are unable to replicate these, then a competitive advantage may be created. Thus, the customer and user perspective is important for creating competitive advantages. Therefore, a third approach to the ideation phase is proposed: designerly approaches to user centricity. This study follows the structure introduced by Vanauer et al. (2015) to illustrate a user-centred approach to big data innovation.

They describe two steps in the ideation phase, transition and action. The ideation transition sub-phase aims at the identification of opportunities and potential problems leading to a mission definition (Vanauer et al. 2015). The ideation action sub-phase is happening after the transition sub-phase and aims at creative solution development to answer to the opportunities and challenges identified (Vanauer et al. 2015).

In Table 1, a designerly approach to user centricity is described as an illustrative example besides the business- and data-centred approach. In the user-centred approach, the ideation phase goal is to express new service opportunities as service blueprints and service prototypes, in order to combine insights of both users and experts towards a new service opportunity. By making an opportunity tangible, stakeholders are enabled to provide their own contextual knowledge to the new service

Approach	Business-centred	Data-centred	User-centred		
Vanauer et al. (2015)					
Ideation phase goal	Improving current operations by use of big data, expressed as use case ideas	Creating sellable services using big data, expressed as coherent business models	Creating desirable, viable, and feasible services using big data, expressed as service blueprints and service prototypes		
Sub-phase objectives	Transition: Identification of enterprise objectives and challenges for improvements Action: Development of use cases	Transition: Identification of key resources Action: Derivation of value propositions based on key resources	Transition: Identification of explicit and tacit user knowledge Action: Combination of product, service, and market knowledge		
Primary innovators	Transition (objectives): Senior management, strategists Transition (challenges): First-/mid-level mgmt. Action: First- and mid-level mgmt., operations personnel, data scienitists	Transition: First- and mid-level management, enterprise architects (if enterprise architecture model exists) Action: Senior management, strategists, sales, data scientists/analysts	Transition: User researcher, innovation teams Action: Sales, data scientists/analysts, innovation teams		
Main inputs	Strategic goals of organization, current operational challenges (i.e. issues known to affect performance)	Knowledge on organization and potentially available data (i.e. may not yet to be captured), market expertise regarding sales opportunities	User knowledge Knowledge on organization and potentially available data, market expertise		
Method support	Transition: Enterprise architecture models of strategy and challenges, goal analysis techniques Action: Enterprise architecture model, creativity tech	Transition: Business model canvas, enterprise architecture model with modelled data objects Action: Business model canvas, creativity techniques	Transition: Ethnographic approaches, scenario building Action: Business model canvas, service blueprinting, service prototyping		
Phase result	Use case measurably improving identified objectives by e.g. resolving challenges	Potentially sellable value proposition (service) with customer segments, etc. (cf. business model canvas)	Service blueprints defining a service from user and company point of view and service prototype		

 Table 1
 Business-, Data-, and User-centred approach to big data innovation in the ideation phase
opportunity, allowing to iteratively improving the service opportunity. During the ideation phase, explicit and tacit user need related knowledge is collected and interpreted, and combined with internal solution knowledge of the smart, connected products. This is done by interdisciplinary innovation teams, using for example ethnographic approaches, scenario building, rapid prototyping, business modeling, service blueprinting. By constantly and iteratively making ideas and opportunities tangible using these methods, designerly approaches to user centricity facilitate the process of creating new service opportunities using the currently and in future available technical means to respond to current and future user needs.

### **3** Discussion

In order to innovate, companies have to take need- and solution-oriented knowledge into account (Von Hippel 2006). However, with a wide range of solutions available through digital innovation, companies struggle in identifying meaningful directions for innovation. Previous studies suggest that users may give direction for digital innovation efforts (Abrell et al. 2016). By turning to users, companies can answer questions about potential benefits for users, and relevance of potential service ideas. This may give guidance to identify new service opportunities that respond to current and future user needs and to prioritize development efforts in an environment with ever-increasing amounts of data and analytic possibilities and scarce development resources. It is important to note that besides arguing to start with the user, it is important to constantly and iteratively develop innovation with the users.

#### Proposition 1: User knowledge may guide big data innovation.

Users are also criticized to only help with incremental innovation which may be due to how they are involved. Designerly approaches are asking questions inspired by observed user problems such as how might we help a user in her situation with a service, followed by detailed service blueprints, low-fi service prototypes such as paper mockups or role playing, followed by click dummy prototypes, followed by semi-functional prototypes, often simulating functionalities that can be made possible by big data through a human to test whether a certain functionality helps the user. The strength of making intangible services tangible through the means of visualisation and enacting helps to rapidly iterate before making larger scale investment efforts into developing functionalities. Therefore, designerly approaches help to identify tacit user needs and translate them into new business opportunities. Representations of user problems, context information, as well as tangible future use case ideas enable a detailed understanding of the use of data. Through personas, user journeys, jobsto-be-done, and service blueprints the functionality required for future services can be derived. Data supports through enabling personal, situation- and context-specific services (the right content at the right time), by combining knowledge about the user situation, previously used services, information from smart, connected products, and predictive algorithms.

Inherent in designerly approaches is a deep understanding of users, which can lead to a search within the available data to enable services to solve user problems. On the other hand, the turn to users can be also triggered by setting out to understand a certain phenomenon observed in the data where causal chains may not be obvious. Designerly approaches to user centricity can provide answers to why users behave in a certain way that can be seen in the data by exploring the user realm beyond what is visible from data. Therefore, it aids the understanding of the user problem and how a potential solution can provide value to the users.

# *Proposition 2: Designerly approaches help to identify tacit user needs and translate them into tangible new service opportunities.*

However, design teams should not work in an isolated fashion to create innovation, but in interdisciplinary teams including various disciplines, often from the field of technology and business. By involving the specialists from different disciplines, designerly approaches aim to integrate these perspectives into the concepts to rapidly iterate towards desirable, viable, and feasible solutions. Therefore, designerly approaches to user centricity can be seen as an integrative approach taking into account the business- and data-centric perspective, and therefore combining need and solution-related knowledge.

# *Proposition 3: Utilizing designerly approaches to enfold user centricity in practice is an integrative approach taking into account the user, business, and data perspective.*

As shown above, taking the user perspective as a starting point for big data innovation ensures that the innovation in question solves a user problem. By using designerly approaches in an integrative manner, the solution knowledge of a particular company and beyond the company boundaries can be integrated. Designerly approaches to user innovation as an integrative approach is suitable to infuse the user perspective in innovation of both products and services. However, big data innovation opens up manifold possibilities for previously product-oriented companies, paired with oftenscarce resources for innovation implementation. By turning to current and future users, understanding their needs and problems, the opportunity space for data-driven services becomes tangible for companies and therefore helps them in the transition from a product- to a use- and result-oriented offering.

Proposition 4: A user-centric approach using designerly approaches to big data innovation helps product-oriented companies in their transition to result-oriented companies.

## 4 Conclusion

Starting out with the question whether there is a third approach besides a business- or data-centred approach in the ideation phase of big data innovation, this study proposes to utilize designerly approaches to user centricity to reach innovation beyond the

incremental scope. The user-centred approach is illustrated using the structure of Vanauer et al. (2015). Four propositions are stated for further theoretical and empirical considerations. Practitioners may consider these propositions in their endeavor to build new user-centred product-service-systems. By starting out from the user perspective, using designerly approaches to involve users, integrating the business and data point of view into the process, they may design new kinds of services and leverage digital business opportunities. Scholars are encouraged to take the propositions as starting point for further studies and to further build on linking digital innovation, design innovation, user innovation, and product-service-systems to shed light on the role of users in digital innovation of product-service-systems.

### References

- Abras, C., Maloney-Krichmar, D., & Preece, J. (2004). User-centered design. In *Bainbridge, W. Encyclopedia of Human-Computer Interaction* (Vol. 37, issue no. 4, pp. 445–456). Thousand Oaks: Sage Publications.
- Abrell, T., Pihlajamaa, M., Kanto, L., vom Brocke, J., & Uebernickel, F. (2016). The role of users and customers in digital innovation: Insights from B2B manufacturing firms. *Information & Management*, 53(3), 324–335. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.im.2015.12.005.
- Baines, T. S., Lightfoot, H., Evans, S., Neely, A., Greenough, R., Peppard, J., et al. (2007). State-ofthe-art in product-service systems. *Proceedings of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers, Part B: Journal of Engineering Manufacture, 221*(10), 1543–1552.
- Baldwin, C., Hienerth, C., & Von Hippel, E. (2006). How user innovations become commercial products: A theoretical investigation and case study. *Research Policy*, 35(9), 1291–1313.
- Barrett, M., Davidson, E., Prabhu, J., & Vargo, S. L. (2015). Service innovation in the digital age: key contributions and future directions. *MIS Quarterly*, 39(1), 135–154.
- Bessant, J., & Maher, L. (2009). Developing radical service innovations in healthcare—The role of design methods. *International Journal of Innovation Management*, 13(04), 555–568.
- Beuren, F. H., Gomes Ferreira, M. G., & Cauchick Miguel, P. A. (2013). Product-service systems: A literature review on integrated products and services. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 47, 222–231. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2012.12.028.
- Bogers, M., Afuah, A., & Bastian, B. (2010). Users as innovators: a review, critique, and future research directions. *Journal of Management*, *36*(4), 857–875.
- Brown, T. (2008). Design thinking. Harvard Business Review, 86(6), 84.
- Chowdhury, S., Haftor, D., & Pashkevich, N. (2018). Smart Product-Service Systems (Smart PSS) in Industry Firms: A Literature Review. *Procedia CIRP*, *73*, 26–31.
- de Brentani, U. (2001). Innovative versus incremental new business services: Different keys for achieving success. *Journal of Product Innovation Management, 18*(3), 169–187.
- Geng, X., Chu, X., Xue, D., & Zhang, Z. (2010). An integrated approach for rating engineering characteristics' final importance in product-service system development. *Computers & Industrial Engineering*, 59(4), 585–594.
- Goedkoop, M. J., Van Halen, C. J. G., Te Riele, H. R. M., & Rommens, P. J. M. (1999). Product service systems, ecological and economic basics. *Report for Dutch Ministries of Environment (VROM) and Economic Affairs (EZ)*, 36(1), 1–122.
- Goldstein, S. M., Johnston, R., Duffy, J., & Rao, J. (2002). The service concept: the missing link in service design research? *Journal of Operations Management*, 20(2), 121–134.
- Hassi, L., & Laakso, M. (2011). Conceptions of Design Thinking in the design and management discourses. In Proceedings of IASDR2011, the 4th World Conference on Design Research, Delft (pp. 1–10).

- Henfridsson, O., Mathiassen, L., & Svahn, F. (2014). Managing technological change in the digital age: The role of architectural frames. *Journal of Information Technology*, 29(1), 27–43. https:// doi.org/10.1057/jit.2013.30.
- Johansson-Sköldberg, U., Woodilla, J., & Çetinkaya, M. (2013). Design thinking: Past, present and possible futures. *Creativity and Innovation Management*, 22(2), 121–146.
- Lam, S. K., Sleep, S., Hennig-Thurau, T., Sridhar, S., & Saboo, A. R. (2017). Leveraging frontline employees' small data and firm-level big data in frontline management: An absorptive capacity perspective. *Journal of Service Research*, 20(1), 12–28.
- Lettl, C. (2007). User involvement competence for radical innovation. *Journal of Engineering and Technology Management*, 24(1–2), 53–75. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jengtecman.2007.01.004.
- Maglio, P. P., & Lim, C.-H. (2016). Innovation and big data in smart service systems. Journal of Innovation Management, 4(1), 11–21.
- Magnusson, P. R., Matthing, J., & Kristensson, P. (2003). Managing user involvement in service innovation: Experiments with innovating end users. *Journal of Service Research*, 6(2), 111–124.
- McAfee, A., Brynjolfsson, E., Davenport, T. H., Patil, D. J., & Barton, D. (2012). Big data: The management revolution. *Harvard Business Review*, 90(10), 60–68.
- Nambisan, S. (2013). Information technology and product/service innovation: A brief assessment and some suggestions for future research. *Journal of the Association for Information Systems*, 14(4), 215–226.
- Neely, A. (2008). Exploring the financial consequences of the servitization of manufacturing. *Operations Management Research*, 1(2), 103–118.
- Nylén, D., & Holmström, J. (2015). Digital innovation strategy: A framework for diagnosing and improving digital product and service innovation. *Business Horizons*, 58(1), 57–67. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.bushor.2014.09.001.
- Porter, M. E., & Heppelmann, J. E. (2014). How smart, connected products are transforming competition. *Harvard Business Review*, 92(11), 64–88.
- Porter, M. E., & Millar, V. E. (1985). How information gives you competitive advantage. *Harvard Business Review*, (July-August), 149–160.
- Rada, J., & Vandermerwe, S. (1988). Servitization of business: Adding value by adding services. *European Management Journal*, 6(4), 314–324.
- Rymaszewska, A., Helo, P., & Gunasekaran, A. (2017). IoT powered servitization of manufacturing– An exploratory case study. *International Journal of Production Economics*, 192, 92–105.
- Tukker, A. (2004). Eight types of product-service system: Eight ways to sustainability? Experiences from suspronet. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, *13*(4), 246–260. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.414.
- Ulwick, A. W. (2002). Turn customer input into innovation. Harvard Business Review, 80(1), 91-98.
- Vanauer, M., Bohle, C., & Hellingrath, B. (2015). Guiding the introduction of big data in organizations: A methodology with business- and data-driven ideation and enterprise architecture management-based implementation. In *Proceedings of the Annual Hawaii International Conference on System Sciences*, 2015-March (pp. 908–917). https://doi.org/10.1109/HICSS.201 5.113
- Verganti, R. (2008). Design, meanings, and radical innovation: A metamodel and a research agenda. Journal of Product Innovation Management, 25(5), 436–456.
- Veryzer, R. W., & Borja de Mozota, B. (2005). The impact of user-oriented design on new product development: An examination of fundamental relationships. *Journal of Product Innovation Management*, 22(2), 128–143.
- von Hippel, E. (1988). The sources of innovation. New York: Oxford University Press.
- Von Hippel, E. (1976). The dominant role of users in the scientific instrument innovation process. *Research Policy*, 5(3), 212–239.

Von Hippel, E. (2006). Democratizing innovation. Cambridge, MA: the MIT Press.

- Yoo, Y., Henfridsson, O., & Lyytinen, K. (2010). Research commentary—The new organizing logic of digital innovation: an agenda for information systems research. *Information Systems Research*, 21(4), 724–735.
- Zheng, P., Lin, T.-J., Chen, C.-H., & Xu, X. (2018). A systematic design approach for service innovation of smart product-service systems. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 201, 657–667.